
�
�

v1�2014�

AGENDA�
�

Meeting� Planning�Committee�

Date� Tuesday�18�November�2014�

Time� 10.00�am�

Place� Committee�Room�5,�City�Hall,�The�
Queen's�Walk,�London,�SE1�2AA�

Copies�of�the�reports�and�any�attachments�may�be�found�at��
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/planning��
�
Most�meetings�of�the�London�Assembly�and�its�Committees�are�webcast�live�at�
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts�where�you�can�also�view�past�
meetings.�
�
Members�of�the�Committee�
Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair)�
Steve�O'Connell�AM�(Deputy�Chair)�
Tom�Copley�AM�

Kit�Malthouse�AM�
Navin�Shah�AM�

�

A�meeting�of�the�Committee�has�been�called�by�the�Chair�of�the�Committee�to�deal�with�the�business�

listed�below.��
Mark�Roberts,�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Monday�10�November�2014�
�
Further�Information�
If�you�have�questions,�would�like�further�information�about�the�meeting�or�require�special�facilities�
please�contact:�John�Johnson�Committee�Officer;�Telephone:�020�7983�4926;��
Email:�john.johnson@london.gov.uk;�Minicom:�020�7983�4926�
�
For�media�enquiries�please�contact�External�Relations�Officer;�Telephone:�020�7983�4283.��If�you�have�
any�questions�about�individual�items�please�contact�the�author�whose�details�are�at�the�end�of�the�
report.��
�
This�meeting�will�be�open�to�the�public,�except�for�where�exempt�information�is�being�discussed�as�
noted�on�the�agenda.��A�guide�for�the�press�and�public�on�attending�and�reporting�meetings�of�local�
government�bodies,�including�the�use�of�film,�photography,�social�media�and�other�means�is�available�
at�www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.��
�
There�is�access�for�disabled�people,�and�induction�loops�are�available.��There�is�limited�underground�
parking�for�orange�and�blue�badge�holders,�which�will�be�allocated�on�a�first-come�first-served�basis.��
Please�contact�Facilities�Management�on�020�7983�4750�in�advance�if�you�require�a�parking�space�or�
further�information.�



�

�
Certificate�Number:�FS�80233�

If�you,�or�someone�you�know,�needs�a�copy�of�the�agenda,�minutes�or�reports�
in�large�print�or�Braille,�audio,�or�in�another�language,�then�please�call�us�on�
020�7983�4100�or�email�assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.���
�

�
�



�

3�
�

Agenda�
Planning�Committee�
Tuesday�18�November�2014�
�
�

1 Apologies�for�Absence�and�Chair's�Announcements��
�
� To�receive�any�apologies�for�absence�and�any�announcements�from�the�Chair.��

�
�

2 Declarations�of�Interests�(Pages�1�-�4)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

Contact:��John�Johnson;�email:�john.johnson@london.gov.uk;�telephone:�020�7983�4926�

�

The�Committee�is�recommended�to:�

 

(a) Note�the�list�of�offices�held�by�Assembly�Members,�as�set�out�in�the�table�at�

Agenda�item�2,�as�disclosable�pecuniary�interests;�

�

(b) Note�the�declaration�by�any�Member(s)�of�any�disclosable�pecuniary�interests�

in�specific�items�listed�on�the�agenda�and�the�necessary�action�taken�by�the�

Member(s)�regarding�withdrawal�following�such�declaration(s);�and�

�

(c) Note�the�declaration�by�any�Member(s)�of�any�other�interests�deemed�to�be�

relevant�(including�any�interests�arising�from�gifts�and�hospitality�received�

which�are�not�at�the�time�of�the�meeting�reflected�on�the�Authority’s�register�

of�gifts�and�hospitality,�and�noting�also�the�advice�from�the�GLA’s�

Monitoring�Officer�set�out�at�Agenda�Item�2)�and�any�necessary�action�taken�

by�the�Member(s)�following�such�declaration(s).�
�
�

3 Minutes�(Pages�5�-�46)�
�
� The�Committee�is�recommended�to�confirm�the�minutes�of�the�meeting�of�the�

Planning�Committee�held�on�14�October�2014�to�be�signed�by�the�Chair�as�a�correct�

record.�
�

� The�appendix�to�the�minutes�set�out�on�pages�9�to�46�is�attached�for�Members�and�officers�only�

but�is�available�from�the�following�area�of�the�GLA’s�website:�

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/planning�
�
�



�

4�
�

4 London�Infrastructure�Plan�2050�-�Consultation�(Pages�47�-�88)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��Paul�Watling;�paul.watling@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4393�

�

The�Committee�is�recommended�to�note�its�response�to�the�Mayor’s�consultation�on�

the�London�Infrastructure�Plan�2050,�as�set�out�in�Appendix�1�to�the�report.��

�

� The�appendix�to�the�report�set�out�on�pages�49�to�88�is�attached�for�Members�and�officers�only�

but�is�available�from�the�following�area�of�the�GLA’s�website:�

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/planning�
�
�

5 Planning�Committee�Work�Programme�2014/15�(Pages�89�-�92)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��Paul�Watling;�paul.watling@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4393�

�

The�Committee�is�recommended�to:�

�

(a) Agree�its�work�programme�for�the�remainder�of�2014/15,�as�set�out�in�the�

report;�and�

�

(b) Agree�that�the�main�agenda�item�for�its�next�meeting�on�22�January�2015�will�

focus�on�issues�surrounding�the�long-term�options�for�accommodating�future�

growth�on�brownfield�land�within�London’s�boundaries,�or�whether�greenfield�

sites�should�be�considered�as�a�location�for�future�development.���
�
�

6 The�Mayor's�Strategic�Planning�Decisions�(Pages�93�-�98)�
�
� Report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�

Contact:��Paul�Watling;�paul.watling@london.gov.uk;�020�7983�4393�

�

The�Committee�is�recommended�to�note�the�report�as�background�to�hearing�from�

and�putting�questions�to�invited�experts�on�the�exercise�of�the�Mayor’s�strategic�

planning�decision�powers.�
�
�

7 Date�of�Next�Meeting��
�
� The�next�meeting�of�the�Committee�is�scheduled�for�22�January�2015�at�10am�in�Committee�

Room�5,�City�Hall.�

�

�

8 Any�Other�Business�the�Chair�Considers�Urgent��
�



 

                                                                      

City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk
 
 v3/2014�

 

Subject:�Declarations
of
Interests�


Report
to:
 Planning
Committee



Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat 



Date:
18
November
2014


This
report
will
be
considered
in
public

 





1.
 Summary



�
1.1 This�report�sets�out�details�of�offices�held�by�Assembly�Members�for�noting�as�disclosable�pecuniary�

interests�and�requires�additional�relevant�declarations�relating�to�disclosable�pecuniary�interests,�and�

gifts�and�hospitality�to�be�made.�




2.
 Recommendations
�


2.1 That
the
list
of
offices
held
by
Assembly
Members,
as
set
out
in
the
table
below,
be
noted


as
disclosable
pecuniary
interests1;


2.2 That
the
declaration
by
any
Member(s)
of
any
disclosable
pecuniary
interests
in
specific

items
listed
on
the
agenda
and
the
necessary
action
taken
by
the
Member(s)
regarding


withdrawal
following
such
declaration(s)
be
noted;
and


2.3 That
the
declaration
by
any
Member(s)
of
any
other
interests
deemed
to
be
relevant

(including
any
interests
arising
from
gifts
and
hospitality
received
which
are
not
at
the


time
of
the
meeting
reflected
on
the
Authority’s
register
of
gifts
and
hospitality,
and


noting
also
the
advice
from
the
GLA’s
Monitoring
Officer
set
out
at
below)
and
any

necessary
action
taken
by
the
Member(s)
following
such
declaration(s)
be
noted.




3.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�
3.1 Relevant�offices�held�by�Assembly�Members�are�listed�in�the�table�overleaf:�

                                                 
1�The�Monitoring�Officer�advises�that: Paragraph�10�of�the�Code�of�Conduct�will�only�preclude�a�Member�from�
participating�in�any�matter�to�be�considered�or�being�considered�at,�for�example,�a�meeting�of�the�Assembly,�
where�the�Member�has�a�direct�Disclosable�Pecuniary�Interest�in�that�particular�matter.�The�effect�of�this�is�
that�the�‘matter�to�be�considered,�or�being�considered’�must�be�about�the�Member’s�interest.�So,�by�way�of�
example,�if�an�Assembly�Member�is�also�a�councillor�of�London�Borough�X,�that�Assembly�Member�will�be�
precluded�from�participating�in�an�Assembly�meeting�where�the�Assembly�is�to�consider�a�matter�about�the�
Member’s�role�/�employment�as�a�councillor�of�London�Borough�X;�the�Member�will�not�be�precluded�from�
participating�in�a�meeting�where�the�Assembly�is�to�consider�a�matter�about�an�activity�or�decision�of�London�
Borough�X. 

�

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



        

�
 

Member
 Interest

Tony�Arbour�AM� Member,�LFEPA;�Member,�LB�Richmond�
Jennette�Arnold�OBE�AM� Committee�of�the�Regions��
Gareth�Bacon�AM� Member,�LFEPA;�Member,�LB�Bexley�
John�Biggs�AM� �
Andrew�Boff�AM� Congress�of�Local�and�Regional�Authorities�(Council�of�

Europe)�
Victoria�Borwick�AM� Member,�Royal�Borough�of�Kensington�&�Chelsea;��

Deputy�Mayor�
James�Cleverly�AM� Chairman�of�LFEPA;�Chairman�of�the�London�Local�

Resilience�Forum;�substitute�member,�Local�Government�
Association�Fire�Services�Management�Committee�

Tom�Copley�AM� �
Andrew�Dismore�AM� Member,�LFEPA�
Len�Duvall�AM� �
Roger�Evans�AM� Committee�of�the�Regions;�Trust�for�London�(Trustee)�
Nicky�Gavron�AM� �
Darren�Johnson�AM� Member,�LFEPA�
Jenny�Jones�AM� Member,�House�of�Lords�
Stephen�Knight�AM� Member,�LFEPA;�Member,�LB�Richmond�
Kit�Malthouse�AM� Deputy�Mayor�for�Business�and�Enterprise;�Deputy�Chair,�

London�Enterprise�Panel;�Chair,�Hydrogen�London;�
Chairman,�London�&�Partners;�Board�Member,�TheCityUK���

Joanne�McCartney�AM� �
Steve�O’Connell�AM� Member,�LB�Croydon;�MOPAC�Non-Executive�Adviser�for�

Neighbourhoods�
Caroline�Pidgeon�MBE�AM� �
Murad�Qureshi�AM� Congress�of�Local�and�Regional�Authorities�(Council�of�

Europe)�
Dr�Onkar�Sahota�AM� �
Navin�Shah�AM� �
Valerie�Shawcross�CBE�AM� Member,�LFEPA�
Richard�Tracey�AM� Chairman�of�the�London�Waste�and�Recycling�Board;�

Mayor's�Ambassador�for�River�Transport������
Fiona�Twycross�AM� Member,�LFEPA�

 

[Note:�LB�-�London�Borough;�LFEPA�-�London�Fire�and�Emergency�Planning�Authority;��
MOPAC�–�Mayor’s�Office�for�Policing�and�Crime]�

�
3.2 Paragraph�10�of�the�GLA’s�Code�of�Conduct,�which�reflects�the�relevant�provisions�of�the�Localism�

Act�2011,�provides�that:��
�

- where�an�Assembly�Member�has�a�Disclosable�Pecuniary�Interest�in�any�matter�to�be�considered�
or�being�considered�or�at��

�

(i)� a�meeting�of�the�Assembly�and�any�of�its�committees�or�sub-committees;�or��
�

(ii)� any�formal�meeting�held�by�the�Mayor�in�connection�with�the�exercise�of�the�Authority’s�
functions��

�

- they�must�disclose�that�interest�to�the�meeting�(or,�if�it�is�a�sensitive�interest,�disclose�the�fact�
that�they�have�a�sensitive�interest�to�the�meeting);�and��

�

Page 2



        

-� must�not�(i)�participate,�or�participate�any�further,�in�any�discussion�of�the�matter�at�the�
meeting;�or�(ii)�participate�in�any�vote,�or�further�vote,�taken�on�the�matter�at�the�meeting�

�

UNLESS�
�

-� they�have�obtained�a�dispensation�from�the�GLA’s�Monitoring�Officer�(in�accordance�with�
section�2�of�the�Procedure�for�registration�and�declarations�of�interests,�gifts�and�hospitality�–�
Appendix�5�to�the�Code).����

�

3.3 Failure�to�comply�with�the�above�requirements,�without�reasonable�excuse,�is�a�criminal�offence;�as�is�

knowingly�or�recklessly�providing�information�about�your�interests�that�is�false�or�misleading.�

3.4 In�addition,�the�Monitoring�Officer�has�advised�Assembly�Members�to�continue�to�apply�the�test�that�
was�previously�applied�to�help�determine�whether�a�pecuniary�/�prejudicial�interest�was�arising�-�

namely,�that�Members�rely�on�a�reasonable�estimation�of�whether�a�member�of�the�public,�with�

knowledge�of�the�relevant�facts,�could,�with�justification,�regard�the�matter�as�so�significant�that�it�
would�be�likely�to�prejudice�the�Member’s�judgement�of�the�public�interest.��

3.5 Members�should�then�exercise�their�judgement�as�to�whether�or�not,�in�view�of�their�interests�and�

the�interests�of�others�close�to�them,�they�should�participate�in�any�given�discussions�and/or�
decisions�business�of�within�and�by�the�GLA.�It�remains�the�responsibility�of�individual�Members�to�

make�further�declarations�about�their�actual�or�apparent�interests�at�formal�meetings�noting�also�

that�a�Member’s�failure�to�disclose�relevant�interest(s)�has�become�a�potential�criminal�offence.�

3.6 Members�are�also�required,�where�considering�a�matter�which�relates�to�or�is�likely�to�affect�a�person�

from�whom�they�have�received�a�gift�or�hospitality�with�an�estimated�value�of�at�least�£25�within�the�

previous�three�years�or�from�the�date�of�election�to�the�London�Assembly,�whichever�is�the�later,�to�
disclose�the�existence�and�nature�of�that�interest�at�any�meeting�of�the�Authority�which�they�attend�

at�which�that�business�is�considered.��

3.7 The�obligation�to�declare�any�gift�or�hospitality�at�a�meeting�is�discharged,�subject�to�the�proviso�set�
out�below,�by�registering�gifts�and�hospitality�received�on�the�Authority’s�on-line�database.�The�on-

line�database�may�be�viewed�here:��

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.��

3.8 If�any�gift�or�hospitality�received�by�a�Member�is�not�set�out�on�the�on-line�database�at�the�time�of�

the�meeting,�and�under�consideration�is�a�matter�which�relates�to�or�is�likely�to�affect�a�person�from�

whom�a�Member�has�received�a�gift�or�hospitality�with�an�estimated�value�of�at�least�£25,�Members�
are�asked�to�disclose�these�at�the�meeting,�either�at�the�declarations�of�interest�agenda�item�or�when�

the�interest�becomes�apparent.��

3.9 It�is�for�Members�to�decide,�in�light�of�the�particular�circumstances,�whether�their�receipt�of�a�gift�or�
hospitality,�could,�on�a�reasonable�estimation�of�a�member�of�the�public�with�knowledge�of�the�

relevant�facts,�with�justification,�be�regarded�as�so�significant�that�it�would�be�likely�to�prejudice�the�

Member’s�judgement�of�the�public�interest.�Where�receipt�of�a�gift�or�hospitality�could�be�so�
regarded,�the�Member�must�exercise�their�judgement�as�to�whether�or�not,�they�should�participate�in�

any�given�discussions�and/or�decisions�business�of�within�and�by�the�GLA.�

�

4.
 Legal
Implications



4.1 The�legal�implications�are�as�set�out�in�the�body�of�this�report.�




Page 3



        

5.
 Financial
Implications

�

5.1 There�are�no�financial�implications�arising�directly�from�this�report.�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None�

�

Contact�Officer:� John�Johnson,�Committee�Officer�
Telephone:� 020�7983�4926�

E-mail:� John.Johnson@london.gov.uk�

�

Page 4



�
�

�
�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk�

MINUTES

�

Meeting:
 Planning
Committee

Date:
 Tuesday
14
October
2014

Time:
 3.30
pm

Place:
 Committee
Room
5,
City
Hall,
The


Queen's
Walk,
London,
SE1
2AA

�

Copies�of�the�minutes�may�be�found�at:



http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/planning


�
�
Present:

�
Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair)�
Steve�O'Connell�AM�(Deputy�Chair)�
Tom�Copley�AM�
Navin�Shah�AM�
�
�
�

1 Apologies
for
Absence
and
Chair's
Announcements
(Item
1)�



1.1. An�apology�for�absence�was�received�from�Kit�Malthouse�AM. 





2 Declarations
of
Interests
(Item
2)�




2.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

2.2� Resolved:





That
the
list
of
offices
held
by
Assembly
Members,
as
set
out
on
the
table
at
Item


2,
be
noted
as
disclosable
pecuniary
interests.











Agenda Item 3

Page 5



Greater
London
Authority

Planning
Committee


Tuesday
14
October
2014


�

�
�

�





3 Minutes
(Item
3)�




3.1� Resolved:





That
the
minutes
of
the
meetings
of
the
Planning
Committee
held
on
25
February


2014
and
1
July
2014
be
signed
by
the
Chair
as
correct
records.







4 Summary
List
of
Actions
(Item
4)�




4.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

4.2� Resolved:





That
the
outstanding
action
arising
from
a
previous
meeting
of
the
Committee
and


the
correspondence
received
since
the
last
meeting
be
noted.






5 London
Infrastructure
Plan
2050
-
Consultation
(Item
5)�



5.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat�as�background�to�

putting�questions�to�the�following�guests:�
���������

- Lord�Andrew�Adonis,�Shadow�Minister,�Infrastructure,�House�of�Lords;��
�

- Jerome�Frost,�Arup,�UK�Middle�East�and�Africa�Leader�for�Consulting;�
�

- Michael�Henderson,�Aecom�Design�and�Planning;��
�

- Jeremy�Skinner,�Senior�Manager�–�Growth�and�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority;�and�
�

- Dominic�Hogg,�Chairman,�Eunomia�consultants.�

�
5.2� A�transcript�of�the�discussion�is�attached�at�Appendix
1.�
�
5.3� Resolved:

�

(a) That
the
report
and
discussion
with
guests
on
the
issues
to
be
considered
in

responding
to
the
Mayor’s
consultation
on
the
London
Infrastructure
Plan
2050

be
noted;
and




(b) That
delegated
authority
be
given
to
the
Chair
of
the
Committee,
in


consultation
with
the
Deputy
Chair,
to
agree
the
Committee’s
final
response
to

the
Mayor’s
consultation
by
31
October
2014.


Page 6



Greater
London
Authority

Planning
Committee


Tuesday
14
October
2014


�

�
�

�





6 Old
Oak
and
Park
Royal
Development
Corporation
-
Consultation
(Item


6)�



6.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

6.2� Resolved:





That
the
Committee’s
response
to
the
Mayor’s
consultation
as
set
out
in
Appendix


1
to
the
report
be
noted.��





7 Technical
Consultation
on
Planning
(Permitted
Development
Rights)


(Item
7)�



7.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

7.2� Resolved:






That
the
Committee’s
response
to
the
Government’s
consultation
as
set
out
in


Appendix
1
to
the
report
be
noted.��
�





8 Examination
in
Public
-
Draft
Further
Alterations
to
the
London
Plan


(Item
8)�



8.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

8.2� Resolved:

�

�That
the
Committee’s
contribution
to
the
recent
Examination
in
Public
into
the


Mayor’s
proposed
alterations
to
the
London
Plan
as
set
out
in
Appendix
1
to
the


report
be
noted.��





9 Planning
Committee
Work
Programme
2014/15
(Item
9)�




9.1� The�Committee�received�the�report�of�the�Executive�Director�of�Secretariat.�

�

9.2� Resolved:





Page 7



Greater
London
Authority

Planning
Committee


Tuesday
14
October
2014


�

�
�

�

(a) That
the
content
of
the
Committee’s
work
programme
as
set
out
in
the
report

be
noted;





(b) That
the
main
agenda
item
for
the
next
meeting
on
18
November
2014
will

focus
on
the
Mayor’s
role
in
strategic
planning
decisions;
and




(c) The
main
agenda
topics
for
the
meetings
in
January
and
March
2015
be
agreed

at
the
next
meeting
of
the
Committee
in
November
following
Member

consultation
in
the
interim
period.







10 Date
of
Next
Meeting
(Item
10)�




10.1� The�next�meeting�is�scheduled�for�18�November�2014�at�10am�in�Committee�Room�5,�City�

Hall.�





11 Any
Other
Business
the
Chair
Considers
Urgent
(Item
11)�




11.1� There�was�no�other�business.�





12 Close
of
Meeting�



12.1�����The�meeting�ended�at�5.50pm.�





�
�
�
� � � �
Chair�� � Date�
�
Contact
Officer:
 John�Johnson�Committee�Officer;�Telephone:�020�7983�4926;�E-mail:�

john.johnson@london.gov.uk;�Minicom:�020�7983�4926�
�
�
�

Page 8



 

Appendix 1 
�

Planning�Committee�

�

14�October�2014�

�

Agenda�Item�5:�London�Infrastructure�Plan�2050�-�Consultation�

�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��If�I�could�just�very�briefly�introduce�this.��We�are�looking�at�the�Mayor’s�

Infrastructure�Plan.��I�do�not�know�how�many�of�you�have�looked�at�it�or�its�supplementary�documents,�but�it�

has�been�in�progress�for�over�a�year�now.��It�is�a�gargantuan�task�and�I�want�to�congratulate�Jeremy�[Skinner],�

who�is�here�representing�the�Mayor�and�is�leading�on�this.��I�know�it�is�a�work�in�progress�but�a�huge�amount�

of�work�has�progressed�in�the�last�year.��Congratulations�on�that.�

�

It�is�looking�at�the�future�directions�for�London�until�2050,�the�next�35�years,�and�it�obviously�has�to�be�able�to�

respond�to�the�challenges�and�the�opportunities�as�they�come�along.��It�has�to,�in�a�sense,�be�flexible�as�a�plan.��

It�also�must�not�lock�us�in�by�decisions�made�now,�which�in�the�future�will�actually�turn�out�to�have�been�the�

wrong�decisions.��It�needs�a�lot�of�thought�about�how�it�is�carried�out.��It�obviously�needs�the�Mayor�to�have�

the�right�kind�of�authority�and�leadership�and�the�ability�to�plan�strategically�and�to�prioritise�and,�of�course,�to�

raise�investment.�We�are�not�considering�all�of�that�today.��We�could�not�possibly.��However,�we�are�the�

Planning�Committee�and�we�are�pulling�together�the�response�to�the�consultation�document�on�the�Mayor’s�

Infrastructure�Plan�from�all�the�other�committees.��Today�we�are�going�to�drill�down�or�focus�on�particular�

issues�which�have�not�been�considered�by�other�committees.�

�

I�would�like�our�guests,�when�they�are�looking�at�what�we�are�going�to�talk�about�today,�to�think�about�four�

cross-cutting�themes�when�they�are�answering�questions.��One�is�financing,�because�we�are�not�going�to�have�

a�separate�session�on�financing.��Just�think�about�financial�models,�business�models�and�procurement�as�you�

go�through.��Another�is�phasing,�short,�medium�and�long�term.��Then�there�is�the�balance,�really,�between�what�

should�be�centralised�and�what�should�be�decentralised,�what�should�be�local�and�what�should�be�done�

strategically.��It�is�quite�an�important�question.��How�should�they�complement�each�other?��You�can�think�

about�those�as�you�go�through.�

�

There�is�one�more�thing,�which�I�have�already�mentioned,�in�a�way,�which�is�lock-in�and�making�sure�that�we�

do�not�lock�ourselves�in.��For�instance,�surely�we�are�looking�at�a�low-carbon,�resource-effective�economy�and�

we�do�not�want�to�lock�ourselves�into�high-carbon,�resource-inefficient�solutions�which�would�then�be�there�

for�25,�30�or�40�years,�or�maybe�much�longer.��We�have�to�think�about�that.�

�

I�am�now�going�to�ask�our�guests�to�introduce�themselves.��Andrew�Adonis�will�be�here�shortly�and�he�will�

introduce�himself.��If�I�can�just�ask�you�to�introduce�yourselves,�starting�with�Jerome,�and�say�a�little�bit�about�

how�your�role�is�relevant?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�am�Jerome�Frost.��I�lead�a�division�of�a�

company�called�Arup�that�works�internationally.��I�am�a�planner�by�training.��The�division�that�I�look�after�looks�

after�all�of�our�business�areas�including�many�of�the�topics�today�-�energy,�water,�transportation�-�but�most�

importantly,�we�also�look�at�urban�growth�and�master�planning�on�a�city�scale�as�well�as�a�local�scale.�

�

I�also,�before�I�joined�Arup�three�years�ago,�was�Head�of�Design�and�Regeneration�for�the�Olympic�Delivery�

Authority�(ODA).��I�worked�there�for�five�years�overseeing�the�planning�and�the�delivery�of�the�new�facilities�

and�the�new�infrastructure�needed�for�London’s�Olympics�in�2012.�

Page 9



 

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Hi.��I�am�Mike�Henderson.��I�am�

Associate�Director�at�AECOM,�another�large�multi-disciplinary�engineering�and�planning�firm.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��You�are�collaborating?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��We�collaborate�a�lot.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��All�the�time.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��The�Olympics�were�a�point�in�case.��

For�the�last�few�years,�I�have�been�working�mainly�looking�at�the�interaction�between�green�space�and�water�

management.��That�has�taken�me�down�a�route�of�the�cost�benefits�of�the�interaction�between�spatial�

planning,�water�management�and�green�infrastructure.��Here�today,�I�am�trying�to�bridge�those�two�gaps�in�the�

Infrastructure�Plan.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��I�am�Dr�Dominic�Hogg.��I�am�the�Chair�of�a�

consulting�firm�called�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting.��This�is�a�company�which�I�set�up�in�2001.��It�is�a�

company�of�around�50�people.��We�do�work�in�waste�management,�low-carbon�energy�and�also�ecosystem�

services.��For�the�best�part�of�the�last�20�years�I�have�worked�in�waste�policy�and�strategy�and,�amongst�other�

things,�recently�we�have�been�reviewing�the�targets�in�many�of�the�key�European�waste�directives�on�behalf�of�

the�European�Commission�(EC)�and�the�Directorate-General�for�the�Environment�there.��I�am�here�mainly�to�

talk�about�the�work�we�do�on�waste�and�matters�related�to�waste�management.��That�having�been�said,�I�also�

wear�another�hat�in�the�west�of�England.��The�company�I�work�for�is�based�in�Bristol�and�I�am�Chair�of�our�

Local�Nature�Partnership.��We�are�looking�very�seriously�in�Bristol�-�which�is�the�European�Green�Capital�next�

year�-�at�how�we�can�improve�the�provision�of�green�infrastructure.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Thank�you.��As�I�said,�Andrew�Adonis�will�introduce�himself�when�he�arrives.�

We�are�dividing�the�way�we�are�tackling�this�into�four�sections.��The�first�is�about�what�infrastructure�is�in�the�

Infrastructure�Plan,�and�what�is�missing.��As�I�have�said,�other�committees�are�considering�the�Infrastructure�

Plan.��For�instance,�this�morning�the�transport�section�was�considered�by�the�Transport�Committee�and�we�will�

be�looking�at�transport�only�in�a�supporting�way�to�spatial�planning.��We�are�going�to�actually�look�very�

carefully�in�this�section�at�energy,�water�and�waste.��We�are�also�going�to�look�at�what�infrastructure�is�missing�

from�the�Infrastructure�Plan.��Although�it�is�very�comprehensive,�there�is�still�some�missing.��That�is�section�

one.��In�section�two,�we�are�going�to�look�at�where�development�should�go�and�what�the�priorities�for�

development�should�be.��In�section�three,�we�are�going�to�look�at�how�land�can�be�unlocked�for�development�

and�where�that�land�might�be.��In�the�last�section�we�are�going�to�look�at�deliverability.��I�will�just�let�Andrew�

quickly�introduce�himself.�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��Andrew�Adonis,�former�Transport�Secretary.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��You�are�leading�the�...�say�a�little�bit�more�for�our�audience.�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��I�am�also�a�former�Education�Minister�and�I�have�been�leading�an�independent�

growth�review�on�policy.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��All�right.��Do�you�have�a�microphone�on�there?��It�is�quite�quiet.��OK.��We�are�

going�to�start�first�with�questions�about�energy�and�water.��I�know�there�is�a�connection�between�the�two,�but�

maybe�we�might�focus�first�on�energy.��I�then�want�to�go�on�and�look�at�waste.�

�

Page 10



 

The�first�thing�I�want�you�to�address,�really,�is�quite�a�broad�question.��Is�the�Infrastructure�Plan�really�

assessing�the�needs�in�the�right�way�and�is�it�correct�in�its�assessment�of�the�level�of�energy�that�we�need?��

Also,�are�the�measures�that�are�proposed�for�delivering�that�sustainable?��We�are,�of�course,�taking�as�read�that�

they�need�to�be�competitive,�too.��I�do�not�know�who�would�like�to�kick�off.��Perhaps�Jerome�would.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��OK.��Thank�you.��In�terms�of�the�

assessment�methodology,�I�certainly�do�not�see�any�particular�issue�with�that.��The�issue�that�we�really�need�to�

get�to�the�nub�of�is�the�balance�between�the�way�in�which�that�additional�energy�is�provided,�and�the�way�in�

which�we�balance�our�current�energy�needs�with�the�future�and�deliver�additional�capacity�over�time.��The�real�

balance�that�needs�to�be�struck�is�the�degree�to�which�we�rely�on�nationally�provided�energy�through�National�

Grid�systems,�generation�from�long�distance�and�local�generation�and�the�degree�to�which�that�total�adds�up�to�

energy�needs�on�a�day-to-day�basis,�and�the�degree�to�which�it�balances�out�peak�needs�with�troughs�in�

demand.�

�

There�has�been�a�lot�of�work�in�London,�more�or�less�since�the�2008�London�Plan,�which�really�did�advocate�

local�generation�of�energy�and�the�implementation�of�many�of�those�systems�we�have�seen�taking�place�across�

London�in�many�different�ways.��There�are�a�number�of�other�projects�at�the�moment�currently�investigating�

the�feasibility�of�extracting�heat�and�energy�from�various�different�existing�assets,�as�well�as�building�new.�

�

Probably�the�most�relevant�experience�I�have�is�of�the�provision�of�two�energy�centres�on�the�Olympic�Park�and�

their�effectiveness.��The�heart�of�the�discussion�that�we�had�on�the�Olympics�was,�again,�the�degree�to�which�

we�could�rely�on�National�Grid�energy�provision.�Plus�the�degree�to�which�we�then�needed�to�either�top�that�up�

or�provide�additional�constant�capacity�locally.��You�cannot�consider�energy,�I�believe,�as�distinct�from�heat�

because�the�more�heat�that�you�can�also�generate�locally�and�distribute�locally,�the�less�energy�demand�that�is�

placed�on�top�of�that.��The�system�that�we�devised�on�the�Olympic�Park�was�one�which�was�based�on�topping�

up�at�peak�demand,�providing�resilience�to�local�demand�networks.��When�the�Olympics�was�at�its�peak,�we�

were�not�completely�reliant�on�the�National�Grid�and�we�could�draw�upon�local�energy�provided�in�the�two�

energy�centres,�but�the�rest�of�the�time�we�could�draw�upon�the�grid�quite�reliably.��We�also�used�the�energy�

centre�as�a�backup�system�in�the�event�the�reliance�on�National�Grid�failed.�

�

We�designed�into�the�local�energy�system�the�capacity�to�grow�quite�extensively.��The�system�designed�in�the�

Olympic�Park�is�designed�to�grow�and�to�deliver�energy�to�up�to�around�12,000�new�homes.��The�likelihood�is�

that�that�demand�will�never�be�met,�but�it�does�then�give�us�additional�capacity�to�extend�the�network�into�

neighbourhoods�adjacent�to�the�Olympic�Park.�To�promote�development�and�to�provide�servicing�of�sites�in�

some�of�the�regeneration�areas�that�sit�outside�the�Olympic�Park.��Indeed,�that�foresight�planned�into�the�

Olympics�back�in�around�about�2006�is�now�being�realised.��The�legacy�company�is�extending�that�network�in�

collaboration�with�Cofely�[GDF�Suez�company�in�the�UK�service�business],�the�provider,�into�Hackney�Wick�and�

into�Fish�Island,�adjacent�areas�to�the�energy�centre.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Can�you�just�pause�for�a�minute�on�that?��That�is�really�interesting.��Can�you�see�

that�happening�on�other�sites?��It�would�help�with�lock-in,�would�it�not?��It�would�help�with�unlocking�sites�

because�there�are�a�number�of�sites�that�need�unlocking�and�it�might�be�too�expensive�to�do�it�if�you�have�not�

already�fitted�the�energy�infrastructure.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Absolutely.��I�would�argue�that�the�

flexibility�and�the�resilience�built�into�the�local�energy�network�has�released�or�given�greater�flexibility�and�has�

improved,�frankly,�the�viability�of�adjacent�sites.�As�there�is�a�certainty�that�developers�can�draw�upon�around�a�

resilient�energy�supply�and,�more�importantly,�a�resilient�heat�supply�that�is�provided�locally.��It�was�quite�a�

hard�slog�to�convince�the�energy�suppliers�and�operators�that�this�was�a�viable�thing�to�invest�in.��Indeed,�the�

ODA�had�to�invest�quite�considerably�to�part-fund�the�network�in�order�to�future-proof�it�in�that�way.�

Page 11



 

�

To�a�degree,�we�probably�did�not�future-proof�it�as�much�as�we�should�have�done�at�the�time.��We�did�not�

build�pipe�networks,�for�example,�for�the�heat�distribution�into�bridges�and�into�Hackney�Wick�and�adjacent�

areas�at�the�time,�because�it�was�considered�to�be�very�high-cost�with�no�guarantee�they�would�ever�be�used.��

Actually,�today�that�work�is�now�being�done,�probably�slightly�more�expensively�perhaps�than�it�might�have�

been�done�if�it�had�been�planned�in�the�first�place.�However�the�capacity�and�the�flexibility�is�there�in�the�

system�for�the�energy�network�and�the�heat�network�to�be�extended,�very�cheaply�and�very�quickly�into�

neighbouring�sites�nonetheless,�because�the�really�expensive�kit�sits�within�the�generation�equipment�in�the�

two�energy�plants.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��It�is�such�a�fundamental�point�you�have�just�made�that�I�just�want�to�ask�Jeremy.��

How�far�have�you�built�that�thinking�into�the�Infrastructure�Plan?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��It�is�absolutely�

pivotal�to�the�success�of�the�plan.��I�would�preface�my�remarks�by�saying�that�we�are�in�the�middle,�as�you�say,�

and�a�lot�of�work�has�been�done,�but�it�is�clearly�contingent�on�many�other�parties�delivering.��We�are�not�

responsible�for�the�delivery�of�most�of�the�infrastructure�in�the�city.�

�

To�address�the�specific�question�directly,�one�of�the�critical�barriers�that�we�see,�particularly�in�the�electricity�

distribution�network,�is�the�regulatory�hurdles�to�investment�ahead�of�demand.��Whereas�we�are�prepared�to�

take�very�substantial�bets�on�London’s�long-term�growth�in�transport�and�we�use�public�sector�funding�on�

Crossrail�1,�potentially�on�Crossrail�2�and�on�various�other�very�large�schemes�that�take�decades�to�gestate�and�

eventually�appear,�we�are�still�waiting�for�Crossrail.��It�was�the�first�job�I�took�on�when�I�joined�the�Greater�

London�Authority�(GLA)�nine�years�ago�to�campaign�for�Crossrail�and�it�is�still�three�years�away�from�actually�

opening�for�business�which�shows�you�how�long�these�things�take,�and�transport�projects�take�even�longer.�

�

However,�in�electricity,�because�of�the�era�in�which�the�industry�was�privatised�and�regulated,�an�era�when�

London�was�declining�and�when�there�were�inefficiencies�in�the�way�that�the�network�was�managed,�we�are�

now�in�a�completely�different�situation�where�London�is�growing.��The�concept�of�London�exceeding�11�million�

by�mid-century�was�not,�I�believe,�in�the�foremost�of�policymakers’�minds�when�they�were�planning�this�system�

in�the�mid-1980s,�when�London’s�population�had�been�shrinking�for�the�previous�years,�so�yes.��We�allude�to�a�

lot�of�detailed�work�going�on�at�the�moment�with�Number�10�[the�Prime�Minister’s�Office],�UK�Power�

Networks,�the�Office�of�Gas�and�Electricity�Markets�(Ofgem)�and�others�to�try�to�reform�the�regulations�to�

enable�there�to�be�investment�ahead�of�demand.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Let�us�just�log�that.��There�is�a�barrier�because�you�can�plan�ahead�in�terms�of�

transport�-�though�you�still�have�to�raise�the�money�-�but�there�are�regulatory�barriers�to�planning�ahead,�let�

alone�raising�the�money,�yes?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Correct.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Correct,�OK.��Jerome,�I�interrupted�you�-�sorry�-�in�your�flow.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��That�point�is�key.��We�see�a�number�of�

different�responses�to�it.��The�ODA�was�in�a�rather�unique�position�because�it�was�able�to�plan�in�the�flexibility�

on�the�basis�of�providing�resilience�for�the�Olympics�and�in�doing�so,�therefore�was�able�to�justify�more�public�

spending�to�build�that�flexibility�and�that�future-proofing�into�the�system.�

�

There�are�other�examples�that�are�successes�or�are�building�up�to�be�successes,�if�you�like,�where�the�public�

sector�has�played�a�role�whereby�it�can�give�the�private�sector�greater�certainty�on�the�future�returns.��In�other�

Page 12



 

words,�it�can�share�some�of�the�risk.��A�good�example�might�be�the�South�Kilburn�Estate�where�a�local�energy�

network�is�being�supported�by�Brent�Council�and�an�energy�services�company�(ESCo)�set�up�to�deliver�that.��

Again,�the�role�that�Brent�is�playing�in�that�is�sharing�risk�with�the�private�sector�and�therefore�delivering�a�

system�which�relies�on�future�returns�upfront�and�ahead�of�development,�in�order�to�provide�the�best�deal�for�

both�the�developers�involved�and�also�the�occupiers�of�the�2,400�or�so�homes�that�are�going�to�be�built.�

�

We�see�that�kind�of�approach�actually�becoming�more�consistently�applied�across�London�and�quite�rightly�so,�

because�it�is�the�means�by�which�you�can�apply�and�deal�with�some�of�the�issues�when�you�are�dealing�with�an�

existing�piece�of�city,�undergoing�quite�considerable�change�and�growth,�where�the�delivery�of�large-scale�

National�Grid-based�energy�increases�to�deal�with�that�increased�development�demand�might�take�a�long,�long�

time�and�might�well�be�caught�up,�as�was�pointed�out,�in�these�regulatory�disincentives�from�coming�ahead�of�

development.��If�the�public�sector�can�play�that�local�role�in�facilitating�and�taking�on�some�of�the�risk,�it�can�

deal�with�that�peak�demand�that�is�generated�by�the�increased�development�and�provide�greater�certainty.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Can�I�just�ask�you�what�is�happening,�then,�at�Vauxhall�Nine�Elms�Battersea,�

which�is�on�the�way?��Are�the�lessons�from�the�Olympics�being�learned�there?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�do�not�know�that�one�in�detail,�I�have�

to�say.��I�do�believe�they�are�looking�at�a�local�energy�network.��Whether�they�are�building�in�future�capacity�

beyond�the�capacity�of�what�is�currently�being�developed�and�the�role�of�the�local�authority,�I�cannot�answer,�I�

am�afraid.�

�

I�can�tell�you�about�the�work�that�we�are�doing�at�the�moment�in�Croydon�for�the�local�authority�there,�where�

we�are�looking�at�planning�for�167�new�development�sites,�between�7,000�and�9,000�new�homes�and�about�

1�million�square�feet�of�new�commercial.��The�issue�there�is�that�when�you�get�to�the�build-out�of�that�peak�

development,�you�are�placing�real�demands,�particularly�midwinter,�on�the�existing�grid�supply�locally.��If�you�

were�to�rely�on�grid�upgrades,�it�would�be,�firstly,�expensive�and�could�not�be�guaranteed�ahead�of�that�

development.��It�is�most�likely�to�respond�to�the�demand�as�and�when�it�occurs�and�therefore�may�be�too�late�

to�give�developers�certainty�of�supply�and�resilience.��The�local�authorities�are�playing�a�role�there,�with�the�

support�of�local�private�developers,�in�developing�a�system�which�it�can�support�and�take�some�of�the�risk�out�

of�that.�Where�local�energy�provision�and�local�heat�provision�effectively�deals�with�that�topping-up�beyond�

what�the�grid�can�guarantee,�in�order�to�give�developers�confidence�and�certainty�in�that�circumstance.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Quite�apart�from�the�sharing�of�risk,�could�this�be�local�ownership,�too,�of�these�

grids?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Again,�one�of�the�issues,�particularly�

when�you�are�dealing�with�that�kind�of�scale,�is�just�how�far�ahead�the�private�sector�has�to�look�in�order�to�

secure�its�returns.��It�is�very�difficult�to�engage�the�private�sector�in�what�is�generally�quite�a�large�upfront�cost�

when�the�return�in�terms�of�the�building�out�of�thousands�and�thousands�of�units�could�be�10,�20�or�30�years�

over�that�kind�of�scale,�with�no�guarantee�that�those�occupiers�will�draw�upon�entirely�that�supplier’s�electricity�

or�heat.��In�that�case,�it�is�far�more�resilient�for�the�public�sector�to�think�about�whether�it�can�take�on�the�role�

of�providing�that�and�effectively�take�on�the�role�of�supplier�of�that�energy.�As�it�has�more�confidence�in�that�

development�programme�being�built�out�perhaps�faster�or�perhaps�more�definitely�than�the�private�sector�

could�have,�because�it�has�control�over�planning�and�it�has�more�control�over�steering�developers�towards�

connections�with�the�local�energy�network,�perhaps,�than�the�private�sector�might�realise.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Is�there�not�another�hit,�too,�that�it�might�be�more�resilient�than�--�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��It�certainly�--�

Page 13



 

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��You�remember�the�case�of�Woking�where�the�lights�when�out�in�great�chunks�of�

south�east�England�but�they�stayed�on�in�Woking�because�it�had�lots�of�decentralised�energy�systems.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��It�certainly�can�be�more�resilient.��Of�

course,�there�is�also�the�alternative�risk�that�the�local�system�fails�but�it�is�more�resilient�because�you�

effectively�have�two�systems�to�fall�back�on,�absolutely.��It�is�more�resilient�regardless�of�whether�the�private�or�

the�public�sector�owns�the�system,�I�would�say.��The�ownership�of�the�system�by�the�public�sector�in�the�first�

degree�is�all�about�confidence,�in�my�view.��It�is�about�bringing�confidence�to�a�particular�area�in�which�we�are�

trying�to�encourage�the�private�sector�to�invest�and�perhaps�it�needs�persuasion,�if�you�like,�in�order�to�take�

that�first�step�of�investment�that�the�public�sector�investment�in�such�a�system�can�bring.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�good.��Thank�you.��I�do�not�know�if�other�people�want�to�say�anything�

about�energy�at�this�stage.��I�am�sure�it�is�going�to�come�back�again�when�we�talk�about�land�and�spatial�

opportunity�areas�and�so�on.��I�just�wondered�if�anyone�wants�to�say�any�more.��Otherwise,�we�will�move�on�

and�just�look�at�water.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��May�I�make�one�more�comment?�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Of�course.��Any�of�you�are�welcome�to�make�a�point.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��The�other�part�of�this�is�looking�at�how�

you�reduce�energy�demand�and�I�do�not�just�mean�household�or�business�demand�because,�obviously,�if�you�

can�build�in�a�reduced�demand�profile,�you�can�make�better�use�of�your�existing�systems�or�the�systems�you�

are�planning�for.�

�

One�of�the�things�we�could�consider�perhaps�more�strongly�in�the�plan,�as�it�sits�at�the�moment,�is�the�layering�

of�function�on�some�of�the�infrastructure�that�we�are�talking�about.��If�we�look�abroad,�for�example,�and�we�

look�to�the�Netherlands,�they�are�currently�designing�roads�in�the�Netherlands�with�a�pipe�system�within�the�

tarmac�which�draws�heat�from�the�ground�beneath�the�tarmac.��That�has�two�purposes.��One,�it�melts�the�snow�

in�winter,�which�means�they�do�not�need�trucks�going�up�and�down.��Two,�it�also�supplies�a�consistent�heat�

source�to�local�buildings�when�it�is�not�being�used�to�melt�snow,�which�is�only�three�or�four�times�a�year.�

�

Arup�is�actually�involved�in�designing�railway�tunnels�at�the�moment�in�Austria�which�use�a�similar�system�

where�you�have�pipes�embedded�in�the�walls�of�the�tunnel.��They�draw�heat�from�the�neighbouring�soil�and�

that�heat�is�piped�into�local�buildings.��When�the�cool�air�comes�back�out�of�that�building,�it�comes�back�into�

the�tunnel�walls�and�cools�the�railway�tunnel�to�keep�the�tunnel�cool�and�to�reduce�costs�for�the�railway�

operators�at�the�same�time.�

�

That�kind�of�applied,�layered�thinking�impacts�on�the�way�in�which�we�reduce�demand,�because�the�heat�

provided�to�those�buildings�obviously�then�reduces�the�demand�on�electricity�or�heat�networks�that�might�be�

providing�heat�from�another�source.��It�also�then�reduces�the�maintenance�costs�and�management�costs�of�

other�infrastructure,�which�might�be�the�core�piece�of�infrastructure�we�are�considering�at�the�time,�ie�the�

tunnel�or�the�road.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Interesting.��This�is�a�huge�topic,�but�I�have�to�say�that�some�of�the�detail�of�this�

was�considered�by�the�Environment�Committee,�which�is�why�I�am�trying�to�keep�it�to�the�way�you�are�doing�it,�

at�a�strategic�level,�which�is�very�helpful.��Does�anyone�else�want�to�come�in�on�energy�before�we�move�on�to�

water?��We�can�come�back�to�energy�later�on�in�the�discussion.���

�

Page 14



 

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��Can�I�make�a�strategic�comment:�I�think�this�is�going�to�run�through�a�lot�of�our�

discussion�this�afternoon.��It�seems�to�me�the�big�issue�we�are�going�to�face�is�how�we�get�from�the�draft�plan�

in�front�of�us,�to�something�which�the�delivery�board�can�actually�deliver.��The�big�missing�link,�as�has�already�

come�through�in�what�Jeremy�[Skinner]�has�said,�is�that�in�this�particular�case�you�have�a�big�private�sector�

element.�However�in�all�cases�you�have�a�big�Government�element�to�agree�what�is�going�to�be�in�the�plan,�not�

least�the�relationship�between�the�Government�and�the�regulators,�whose�agreement�is�going�to�be�absolutely�

crucial�to�taking�any�of�this�forward.�

�

The�bit�that�needs�further�work�is�understanding�what�this�middle�stage�is�going�to�be�between�the�

consultation�on�the�plan�itself�and,�then,�actually�having�something�which�can�be�delivered�by�the�delivery�

board.��The�thinking�at�the�moment�-�that�it�is�simply�going�to�be�enough�to�generate�consensus�on�more�

projects�-�given�the�radical�nature�of�so�much�that�is�in�the�Infrastructure�Plan,�is�probably�too�optimistic.��

What�is�going�to�be�needed�is�some�proper�intermediate�stage�of�assessment�and�negotiation�with�central�

Government�on�the�agreed�plan,�which�then�goes�to�the�infrastructure�delivery�board.��Understanding�how�that�

central�stage�of�work�is�going�to�take�place�is�going�to�be�quite�important.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Maybe�you�would�return�to�that�in�the�final�section�when�we�are�looking�at�

deliverability,�Andrew,�and�explore�that�in�a�bit�more�detail�with�us.��That�would�be�good.��Do�you�want�to�

come�in?�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Yes,�just�one�comment,�I�suppose.��In�the�

actual�plan�and�in�the�revisions�that�are�proposed�at�the�moment,�there�is�a�lot�of�emphasis�on�the�potential�

role�of�waste�and�the�provision�of�energy.��I�always�get�a�little�concerned�when�I�see�that�type�of�emphasis,�

because�all�the�work�we�have�done�-�including�work�with�the�Committee�on�Climate�Change,�D-G�Environment�

and�so�forth�and�using�the�Government’s�own�projections�for�the�way�in�which�the�energy�system�will�become�

decarbonised�-�suggests�that�if�we�do�remain�generating�a�lot�of�energy�in�2050,�we�will�almost�undoubtedly�

be�doing�so�through�the�most�carbon-intensive�form�of�generation�that�is�present�at�the�time,�unless�there�is�

really�considerable�change�in�the�nature�of�what�it�is�that�goes�into�those�facilities.�

�

There�is�a�bit�of�a�disjuncture,�I�have�felt,�between�what�is�in�the�current�plan�and�looking�out�to�2050.��You�

seem�to�be�modelling�waste�infrastructure�in�terms�of�what�it�does�for�energy�and�very�much�in�terms�of�what�

we�think�about�it�today,�rather�than�what�it�might�be�conceived�as�doing�in�2050.��That�future�vision�in�terms�

of�the�role�of�waste�vis-à-vis�the�provision�of�energy�could�really�do�with�some�further�unpicking.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�very�interesting,�actually,�because�we�have�just�been�through�the�

Examination�in�Public�of�the�London�Plan�and�I�noticed�that�the�waste�risings�-�municipal�waste,�for�instance�-�

even�with�the�rise�in�population�are�not�projected�to�rise�very�much.��The�incineration�capacity�we�have�

already,�not�all�of�it�is�of�course�energy�from�waste.��Even�at�Beddington�[energy�recovery�facility�in�Sutton],�it�

is�interesting�what�you�were�saying,�Jerome�[Frost]�because�there�is�not�the�future-proofing�there�yet.��The�

pipes�which�would�create�the�heat�from�the�very�inefficient�electricity�that�does�not�become�more�efficient�

until�you�take�the�heat�off�as�well,�have�to�go�to�a�development�ten�miles�away�and�the�money�is�not�there�and�

they�are�not�being�made.��Of�course,�Edmonton�and�Belvedere�[waste�incinerators]�do�not�have�heat�taken�off�

them.��Do�we�want�1.8�million�tons�of�incineration�capacity?��It�is�at�least�50%�and�the�Mayor�is�going�to�bring�

forward�the�recycling�targets.��It�does�not�add�up.��I�am�interested�that�you�have�made�that�point�because�it�

actually�does�not�add�up.�

�

Perhaps�you�are�going�to�talk�about�maybe�later�the�secondary�materials�economy�or�what�is�called�the�circular�

economy�and�perhaps�we�can�come�back�to�it�then.��Jeremy,�do�you�have�any�comments�on�that?�

�

Page 15



 

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Not�on�that�

particular�point.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��OK.���

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��On�energy,�the�

only�other�thing�which�we�do�talk�about�in�the�plan�is�access�to�the�market�for�new�entrants�and�new�players.��

We�think�that�could�be�made�easier�and�we�think�that�is�important.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Yes,�OK.��Mike,�do�you�want�to�kick�off�on�water?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Sure.��There�are�a�lot�of�parallels�

with�water�and�what�Jeremy�[Skinner]�has�just�been�saying�in�terms�of�lead-in�times�and�issues�around�the�

regulator�and�things�like�that.�

�

However,�before�I�get�into�the�wider�issue�around�water,�your�question�is�really�whether�the�scope�of�demand�

is�assessed�in�an�appropriate�way.��Firstly,�it�is�really�great�that�we�are�seeing�a�long-term�vision�for�

infrastructure�delivery.��That�is�quite�ground-breaking�in�itself�and�it�is�something�that�we�are�really�keen�on�

exploring�further.��However,�it�needs�to�be�aligned�with�a�long-term�spatial�planning�vision.��In�some�of�that�

testing�of�demand,�there�are�variances�between�a�number�of�different�elements.�

�

Taking�a�sub-regional�view�and�looking�beyond�London,�a�lot�of�London’s�resources�come�from�beyond�

London,�particularly�water.��A�lot�of�people�move�in�and�out�of�London�and�there�is�a�very�tangible�link�

between�the�ways�in�which�London�is�going�to�support�growth�with�its�surrounding�settlements.��There�has�to�

be�that�bigger�thinking.��Scaling�it�down�as�well,�there�is�a�difference�between�the�centre�of�London�-�or�the�

centres�of�London�-�and�the�way�infrastructure�is�delivered�around�the�outside.��Then�there�are�probably�a�

number�of�different�scenarios�that�could�sensitivity�test�a�lot�of�the�work�that�has�been�done�on�the�way�in�

which�infrastructure�might�be�delivered.��There�is�a�lot�more�variance�in�water�than�perhaps�in�some�of�the�

other�sectors.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��The�thinking�is�less�developed�in�water,�is�it�not,�or�rather�implementation�is�less�

developed?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��I�think�so.��If�I�am�honest,�there�has�

been�quite�a�polarised�debate�recently�with�the�Thames�Tideway�versus�everything�else.��It�is�time�to�bring�it�

down�to�more�of�a�sensible,�long-term�discussion.��This�is�an�opportunity�through�which�we�can�do�that�and�

say,�“All�right,�we�can�park�that�issue�and�take�that�as�something�which�is�being�considered�now�and�think�

about�what�the�long-term�2050�plan�is”.��That�is�a�way�of�getting�away�from�that�debate�and�starting�the�next�

phase�of�discussions.�

�

It�is�worth�saying�a�few�things�about�water�and�what�water�is,�really,�before�going�too�deeply.��Energy�is�not�

simple,�but�it�is�not�just�heat�and�electricity.��It�is�quite�complicated.��The�infrastructure�planning�continues�

around�the�historic�legacy�of�water�supply.��How�do�we�get�clean�water�to�us?��How�do�we�get�rid�of�waste�

water�and,�within�that,�storm�water�or�surface�water?��Finally,�there�is�the�flood�risk.��These�are�often�managed�

in�their�silos�and�one�of�the�biggest�challenges�is�how�we�look�at�water�as�a�whole�water�cycle�and�really�

understand�water�cycle�management�within�an�urban�context.�

�

On�the�supply�side,�it�is�noted�in�the�plan�that�we�are�going�to�be�deficient�by�10%�by�halfway�through�the�

plan.��We�do�not�have�enough�water�to�supply�projected�development.�

�

Page 16



 

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Mike,�deficient�in�what�per�capita�litre�amount�are�we�talking�about?��We�are�

very,�very�wasteful�at�the�moment.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��We�are.��The�average�in�London�at�

the�moment�is�between�150�and�160�litres�per�person�per�day.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Yes.��That�is�about�50�litres�more�than�many�other�cities.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Yes,�and�new�development,�if�it�is�

meeting�the�Code�for�Sustainable�Homes,�purports�to�be�105�litres�per�person�per�day.��However,�it�is�clear�that�

through�fixtures�and�fittings�which�generally�deliver�that�saving,�there�is�a�lot�of�risk�because�those�fixtures�and�

fittings�can�be�taken�out.��The�reports�of�actual�studies�that�have�been�done�post-development�suggest�that�

actually�they�are�not�delivering�anywhere�near�that�and�they�are�more�like�120�litres�per�person�per�day.��To�

get�up�to�the�next�level�in�the�Code�for�Sustainable�Homes,�a�reduction�to�80�litres�per�person�per�day,�you�

really�need�a�supplementary�source�of�water.�

�

In�terms�of�supply,�the�number�one�thing�that�is�missing�is�alternative�sources�of�water.��It�lists,�rightly,�water�

efficiency�measures�and�metering�and�all�those�technological�improvements�and�improving�leaks,�obviously,�

which�is�a�massive�waste�of�the�resource.��About�25%�of�water�in�London�leaks�away.��How�we�are�actually�

going�to�get�that�deficiency�met�is�key�and�there�needs�to�be�alternative�sources.�

�

That�links�into�the�next�two�elements.��We�do�not�have�enough�sewer�capacity�to�take�away�our�water�that�falls�

on�London�and�is�wasted�away�and�waste�water.��The�second�question�is�whether�we�can�make�better�use�of�

those�two�resources.��Can�we�make�better�use�of�waste�water?��Can�we�make�better�use�of�storm�water?�

�

In�Melbourne,�in�Kingston�City,�they�have�done�a�natural�water�balance.��They�looked�at�all�the�water�that�is�

coming�into�the�city�and�falling�on�the�city�and�passing�through�the�city,�and�all�the�demands�that�are�on�water�

in�the�city.��They�have�shown�that�there�was�about�20�times�the�amount�of�water�falling�on�the�city�and�

passing�through�the�city�in�terms�of�natural�resources�than�the�non-potable�water�demand�of�the�city.�

�

In�terms�of�the�scale�of�opportunity,�there�is�a�massive�amount�of�water�on�London�or�going�through�London�

which�is�not�being�used.��In�terms�of�supply,�we�are�bringing�it�from�a�long�way�away�to�get�it�to�us�and�then�

we�are�depositing�that�water�a�long�way�from�where�it�originated�and�allowing�it�to�waste�away�into�the�

Thames�ultimately�and�be�washed�away.��If�we�can�capture�some�of�that,�we�have�a�big�opportunity.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Are�we�capturing�it�in�new�build�at�the�moment�and�does�the�Infrastructure�Plan�

allow�for�that�capturing?��We�are�doing�huge�amounts�of�construction.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��The�discussion�is�different�between�

new�build�and�retrofit,�quite�markedly.��New�build,�no,�I�do�not�think�the�opportunities�are�being�taken.��The�

London�Plan�does�have�a�hierarchy�of�discharge�options�and�it�says�reuse�should�be�number�one,�but�I�do�not�

know�if�development�has�actually�been�challenged�on�not�connecting�directly�to�the�sewer�to�get�rid�of�its�

water.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��What�about�the�Olympics?��We�actually�have�in�the�London�Plan�that�we�want�

developers�to�have�a�dual�system�of�water,�one�for�potable�or�drinkable�and�one�for�grey�water.��At�the�

moment,�we�drink�only�2%�of�what�we�purify�and�we�flush�a�third�of�it�down�the�lavatory.��Grey�water�would�

really�make�a�big�difference�in�terms�of�energy�and�water�supply.��What�do�the�Olympics�do?�

�

Page 17



 

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��On�the�Olympics,�we�have�a�

pioneering�black�water�treatment�that�plugs�straight�into�the�sewer�network�and�links�that�sewer�water�to�

supply�a�non-potable�network�around�the�Olympic�Park�and�to�all�the�stadium�and�it�is�used�for�some�of�the�

irrigation.��After�the�initial�irrigation�for�landscape�demand�tails�off�-�because�after�a�period,�once�it�is�

established,�it�does�not�need�so�much�-�there�is�a�surplus�left�in�the�black�water�treatment�facility,�which�could�

go�into�the�residential�developments�around�it�and�the�6,500�homes�around�it.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��It�could?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��It�could.��The�network�is�already�

there�but�what�it�needs�is�the�extension�from�the�network�into�the�development�areas�and�then�obviously�the�

secondary�network�around�it.��There�are�a�number�of�issues�with�that.��We�did�a�cost-benefit�analysis�looking�

at�potable�water�and�using�the�black�water�treatment�from�the�facility�onsite�against�grey�water�recycling�and�

rainwater�harvesting�on�the�different�plots.��The�black�water�treatment�generally�costs�in�processing�terms�

about�one�and�a�half�times�the�amount�that�potable�water�does.��Potable�water�is�a�really�efficient�industry�in�

the�United�Kingdom�(UK).��It�is�very�well�delivered�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Is�that�why�we�flush�it�down�the�lavatory?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Yes,�definitely.��It�is�not�valued�

probably�enough.��Black�water�is�about�one�and�a�half�times.��The�grey�water�and�rainwater�harvesting�options,�

which�are�a�better�comparator�to�black�water�because�they�are�alternative�sources,�cost�about�six�or�seven�

times.��That�is�all�fine,�but�the�risk�of�misconnection�sits�on�Thames�Water�and�it�costs�that�risk�so�highly�that�if�

we�took�that�into�account,�the�one�and�a�half�times�the�cost�of�potable�water�would�go�up�to�about�nine�times�

the�cost,�because�they�want�to�make�sure�that�there�are�no�cross-connections�and�they�have�to�keep�checking�

them�all�the�time.��That�is�a�real�regulatory�barrier�in�delivering�these�things�and�it�is�on�the�suppliers�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Do�they�think�we�might�drink�the�lavatory�water?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Yes,�it�is�the�suppliers’�responsibility�

to�make�sure�that�you�do�not�have�a�misconnection�or�a�plumber�does�not�misconnect�--��

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Thank�you.��OK.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Yes,�that�is�definitely�a�barrier.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Yes.��What�is�Thames�Water�doing�about�sustainable�urban�drainage?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��They�are�doing�some�private�studies.��

Counters�Creek�[one�of�London’s�“lost”�rivers�and�part�of�Thames�Water’s�sewage�system]�is�one�of�them.��

Counters�Creek�is�perhaps�the�only�one.��There�is�very�little.��It�is�difficult�for�Thames�Water.��It�is�in�a�very�

constrained�regulatory�position.��It�has�had�massive�austerity�measures�placed�on�it�that�it�has�to�work�through�

and�it�is�easier�and�more�sensible�to�have�that�valuable�asset,�than�the�green�infrastructure�which�is�quite�

disruptive�and�is�taking�time�to�come�through.��However,�longer�term,�those�things�will�undoubtedly�be�of�

benefit.��I�do�not�think�they�are�taking�it�as�seriously�as�they�may�be�at�the�moment,�but�they�will�do�as�in�2017�

competition�in�the�water�market�starts�to�come�in.�

�

The�other�bit�of�the�plan�which�I�do�not�think�is�being�addressed�at�the�moment�is�the�community�benefits�in�

actually�seeing�community�infrastructure,�particularly�in�the�water�sector,�being�looked�at.��If�we�start�looking�

at�community�water�resources�much�in�the�same�way�as�we�did�with�decentralised�water�and�see�Thames�

Page 18



 

Water’s�role�within�that�and�how�Thames�Water�could�actually�facilitate�higher�quality,�higher�value�

development�or�high�quality�green�development.�Then�get�it�involved�in�the�design�process,�it�is�more�of�an�

opportunity�for�it�to�be�seen�as�a�better�player�in�the�community,�raise�its�profile�and�actually�be�more�

competitive�once�the�monopoly�that�it�generally�operates�in�is�broken�down.��I�would�like�to�think�that�there�is�

the�potential�to�do�that.��However,�looking�at�the�next�asset�management�programme�(AMP)�period,�it�does�

not�seem�to�put�much�weight�on�it.��Sustainable�drainage�systems�(SUDS)�are�only�mentioned�three�times�in�its�

new�business�plan.��It�is�constrained�by�these�five-year�periods.��I�do�not�know�if�it�is�geared�up�to�be�fast�

enough�to�be�able�to�deliver�the�aspirations�necessarily�in�the�draft�Infrastructure�Plan.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��We�have�a�real�problem�there.��A�tiny�amount�of�money�is�being�set�aside�for�the�

next�five�years�across�the�whole�Thames�Water�catchment�area�for�SUDS.��Because�of�time,�I�cannot�keep�

coming�back�to�Jeremy�and�asking�him�what�he�thinks�of�these�issues,�but�would�you�log�them,�Jeremy?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Yes.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��We�did�not�know�this�when�we�set�up�the�meeting,�but�two�of�the�Members�have�

to�go�to�other�meetings.��We�might�just�come�back�to�the�circular�economy�and�pick�up�all�of�them,�but�water�

and�energy�can�come�up�in�some�of�the�questions�that�we�are�going�to�deal�with�when�we�talk�about�spatial�

planning.��If�we�just�look�at�what�infrastructure�is�not�in�the�plan,�Navin,�and�come�to�you?�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��All�right.��OK,�Chair.��This�is�exactly�what�I�want�to�raise.��There�are,�quite�evidently,�certain�

types�of�infrastructure�missing�from�the�plan�or�approaches�that�one�would�want�to�see�to�support�growth�that�

need�inclusion�in�the�plan.��Can�I�have�comments�from�the�panel?���

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��If�I�could�

address�that�first,�it�was�an�explicit�and�deliberate�decision�not�to�look�at�everything�and�it�relates�a�little�bit�to�

Andrew’s�[Lord�Adonis]�question�about�what�happens�next.��The�opportunity�to�write�the�Infrastructure�Plan�-�

how�can�I�put�it�-�was�a�chance,�if�you�like,�to�think�outside�the�box.�To�think�outside�some�of�the�statutory�

processes�that�we�have�to�go�through�in�creating�the�London�Plan,�the�Economic�Development�Strategy�(EDS)�

and�the�Mayor’s�Transport�Strategy�and�to�think�long-term�to�2050.�

�

However,�we�are�relatively�resource-constrained,�we�are�a�limited�team�and�we�certainly�do�not�want�to�

duplicate�all�the�work�that�is�already�going�on�in�the�London�Plan.��We�wanted�to�get�a�handle�on�what�were�

the�overall�strategic�and�infrastructural�requirements�of�the�city�to�2050,�and�we�made�some�deliberate�

decisions�about�what�we�would�and�would�not�include�which�we�set�out�in�the�document.�

�

I�make�absolutely�no�apologies�for�that.��We�have�written�600�pages�of�text�on�the�infrastructure�within�the�

scope.��We�would�like�to�certainly�think�about�the�infrastructure�needs�of�healthcare�and�others,�and�

incorporate�those�into�the�plan�in�due�course.�However�we�do�not�want�to�undermine,�replicate�or�duplicate�

the�existing�planning�process�that�goes�into�much�greater�detail�about�the�land�use�requirements�of�all�types�of�

social�infrastructure.�

�

Therefore,�what�happens�next�is�that�we�have�a�consultation,�which�ends�at�the�end�of�this�month.��We�look�

forward�to�the�next�iteration�of�the�National�Infrastructure�Plan,�the�Autumn�Statement,�the�budget�and�the�

general�election.��Before�the�general�election,�we�will�have�had�two�meetings�of�the�delivery�board.��It�will�have�

had,�therefore,�some�substantial�opportunities�to�comment�on�what�London’s�position�is�and�on�what�

infrastructure�needs�we�have.��Doubtless,�whoever�is�in�power�post-May�2015,�there�will�need�to�be�a�debate�

with�the�new�Government�about�the�requirements�in�London�and�the�funding�needs�of�the�capital.��That�is,�

broadly�speaking,�how,�Andrew�[Lord�Adonis],�the�process�is�inevitably�going�to�have�to�play�out.��It�is�not�set�

in�stone.��We�cannot�control�everything.�

Page 19



 

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��We�have�it.��Jeremy,�because�of�time,�we�have�it.�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Sorry.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��I�think�we�have�the�message.��Thank�you.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Before�I�invite�comments�from�other�Members�and�the�panel,�Jeremy,�I�do�not�have�a�

problem�with�where�you�are�coming�from�in�terms�of�approaching�this�by�not�simply�looking�from�within,�but�

outside�the�box.��I�have�no�problem�with�that�approach.��However,�I�do�have�a�serious�problem�when�you�are�

looking�at�major�growth�aspects�over�decades�for�which�the�plan�is�meant�to�cater,�and�when�you�have�not�

included,�for�example,�the�health�aspect�in�terms�of�an�infrastructure�plan�for�the�National�Health�Service�

(NHS).��One�of�the�reasons�is�that�the�plan�states�that�the�London�Health�Commission�will�not�have�reported,�

but�it�so�happens�that�it�will�be�reporting�tomorrow�through�Lord�Darzi�[Chair,�London�Health�Commission].�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Yes,�indeed.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Would�it�not�be�appropriate�that�you�do�actually�make�comments�and�include�a�statement�

or�a�vision�or�a�mission�statement�on�that�particular�aspect?��Also,�to�me,�it�is�important�that�social�

infrastructure�-�probably�medical�facilities�or�health�facilities�being�part�of�it�-�are�also�commented�upon,�

because�there�are�major�issues�including�the�educational�aspirations�of�London’s�diverse�communities,�et�

cetera.��I�would�like�to�see�that�incorporated�as�well,�which�currently�it�is�missing.��Are�you�happy�to�include�

that�and�comment�on�it?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Yes,�we�are.��

We�thought�there�was�not�much�point�commenting�on�healthcare�infrastructure�given�that�the�London�Health�

Commission�is�running�in�parallel,�but�we�would�certainly�like�to�incorporate�its�recommendations�into�the�final�

plan.��I�would�have�no�problem�doing�that.��It�is�a�very�sensible�suggestion.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��OK.��That�is�helpful.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��OK.��Does�anybody�else�want�to�comment�on�this?��I�have�a�couple�of�other�points�but�I�will�

come�back�to�that�afterwards.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��You�have�covered�a�lot�about�health.��I�

would�make�two�comments.�

�

One�is�that�when�you�relate�this�back�to�how�you�pay�for�this,�it�is�very�difficult�to�consider�how�you�might�pay�

for�some�aspects�of�infrastructure�without�considering�either�their�impact�or�the�opportunity,�perhaps�for�

combining�the�way�in�which�you�might�pay�for�things�together.��When�you�have�a�health�estate,�for�example,�

you�might�well�be�able�to�use�it�in�multiple�different�ways.��That�is�one�comment�I�would�make.�

�

The�second�is�what�I�would�term�the�‘management�infrastructure’,�the�way�in�which�the�GLA�and�local�

authorities�effectively�can�invest,�or�ought�to�be�thinking�about�the�way�in�which�they�invest,�in�the�

co-ordination�of�services�and�the�co-ordination�of�the�delivery�of�infrastructure�across�London�in�the�future.��

You�made�reference�during�the�Games�to�the�Transport�Control�Centre�(TCC)�and�that�showed�us�a�glimpse�of�

how�London�could�be�more�efficiently�managed,�but�you�made�the�comment�in�the�plan�that�it�was�inefficient�

in�terms�of�manpower.��The�opportunity�in�the�future�exists�through�technological�advances�to�probably�slim�

that�down�quite�considerably,�and�reap�all�the�benefits�of�much�more�efficient�management�of�the�city,�if�you�

Page 20



 

like,�and�therefore�more�efficient�use�of�the�infrastructure�the�city�has�to�offer.��I�would�advocate�more�

emphasis,�perhaps,�on�that�as�a�piece�of�investment�because�it�does�require�investment�to�make�it�happen.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Anyone�else?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��I�would�reiterate�the�health�aspect,�

particularly�in�relation�to�the�delivery�of�green�infrastructure�and�the�role�the�local�health�partnerships�can�play�

in�actually�delivering�preventative�health�measures.��Similarly,�in�terms�of�the�social�infrastructure�asset�-�and�it�

goes�back�to�Jeremy’s�[Skinner]�point�-�there�are�a�number�of�different�things�in�social�infrastructure�and�

green�space�and�playing�fields�and�things�like�that,�that�should�be�a�part�of�that�assessment.��That�crosses�over�

into�what�is�informal�green�space�or�green�infrastructure�and�how�that�is�managed.�

�

The�only�other�one�-�and�I�think�I�heard�some�of�the�reasons�for�it�not�being�assessed�-�is�obviously�the�

Thames�Barrier�and�how�that�relates�to�the�wider�Thames�Water�infrastructure�and�its�assets.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��All�right.��The�other�two�aspects�are�the�digital�infrastructure�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Navin,�can�I�just�ask�for�Finlay�Kelly?��Are�you�in�the�audience?��Would�you�like�

to�come�up�to�a�microphone�for�a�minute?�

�

Finlay�Kelly�(City�and�Project�Finance�Lead,�Future�Cities�Catapult):��That�is�fine,�yes.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Thank�you.�

�

Finlay�Kelly�(City�and�Project�Finance�Lead,�Future�Cities�Catapult):��Yes,�my�name�is�Finlay�Kelly.��I�am�

from�the�Future�Cities�Catapult.��The�Catapult�has�been�created�by�the�Department�for�Business,�Innovation�&�

Skills�(BIS)�to�help�forward�the�Digital�Cities�agenda�and�the�integrated�infrastructure.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��I�just�thought�it�would�be�great�to�have�that�viewpoint�here�while�we�are�talking�

about�it.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��I�am�glad�you�are�here�because,�on�digital�infrastructure,�the�plan�covers�requirements�up�to�

2020�for�digital�infrastructure.��Do�you�think�that�is�right�or�should�the�approach�be�different�and�how�

different�should�it�be?�

�

Finlay�Kelly�(City�and�Project�Finance�Lead,�Future�Cities�Catapult):��We�are�a�relatively�new�

organisation,�but�from�our�discussions�with�industry�and�working�closely�with�technology,�technology�is�

changing�so�quickly.��Smartphones�were�not�here�a�few�years�ago.��Technology�is�advancing�so�quickly�that�to�

predict�beyond�2020�is�challenging�and�that�is�across�all�sectors.��Also,�you�have�to�think�about�the�life�cycle�of�

infrastructure�and�when�you�install�a�piece�of�infrastructure,�how�long�it�is�going�to�be�there�and�whether,�if�

you�install�what�you�install�today,�it�is�going�to�still�be�the�best�technology�in�five�years’�time.��If�you�think�

beyond�ten�years’�time,�it�is�very�difficult�-�impossible,�probably�-�to�predict�accurately.��From�our�discussions�

with�industry�and�with�partners�so�far,�building�in�obsolescence�is�what�we�have�to�avoid.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��What�kinds�of�recommendations�do�you�have�for�a�form�of�mechanism�to�review�this�aspect�

of�the�plan?�

�

Finlay�Kelly�(City�and�Project�Finance�Lead,�Future�Cities�Catapult):��None�of�this�is�going�to�be�easy.��

That�is�certainly�our�view.��None�of�this�is�easy.��There�are�different�models�around�subscription�models,�where�

Page 21



 

you�pay�on�a�subscription�basis,�which�allows�you�some�flexibility.��Some�of�that�is�in�the�detail�of�the�

contracting�and�how�you�buy�and�procure�infrastructure.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��OK.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Can�I�make�a�comment?��The�digital�

discussion�tends�to�be�around�broadband�capacity�and�mobile�capacity�and�it�tends�to�be�focused�on�the�

elements�and�the�provision�of�that.��There�is�clearly�a�patchwork,�if�you�like,�across�London�that�needs�to�be�

addressed�and�it�is�highlighted�in�the�plan�as�an�important�feature.�

�

One�of�the�things�that�we�could�perhaps�highlight�a�little�bit�more�-�and�perhaps�linking�it�with�that�comment�I�

made�earlier�about�management�and�the�digital�infrastructure�needing�to�improve�city�management�-�is�the�

opportunity�that�that�might�bring,�by�making�the�data�provided�through�those�kinds�of�investments�more�

available.��The�work�we�are�doing�in�Christchurch�in�New�Zealand,�where�we�are�developing�what�is�called�the�

‘Sensing�City’,�was�intended�to�be�a�boost�to�the�economic�recovery�of�Christchurch�after�the�earthquake.��

They�are�requiring�every�private�sector�provider�and�every�public�sector�provider�of�infrastructure�to�invest�in�

sensing�equipment,�from�which�the�data�is�shared�and�the�city�is�then�managed�in�a�more�efficient�manner�by�

overlapping�all�of�that�information�and�looking�at�how�it�relates.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Brilliant.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��When�you�look�at�what�they�are�looking�

at,�they�are�looking�at�water�quality;�air�quality;�power�use;�traffic�congestion�hot�points�and�cold�points,�et�

cetera;�the�use�of�tarmac,�which�is�quite�interesting�given�that�we�rather�inefficiently�use�the�amount�of�tarmac�

space�that�we�have;�health�impacts;�noise�and�light.��This�is�just�the�rolling-out�of�the�first�phase.��The�intent�is�

in�part�better�management�of�the�city,�but�the�greater�intent�is�to�share�that�information�with�small�businesses�

across�the�city�that�can�then�develop�service�offerings,�if�you�like,�which�they�can�export�from�the�expertise�

gathered�in�understanding�how�to�use�that�information�in�different�ways.��That�is�intended�to�be�an�economic�

growth�engine�for�a�city�which�is�in�recovery.�

�

London�has�a�fantastic�opportunity,�I�would�have�thought,�to�build�on�that�kind�of�model,�to�do�all�sorts�of�

other�things�and�to�provide�that�same�platform�for�its�burgeoning�technological�industries.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�so�interesting.��I�just�want�to�ask�Jeremy�something.��Do�you�mind,�

Navin?��At�the�Examination�in�Public�again�and�then�looking�at�the�Infrastructure�Plan,�I�am�completely�

confused�now�about�what�we�are�requiring�of�developers�even�in�terms�of�connectivity.��It�is�not�clear�that�we�

are�requiring�anything�of�them,�actually.��We�are�going�to�rate�them.��We�are�going�to�do�some�survey�which�

will�see�how�good�they�are.��Of�all�these�new�builds,�what�are�we�requiring?��It�is�the�fourth�utility,�you�say,�but�

what�are�we�requiring?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��It�is�a�

generational�issue�as�well�depending�on�which�occupier�of�housing.��Older�generations�tend�to�be�-�not�always�

but�sometimes�-�less�concerned.��I�do�not�have�the�specific�London�Plan�chapter�and�verse�to�hand�but,�

broadly�speaking,�we�want�to�encourage�a�market-led�solution�through�better�information�about�what�the�

connectivity�ratings�of�the�properties�are.��Clearly,�as�we�anticipate,�if�there�will�be�greater�consumer�demand�

for�the�ubiquitous�high-speed,�affordable,�reliable�connectivity,�we�would�assume�that�the�market�will�follow�

that�lead�up�to�a�point.�

�

Indeed,�London�is�actually�one�of�the�better-connected�cities.��We�often�do�London�down�in�that�regard.��The�

statistics�show�that�we�are�probably�number�one�to�five�in�terms�of�digital�connectivity,�depending�on�which�

Page 22



 

survey�you�choose�to�look�at.��The�position�is�much�stronger�than�some�of�our�competitors�-�including�

Mr�Bloomberg�[former�Mayor�of�New�York�City]�-�would�have�us�believe.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��If�I�can�move�on�to�my�next�question�under�the�same�heading,�probably�again�Finlay�might�

want�to�respond�to�start�with.��How�can�behaviour�be�changed�to�reduce�demand�on�infrastructure?�

�

Finlay�Kelly�(City�and�Project�Finance�Lead,�Future�Cities�Catapult):��From�the�research�we�have�done,�

there�is�obviously�capacity�in�infrastructure�that�could�be�utilised.��Things�are�not�at�capacity�24�hours�a�day.��If�

you�look�at�energy,�I�suppose�energy�efficiency�measures�are�reducing�demand�for�energy�and�they�are�quite�

successful.��Certainly,�energy�efficiency�has�been�the�most�successful�demand�measure.��With�a�growing�city,�

demand�is�going�to�keep�increasing.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��It�is�a�question�of�how�the�behaviour�could�be�adapted�or�given�a�different�direction�to�

reduce�the�demand.�

�

Finlay�Kelly�(City�and�Project�Finance�Lead,�Future�Cities�Catapult):��No,�but�if�anyone�else�wants�to�--�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Does�anybody�want�to�come�in�or�to�comment?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Obviously�we�need�to�design�for�

peak�performance.��The�digital�revolution�will�allow�us�to�smooth�that�peak�down�and�allow�us�to�spread�some�

of�that�loading.��Very�simple�things�around�managing�the�time�at�which�people�use�the�Tube�and�go�on�it�can�

actually�increase�a�lot�of�the�capacity�and�similarly�the�way�in�which�we�all�have�peak�demand�for�the�energy�

infrastructure�in�offices�and�the�amount�of�wastage�there�is�there.��Learning�smart�control�in�peak�times,�such�

as�independently�remotely�shutting�down�light�switches�which�are�not�being�used�optimally,�is�a�way�of�doing�

it.��That�goes�across�all�infrastructure�and�water�infrastructure�as�well.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��In�looking�at�the�funding�and�the�funding�gap,�one�thing�that�was�very�stark�was�

that�with�digital�investment,�you�are�more�or�less�saying�it�does�not�need�any�funding.�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��I�would�not�

quite�go�that�far,�but�it�is�remarkably�inexpensive�compared�to�all�other�infrastructure�types.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��I�was�very�struck�by�that�and�impressed,�but�now�I�hear�you�say�we�are�going�to�

leave�it�to�the�market�and�I�want�to�just�ask�Jerome.��Do�you�think�that�is�the�right�way�of�going�about�it,�or�do�

you�think�there�should�be�more�pump-priming?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�certainly�think�the�market�is�capable�of�

delivering�it�but�it�might�need�a�bit�of�a�push�in�doing�so.��On�your�point�earlier�about�what�a�developer�is�

required�to�do,�very�often�developers,�depending�on�the�particular�market�sectors�they�are�investing�in,�will�or�

will�not�invest�in�some�of�the�high-tech�equipment�for�the�management�of�their�buildings,�depending�on�

whether�it�generates�value,�et�cetera.��Certainly�they�will�perhaps�not�share�the�information�they�gather�

through�the�systems�they�invest�in�unless�required�to�do�so,�and�that�is�one�area�where�perhaps�more�value�can�

be�obtained�from�this�inexpensive�investment�that�is�coming�up�front.�

�

Rather�than�query�too�much�the�concept�that�it�is�inexpensive�to�invest�in�and�that�the�private�sector�can�

deliver�it,�I�would�put�more�emphasis�on�the�value�of�the�information�being�gathered.��Going�back�to�your�

point,�I�would�say�there�is�emerging�evidence.��There�is�a�big�project�going�on�in�Hong�Kong�at�the�moment�

where�the�more�information�and�knowledge�that�is�known�about�how�your�neighbour�is�living�their�life,�if�you�

like,�the�more�it�affects�the�way�you�live�your�life�more�efficiently.��If�you�think�your�neighbour’s�electricity�bill�

Page 23



 

is�half�yours�because�they�are�living�life�in�a�slightly�different�way�and�if�you�have�that�in�front�of�you�on�a�

digital�panel�which�tells�you�just�how�much�energy�they�are�consuming,�it�is�one�of�the�biggest�drivers�of�an�

increased�reduction�in�demand.�

�

The�point�I�am�making�is�that�there�is�immense�value�from�the�sharing�of�the�data�that�is�being�gathered�

inexpensively,�if�you�see�what�I�mean.��I�would�place�a�lot�more�emphasis�on�that�and�the�requirement�for�the�

sharing�of�data,�perhaps,�more�than�the�requirement�to�invest�in�digital�infrastructure�of�that�sort.��Sensing�

equipment�is�generally�cheaper�and�cheaper�these�days.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��On�the�other�hand,�also,�there�obviously�needs�to�be�strengthened�regulation.��If�

you�are�leaving�it�to�the�market,�you�have�to�guide�the�market.��You�can�create�and�shape�markets�with�

regulation.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Yes,�it�is�regulation,�but�also�planning�

control�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��I�meant�planning,�actually.��Sorry.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Planning�is�the�primary�opportunity�and�

is�a�relatively�simple�thing�to�achieve�through�the�planning�process,�I�would�have�thought.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��All�right.��That�is�one�of�the�lessons�we�can�take�away.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��I�just�wanted�to�add�that�planning�can�

sometimes�be�a�problem�in�this�respect.��We�have�all�been�aware�of�some�examples�of�‘predict�and�provide’�and�

in�fact�water�supply�has�been�perhaps�one�of�those�areas,�mineral�supply�and�so�forth�in�the�past.��When�plans�

look�to�project�forward�things�like�waste�quantities�to�the�year�2050,�I�take�Fin’s�[Kelly]�point.��It�is�incredibly�

difficult�to�do.�

�

If�you�look�back�35�years�from�where�we�are�today,�think�of�how�you�were�living�your�life�relative�to�how�you�

are�now.��We�spent�£1�billion�last�Christmas�alone�on�downloads.��That�is�a�phenomenon.��You�could�not�have�

downloaded�anything�in�that�sense�35�years�ago.��That�itself�dematerialises�that�whole�£1�billion�of�

consumption.�

�

There�are�ways�in�which�we�are�changing�the�way�we�live�our�lives�that�are�changing�what�we�consume�and�

therefore�-�from�the�perspective�of,�for�example,�waste�-�what�ends�up�in�the�waste�stream.��The�one�thing�we�

know�as�we�look�forward�to�2050�about�waste�is�that�it�is�going�to�look�very�different�to�how�it�does�today.��

What�we�do�not�know�is�how�different�it�is�going�to�look.��It�is�really�an�interesting�thing�to�speculate�about.�

�

However,�if�you�want�to�reduce�demand�for�infrastructure�and�waste,�one�of�the�things�you�do�not�do�is�

project�a�demand�forward�than�is�greater�than�what�you�might�need.��This�is�an�issue�within�the�plan�going�out�

to�2050.��It�takes�forward�the�projections�in�the�plan�itself�which�are�based�around�population�projections�and�

it�takes�constant�per�capita�waste�risings�from�the�early�2030s�out�to�2050.��If�we�really�were�serious�about�

preventing�waste�and�so�forth,�we�would�look�to�do�it.��We�would�not�build�into�our�projections�that�we�were�

not�going�to�do�it.��If�we�are�looking�forward�and�if�we�are�going�to�think�outside�the�box,�then�we�have�to�

think�more�imaginatively�about�how�we�are�going�to�address�that.�

�

In�terms�of�what�you�can�do�literally�today,�I�remain�frustrated�after�three�successive�times�when�the�

Government�came�close�to�-�and�in�fact�did�once�but�then�withdrew�from�-�implementing�legislation�that�

allowed�households�to�be�charged�for�the�amount�of�waste�they�throw�into�the�residual�waste�bin.��We�have�a�

Page 24



 

frustrating�experience�as�a�company�now�of�being�virtually�European�experts�on�this,�but�being�unable�to�

implement�it�or�think�of�designing�it�in�our�own�country,�because�we�are�one�of�very�few�countries�in�Europe�

which�has�repealed�the�law�that�would�have�made�that�legal�for�local�authorities�to�do.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��It�is�charging�residual�waste,�not�recyclables?�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��It�is�just�about�residual�waste.��If�you�are�

talking�about�how�you�are�going�to�fund�infrastructure�going�forward�and�you�want�to,�as�it�were,�shift�away�

from�a�system�based�upon�a�reliance�on�a�generation�of�revenues�from�council�tax�and�from�the�Revenue�

Support�Grant�(RSG),�you�have�to�think�about�looking�at�mechanisms�for�charging.��The�bizarre�thing�is�that�

we�know.��We�have�plenty�of�experience�that�shows�us�we�get�reductions�in�the�quantity�of�waste�that�people�

generate�at�the�margin.��We�get�an�increase�in�the�proportion�that�people�recycle.�

�

By�the�way,�I�am�not�talking�about�a�tax.��I�am�talking�about�a�charge�and�there�is�a�very�clear�distinction�in�the�

literature�between�the�two.��One�is�effectively�a�way�of�recouping�the�cost�of�a�service�-�the�charge�-�and�the�

other�is�something�that�is�an�unrequited�payment�that�goes�to�a�treasury.��This�is�not�a�tax.��It�is�a�charge�and�

it�is�simply�changing�the�way�we�pay�for�the�waste�management�infrastructure�and�services�we�have,�in�such�a�

way�that�we�use�them�more�efficiently.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�to�incentivise�recycling�as�well,�presumably?�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��And�waste�prevention.��In�principle,�you�

could�use�it�to�incentivise�a�range�of�different�standards.��In�Denmark,�on�the�water�side,�they�have�really�

interesting�ways�of�charging�on�water.�In�particular�on�the�water�abstractions,�which�actually�have�the�effect�of�

pushing�the�water�companies�to�address�leakage�issues.��If�you�charge�on�the�actual�supply,�nobody�tends�to�

worry�about�the�leakage.��If�you�tax�water�companies�on�abstractions,�you�change�their�behaviour�and�push�

them�to�reduce�the�amount�that�is�lost�between�what�they�are�taxed�upon�and�what�they�actually�supply.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�helpful.��Thank�you.���

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Chair,�I�am�mindful�of�time�because�both�Steve�and�I�need�to�leave�at�5.00pm.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��We�could�go�to�Steve.��I�know.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:���If�I�can�go�to�my�next�question�with�a�supplementary�as�well,�that�would�help.��What�are�

the�changes�for�future-proofing�London’s�infrastructure?��Jerome,�you�have�already�commented�on�this�

before.��Would�you�like�to�touch�upon�that?��Also,�to�what�extent�would�making�better�use�of�existing�

infrastructure�through�retrofitting,�for�example,�help�towards�reducing�the�need�for�investment�in�new�

infrastructure?��You�might�want�to�give�some�examples.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Let�me�start�with�the�future-proofing.��

The�2050�Infrastructure�Plan�is�just�a�uniquely�tremendous�opportunity,�frankly,�to�plan�for�the�layering�and�

functionality�-�I�mentioned�this�at�the�beginning�-�and�the�ability�to�think�that�one�particular�piece�of�

infrastructure�can�serve�multiple�purposes.��To�date,�with�the�way�in�which�we�plan�infrastructure,�there�are�

plenty�of�examples�-�Crossrail�might�be�one�and�High�Speed�2�(HS2)�might�be�another�-�where�we�tend�to�start�

off�with�a�singular�piece�of�kit�and�get�a�long�way�down�the�road�of�designing�that�piece�of�kit,�before�we�start�

thinking�about�whether�it�could�actually�serve�another�purpose�as�well.�

�

The�advantage�we�have�with�the�2050�plan�is�to�say�that,�yes,�we�need�a�circular�orbital�tunnel,�perhaps,�as�it�

suggests,�but�that�that�tunnel�should�do�far�more�than�just�provide�a�new�road�or�a�new�railway.��It�could�deal�

Page 25



 

with�the�heat�energy�or�the�energy�issue�that�I�mentioned�earlier.��There�are�other�examples,�for�example,�

where�tunnels�are�used�for�water�storage.��They�are�doing�that�in�Seoul�at�the�moment�for�rainwater�storage�

and�a�reduction�in�the�impact�on�sewerage�networks,�et�cetera.��That�is�just�an�example.��However,�what�we�

can�do�for�future-proofing�purposes�is�start�the�planning�process�now�and�to�put�together�this�list�of�pieces�of�

investment�that�we�need�to�look�at�and�look�at�the�ways�in�which�we�can�actually�intertwine�them�a�bit�more�

effectively.��That�is�certainly�in�terms�of�planning�future�pieces�of�infrastructure�investment.�

�

With�the�existing�infrastructure,�retrofitting�is�very,�very�difficult,�largely�because�there�is�a�dislocation�in�many�

aspects�between�the�benefits�derived�from�addressing�and�improving�an�existing�piece�of�equipment�or�an�

existing�building,�and�the�benefits�derived�from�that�being�realised�by�the�person�investing�in�it.��If�I�can�give�

you�an�example,�in�New�York�they�have�invested�many�millions�of�dollars�in�new�swales�in�an�area�called�

Newtown�Creek�in�New�York.��There�are�5,500�new�swales�in�the�roadways�alongside�the�pavements�which�

store�water�in�times�of�heavy�rainfall�and�they�reduce�the�pressure�on�existing�sewerage�networks.��The�city�

does�not�actually�benefit�from�that�when�the�sewerage�networks�are�run�by�a�private�company�and�there�is�no�

relationship�between�the�savings�being�made�by�that�company�and�the�cost�of�the�investment�by�the�city.��

Therefore,�the�relationship�between�the�two�is�perhaps�where�the�difficulties�lies�in�terms�of�the�amount�to�

which�we�can�encourage�people�to�retrofit�to�the�benefit�of�others,�if�you�like.��There�needs�to�be�a�better�

realisation�of�the�return�on�the�individual�or�on�the�investor�before�we�can�see�it�taking�place�at�a�large�scale�

across�London.��Did�I�make�my�point�clearly?�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Yes,�sure.��Does�anybody�else�wish�to�come�in?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��That�last�point�is�something�that�I�

would�be�aware�of�in�restructuring�in�the�document,�or�having�within�the�document.��It�needs�to�be�couched�in�

language�which�is�about�the�benefit�to�the�individual,�the�business�and�the�consumer�of�all�this�infrastructure.��

It�is�still�very�much�in�infrastructure�terms�and�that�would�be�a�useful�way�of�doing�it.�

�

The�investor�versus�the�beneficiary�is�always�a�challenge�for�the�sustainability�community�to�grapple�with�and�I�

do�not�think�that�is�going�to�change�here.��However,�more�community�investment�into�infrastructure�is�

important.��If�I�might�give�an�example,�a�similar�one�from�San�Francisco,�they�are�further�ahead�on�the�curve�of�

facing�climate�change�and�cannot�afford�to�upgrade�their�storm�water�infrastructure�fast�enough.��They�went�

to�the�business�community�and�said,�“If�we�had�a�major�event�now,�this�is�going�to�be�out�for�6�to�12�weeks.��

What�is�the�cost�to�your�business�of�that?��The�cost�to�business�is�massive.��If�we�can�reduce�that�to�one�week�

through�this�investment,�how�much�would�you�be�willing�as�a�business�community�to�allow�us�to�do�that?”��

They�put�up�the�capital�to�do�that�and�then�the�community�and�other�businesses�invested�in�those�

infrastructure�bonds�and�took�a�return�from�that.��Having�a�vested�interest�in�the�infrastructure�is�something�

that�can�help�future-proof�it,�because�then�everyone�is�a�part�of�it.��That�is�coming�back�to�the�language�and�

how�it�is�described�in�the�plan.�

�

The�swales�are�what�I�was�going�to�pick�up�on.��As�an�advocate�of�some�green�infrastructure�approaches�to�

this,�we�have�much�more�resilience�if�we�keep�these�things�above�the�surface�for�as�long�as�possible,�and�we�

design�it�in�above�surface,�which�gives�a�higher�design�quality.��We�are�able�to�use�that�to�capture�first�flushes�

of�water�and�prevent�all�that�pollution�going�into�our�waters�and�there�will�be�less�cost�on�actually�doing�that�

in�the�first�place�and�we�are�just�managing�it�more�effectively.��That�is�much�better�than�burying�it�

underground�with�the�risks�that�there�are�going�back�to�it.�

�

On�the�digital�city�element�of�it,�just�going�back�to�that�briefly,�there�is�a�real�danger�of�being�over-reliant�on�

the�digital�network�and�becoming�embedded�too�far�into�it.��I�do�not�know�what�the�answer�is,�but�there�needs�

to�be�something�around�how�we�have�become�overly�reliant�on�those�systems.�

�

Page 26



 

Another�element�but�slightly�different�is�that�at�the�moment�we�have�several�different�providers�providing�all�

of�this�infrastructure,�and�they�are�presumably�repeating�work�over�and�over�again�to�enable�different�

communities�to�have�access�to�their�different�products�because�it�is�being�funded�by�the�private�sector.��You�

are�going�to�have�three�to�four�times�the�work�on�the�street�that�you�would�be�anyway.��If�that�is�just�the�

communications�people�and�then�the�water�company�comes�along�and�the�electricity�company�comes�along�

and�we�are�doing�it�over�and�over�again,�we�are�not�going�to�do�it.��An�integrated�approach�to�all�these�things�

and�having�them�all�in�the�same�locations�with�ease�of�access�and�ease�of�maintaining�is�crucial�to�allowing�it�to�

be�managed�effectively.�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��Also,�that�is�an�interesting�point�because�you�certainly�see�that�as�well�with�

some�of�the�green�infrastructure�provision.��Some�developments�are�often�made�effectively�contingent�on�the�

provision�of�-�particularly�where�there�is�an�impact�on�biodiversity�-�ponds�with�newts�or�something,�and�what�

tends�to�happen�is�you�get�each�individual�development�often�putting�in�place�some�rather�trivial�offsetting�

scheme.��Actually,�if�it�was�more�co-ordinated�at�a�strategic�level,�you�could�with�a�smaller�sum�of�money�put�

in�place�much�better�and�more�effective�measures.��Probably,�each�of�the�developers�would�be�paying�less�

money�for�the�compensating�infrastructure�as�well.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Co-ordination�is�key.��Take�Nine�

Elms.��There�are�12�developers�all�working�in�Nine�Elms�and�Transport�for�London�(TfL)�working�to�change�the�

streetscapes�massively�with�a�big�green�spine�going�down�the�middle.�However�there�is�no�joined-up�water�

management�plan�across�the�whole�of�that�site.��Not�all�of�them�can�actually�take�the�water�that�is�falling�on�

the�site�and�reuse�it�in�the�buildings�because�a�lot�of�them�are�quite�dense�with�small�profiles.��However,�if�you�

take�that�whole�site�as�a�catchment,�we�could�manage�the�water�in�that�area�much�more�effectively.��At�the�

moment,�there�is�a�big�plan�for�a�sewer�connection,�but�it�would�actually�reduce�the�size�of�that�sewer�

connection,�which�reduces�the�bills�to�those�developers�and�it�goes�around.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Jeremy,�you�are�supportive�of�everything�said,�I�understand?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Yes.��We�will�

probably�get�on�to�it,�but�that�is�precisely�why�as�a�first�step�to�try�to�achieve�greater�integrated�delivery�of�

infrastructure�we�want�to�bring�together�the�infrastructure�providers�plus�their�regulators�to�tackle�both�the�

short-term�opportunities�and�the�existing�opportunity�areas�in�London,�the�ones�that�are�hot�at�the�moment.��

We�need�to�put�in�place�at�a�very�practical�level�these�kinds�of�measures,�but�also�to�tackle�the�longer-term�

regulatory�barriers,�perceived�or�otherwise,�that�seem�to�prevent�that�thinking,�and�then�also�many�other�

challenges�that�go�beyond�this�in�terms�of�the�incentives�on�the�organisations.��If�there�is�a�cost�advantage�to�

delivering�an�integrated�solution,�it�would�be�odd�for�commercially-driven�privatised�utilities�not�to�take�those�

opportunities.��That�will�be�the�test�of�whether�the�marginal�additional�cost�is�justified�by�the�marginal�benefit.��

There�should�be�a�strong�commercial�imperative�to�joining�up,�but�then�there�will�be�longer-term�regulatory�

standards�that�we�may�want�to�adopt,�but�bringing�everyone�together�is�the�only�the�first�step.��This�is�a�long�

road.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��OK.��We�have�to�agree�amongst�ourselves�that�you�will�delegate�authority�to�

Steve�[O’Connell]�and�me.�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��I�am�happy�to�do�so.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Are�you�happy�to�do�that?�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Yes.�

�

Page 27



 

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��OK,�that�is�if�you�are�going�to�leave,�so�that�we�--�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��I�am�going�to�leave�in�five�minutes,�Chair.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��You�are�delegating�authority�for�us�to�agree�the�response�to�the�Mayor’s�Office?�

�

Navin�Shah�AM:��Absolutely,�without�a�problem.��Yes,�and�with�full�confidence.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Yes,�I�think�Steve’s�[O’Connell]�question�was�set�to�go.��The�question�is�which�areas�of�

London�should�be�prioritised�for�development.��Within�the�Infrastructure�Plan,�it�is�clear�the�focus�is�on�

opportunity�areas�and�intensification�areas.��Is�that�right?��Do�you�want�to�tell�us�a�bit�about�that?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��In�the�short�

term�but�up�to�the�London�Plan�horizon,�it�is�the�London�Plan�areas�for�development�opportunities�and�areas�

for�intensification�and�major�sites,�as�identified.��In�the�very�long�run�of�course�we�need�to�think�about�where�

the�marginal�additional�growth�in�London’s�population�goes,�and�start�to�think�about�where�we�may�see�that�

growth�occur.��That�is�kind�of�a�nod�to�what�is�a�very�fundamental�planning�issue�that�affects�London�and�the�

south�east,�that�will�not�be�resolved�entirely�to�everyone’s�satisfaction,�I�suspect,�until�we�are�through�a�

general�election�and�a�new�mayoral�election.�However�the�new�mayor�will�have�to�grapple�with�the�questions�

of�the�green�belt�and�so�on�and�so�forth�which�are�not�going�to�go�away.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Yes,�this�question�and�the�next�question�sort�of�fit�together�quite�well,�so�I�will�do�them�at�

same�time.��After�2025,�is�basically�the�implicit�suggestion�that�the�green�belt�is�going�to�have�to�be�looked�at?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��No,�I�am�not�

saying�that.��What�we�say�in�the�plan�-�and�I�think�my�planners�would�agree�with�this�position�-�is�that�we�

believe�and�have�identified�sufficient�capacity�for�growth�within�London�for�the�next�ten�years.��Beyond�that�

time,�history�shows�that�new�opportunity�areas�and�areas�for�intensification�crop�up.��We�know�that�London�is�

not�particularly�densely�developed,�particularly�in�its�central�and�inner�London�areas.��We�are�a�relatively�

densely�populated�city�in�suburbia,�which�is�somewhat�counter�to�the�common�perception,�and�that�therefore�

there�may�well�be�scope�for�greater�intensification�of�the�city.��However,�that�will�be�a�very�public�and�political�

decision�and�it�will�change�the�fabric�and�nature�of�the�city�in�the�2030s.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Can�I�just�come�in?��There�is�a�very�good�point,�it�is�interesting�and�it�is�quoting�

your�report,�but�if�10%�of�semidetached�areas�in�the�suburbs�were�doubled�in�density,�it�would�produce�

getting�on�to�500,000�homes.�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��There�is�huge�

capacity�for�growth.��It�is�whether�it�is�acceptable.��We�can�put�growth�in�almost�all�sorts�of�different�shapes�

and�sizes.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�10%�of�all�the�suburbs,�yes?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��I�am�interested�

if�you�stand�on�that�platform,�Nicky.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��There�into�our�suburbs,�which�are�beautiful�and�wonderful,�and�there�are�others.��

Anyway.�

�

Page 28



 

Tom�Copley�AM:��As�we�know�from�the�Housing�Committee,�even�in�estates�where�it�is�generally�agreed,�for�

example,�that�they�should�be�rebuilt,�the�resistance�from�residents�to�that�sort�of�thing�is�often�huge.��

Therefore,�you�are�right.��It�is�a�political�decision�that�needs�to�be�taken.�

�

In�terms�of�the�opportunity�areas,�you�have�38�opportunity�areas�and�in�the�latest�draft�of�the�plan�only�11�

have�planning�frameworks�agreed.��Is�there�a�danger�of�a�sort�of�bottleneck�here�in�terms�of�getting�this�

development�and�these�frameworks�agreed,�and�then�the�development�going?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��I�am�probably�

not�close�enough�to�the�delivery�of�opportunity�areas�to�be�able�to�comment�on�that.��It�is�more�for�members�

of�the�planning�team,�but�we�will�see�an�uptick�in�the�rate�of�delivery,�I�suspect,�as�we�overcome�the�great�

recession�and�it�is�easier�to�get�financing�for�large-scale�development�projects.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��The�first�thing�is�I�just�want�to�make�

a�point�that�there�is�a�difference�in�what�we�are�looking�at�as�an�Infrastructure�Plan�and�the�growth�areas�and�

the�intensification�areas.��There�is�a�different�spatial�relationship.��You�need�to�upgrade�the�network�and�

infrastructure�right�across�the�board�and�in�these�little�spots�where�there�might�be�a�hotspot�of�intensity,�you�

need�to�take�into�consideration�that�general�growth�as�well.�

�

In�terms�of�the�network�and�the�value�of�increasing�investment�in�infrastructure�across�that�network,�I�would�

take�the�green�infrastructure�as�part�of�that�and�the�green�belt�as�part�of�that�as�well.��The�green�belt�is�not�

overly�well-used�in�terms�of�its�ecosystem�services�at�the�moment.��It�is�there�primarily�as�a�geographical�

boundary.��If�there�were�to�be�some�level�of�green�belt�review,�it�needs�to�be�assessed�as�you�would�any�other�

infrastructure�in�a�built-up�area,�and�what�the�value�of�that�piece�of�land�is�doing.��Is�it�giving�you�water�

storage�and�water-cleaning�qualities?��Does�it�have�biodiversity�on�it?��Is�it�being�used�for�recreation�and�is�it�

being�used�for�all�these�different�things?��If�it�is�not�and�there�is�greater�need�for�it�to�be�used�for�development�

and�if�it�has�a�transport�connection�that�can�give�an�uplift�to�the�value�of�those�surrounding�areas.�And�if�you�

can�use�that�uplift�in�value�to�actually�pay�some�of�the�other�infrastructure,�then�it�should�be�used�to�improve�

the�green�belt�and�its�accessibility.��The�green�belt�is�not�really�very�accessible�for�a�lot�of�people.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Do�you�want�to�make�a�comment?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�would�make�three�points.��The�first�is�

picking�up�on�your�point�about�the�number�of�planning�frameworks�that�are�in�place.��I�am�sure�Jeremy�

[Skinner]�is�right�that�there�are�more�coming.�However�I�would�also�almost�warn�against�trying�to�do�too�many�

things�in�too�many�places�all�at�the�same�time,�if�you�like,�when�we�have�limited�public�sector�resource.��Many�

of�those�opportunity�areas�are�reliant�on�infrastructure�investment�for�development�really�to�take�place.��They�

also�have�huge�potential�for�quite�large-scale�growth�capacity�to�be�realised.��In�somewhere�like�Croydon,�

9,000�new�homes�in�the�space�of�ten�years�is�quite�substantial�growth,�plus�the�commercial�floor�space�that�

goes�with�it,�but�it�does�require�quite�a�large�amount�of�public�sector�and�private�sector�investment�in�

infrastructure�to�make�that�happen.�

�

There�are�a�lot�of�lessons�to�be�learnt�from�the�success,�for�example,�of�King’s�Cross,�the�success�of�Stratford�

and�perhaps�the�success�in�Elephant�and�Castle,�where�concentrated�resources,�concentrated�planning�effort�

and�so�on�has�been�put�on�singular�places.��Public�sector�and�private�sector�investment�has�been�made�in�

concert�with�each�other�and�the�benefits�have�been�realised�actually�way�beyond�the�initial�area�of�intensity�of�

that�investment.��Stratford�is�a�case�in�point.��You�are�actually�seeing�quite�a�lot�of�change�happening�beyond�

the�immediate�Olympic�boundaries�now�and�spreading�that�--�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��You�advocate�a�more�targeted�approach�--�

Page 29



 

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�would�advocate�a�more�targeted�--�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��--�because�then�it�has�a�knock-on�effect?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��The�scatter-gun�we�have�also�seen�the�

effects�of�over�many,�many�years�or�decades�in�London,�where�we�have�tried�to�do�that.��You�see�in�Stratford�

88�master�plans�before�the�Olympic�one�and�the�Olympic�one�delivered,�but�it�did�not�deliver�because�of�the�

master�plan.��It�delivered�because�of�the�concentrated�effort�on�investment.��The�last�--�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Are�38�opportunity�areas�too�many?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�do�not�think�it�is�too�many.��It�is�right�

to�say�there�are�opportunities�here�because�there�are�also�windfall�opportunities�that�will�come�from�these�

plans,�and�the�planning�policies�need�to�be�permissive�in�allowing�for�those�to�happen.��I�really�would�advocate�

the�layering�of�infrastructure�investment�on�top�of�that�sort�of�planning�regime,�if�you�like,�of�the�framework�

to�say,�“We�will�invest�in�a�concentrated�fashion�within�particular�areas”.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Can�I�just�say,�Jerome?��About�13�or�14�have�planning�frameworks�at�the�

moment,�but�in�a�sense�that�has�been�going�on,�that�kind�of�thing.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�agree.��I�guess�what�I�am�advocating�is�

making�sure�that�we�do�not�move�away�from�it�too�fast.�

�

Sorry,�Nicky,�a�couple�of�other�points.��The�second�is�that�the�one�area�we�do�not�spend�a�lot�of�time�thinking�

about�is�land�ownership�opportunities.��When�you�start�to�think�about�land�ownership�where�windfall�

opportunities�might�occur�-�for�example,�local�authority-owned�estates�-�they�are�still�huge�across�London�and�

have�enormous�opportunities.��I�take�your�point�about�persuading�local�residents�that�an�opportunity�is�really�

an�opportunity,�when�it�involves�your�own�house�being�demolished�perhaps�and�replaced.However�at�the�same�

time�a�lot�of�those�1930s�or�1960s�estates�are�poor�in�terms�of�condition�and�actually�in�terms�of�density�could�

deliver�a�lot�more�than�perhaps�they�are�delivering�at�the�moment,�with�a�better-quality�lifestyle�for�those�

residents,�who�would�benefit�from�that.�

�

Beyond�that,�there�are�also�big�private�landholdings�around�the�place.��A�case�in�point,�in�Croydon�you�have�

big�commercial�entities�-�and�this�is�repeated�across�London�-�and�1970s�kind�of�shopping�centre�

developments,�where�actually�the�economy�of�those�centres�is�weakening�in�their�current�state.��There�is�a�lot�

more�to�be�gained�from�the�redevelopment�and�continuing�with�some�town�centre�type�provision,�but�actually�

the�provision�of�additional�housing�as�part�of�those�redevelopments�provides�quite�a�substantial�opportunity�

and�they�tend�to�be�in�single�ownership.�

�

That�leads�on�to�my�last�point.��London�could�look,�as�referred�to�previously,�beyond�its�boundaries.�Outside�

the�green�belt,�because�if�you�apply�that�same�thinking,�how�many�towns�do�we�know�of�in�Hertfordshire�and�

Buckinghamshire�and�so�on�where�you�have�those�kinds�of�same�situations,�the�1970s�invested�shopping�

centre,�town�centre�heart,�where�relatively�small�numbers�of�ownerships�exist?��They�are�easier�to�pull�together�

and�easier�to�construct�a�quite�substantial�change�in�terms�of�housing�delivery�at�the�core,�where�it�is�less�

intrusive�and�has�less�impact�on�existing�residents�because�there�are�fewer�of�them,�particularly�in�new�towns.��

I�worked�for�English�Partnerships�for�a�while�with�the�Commission�of�New�Towns�and�I�would�say�there�were�

many,�many�such�opportunities,�actually,�Stevenage�and�Harlow.��There�are�a�number�of�towns�which�have�

those�kinds�of�opportunities�for�this�and�it�all�comes�to�relatively�few�land�ownerships.��That�is�what�we�should�

be�looking�for.�

Page 30



 

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Densification?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Densification�of�

the�centre�before�we�necessarily�densify�the�very�edge�or�expand�the�very�edge,�I�should�say.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Yes,�yes.��What�do�you�think�about�that,�Andrew?�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��I�entirely�agree.��Picking�up�Jerome’s�[Frost]�point�about�estates�and�

densification,�in�terms�of�meeting�housing�targets�on�brownfield�sites,�this�is�going�to�be�an�absolutely�critical�

issue�over�the�next�20�years.��Having�looked�at�the�patterns�of�ownership�in�some�of�the�inner�London�

boroughs,�the�most�striking�fact�is�the�dominance�of�local�authorities�still�as�landowners.��The�figure�that�sticks�

in�my�mind�is�the�London�Borough�of�Southwark,�where�43%�of�the�land�in�the�London�Borough�of�Southwark�

is�owned�by�Southwark�Council.��In�most�inner�London�boroughs,�it�is�between�25%�and�35%,�mostly�in�

respect�of�existing�estates,�most�of�which�have�not�been�redeveloped�in�the�last�generation.��As�Tom�[Copley]�

has�said,�there�are�big�issues�around�those,�but�so�far�the�approach�has�tended�to�concentrate�on�the�doomed�

estates.�

�

You�mentioned�Elephant�and�Castle�where�the�degree�of�social�crisis�is�so�great�that�some�form�of�solution�has�

been�thought�to�be�imperative�and�the�opportunities�for�densification�much�more�widely�are�there.��Having�a�

proper�plan�in�place�-�which�would�involve�really�serious�collaboration�between�public�and�private�sectors�and�

between�the�Mayor�and�the�boroughs�-�is�going�to�be�a�really�big�issue�for�the�next�20�years.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Yes,�absolutely.��It�is�interesting�because�on�the�Housing�Committee�we�are�looking�at�this�

very�issue�at�the�moment.�The�issue�of�whether�or�not�you�refurbish�estates,�whether�or�not�you�knock�down,�

rebuild,�increase�the�density,�cross-subsidise�and�things�like�that.��I�suppose�there�are�good�examples�and�there�

are�bad�examples.��There�is�certainly�of�course�a�worry�amongst�residents,�not�just�about�losing�their�homes,�

but�also�about,�in�some�cases,�the�fact�that�there�is�less�affordable�and�social�housing�than�was�there�before,�

despite�the�fact�you�are�building�a�whole�load�of�private�housing�as�well.��There�are�other�examples,�for�

example,�in�Camden,�where�they�have�increased�the�amount�of�council�housing�through�doing�this,�so�there�

are�good�and�bad�examples.�

�

We�are�in�danger�of�straying�on�to�some�of�the�work�of�the�Housing�Committee,�but�is�part�of�the�problem�

access�to�finance�for�local�authorities?��Southwark�Council�might�own�43%�of�the�land,�but�it�cannot�leverage�

the�finance�to�develop�it�itself�and�it�ends�up�going�into�partnerships�with�developers,�sometimes�which�

perhaps�do�not�deliver�necessarily�what�the�community�wants.��Then�there�is�also�the�issue�of�designing�places�

that�people�want�to�live�in.��We�talk�about�density�and�intensification,�but�you�actually�need�to�build�homes�

that�people�want�to�live�in.�It�is�something�that�the�Create�Streets�project�is�very�keen�on,�actually,�the�design�

of�the�homes�as�well�as�the�amount�of�homes�that�you�get.��Do�you�have�any�thoughts�on�that�and�how�you�

can�build�decent�communities�that�people�want�to�live�in?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��If�I�could�take�

the�opportunity,�sorry,�Chair,�may�I�be�given�leave�to�depart�at�this�point,�as�I�have�a�speaking�engagement�in�

about�45�minutes�which�I�need�to�get�to�on�the�Infrastructure�Plan?�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��OK.��We�did�not�know�that,�sorry.�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��Chair,�I�need�to�leave�in�a�few�minutes�too.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Yes.��We�had�better�--�

Page 31



 

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Can�I�get�a�final�comment�just�before�you�go,�Jeremy?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��Yes,�quickly.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Can�I�ask�you�about�the�Heathrow�issue?��One�of�the�scenarios�in�the�Infrastructure�Plan�

involves�this�new�borough�of�Heathrow�and�a�huge�number�of�new�homes�and�jobs�there.��Now�that�the�

Airports�Commission�has�rejected�that,�will�that�be�taken�out�of�the�Infrastructure�Plan?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��I�have�not�yet�

had�the�opportunity�to�discuss�that�with�the�Mayor.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��OK.��Would�you�like�to�express�a�view�as�to�whether�it�should�be�taken�out�of�the�plan?�

�

Jeremy�Skinner�(Senior�Manager�–�Growth�&�Enterprise,�Greater�London�Authority):��I�think,�as�you�

know,�that�would�be�stretching�my�impartiality.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Yes.��Some�of�our�other�guests�might�want�to�express�a�view�-�I�am�not�sure�-�as�to�whether�

or�not�that�should�come�out.�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��Clearly�it�should�come�out�because�it�is�not�going�to�be�going�anywhere,�is�it?�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Andrew�,�we�just�wanted�to�check�-�sorry,�we�did�not�appreciate�you�were�leaving�

just�now�-�on�deliverability.��You�were�anxious�to�add�some�more�comments�on�that�and�as�we�are�going�to�

look�at�that�section�quite�soon.��

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��There�is�a�big�missing�middle�section�in�moving�from�the�consultation�on�this�

plan�to�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Do�not�worry.��We�will�make�sure�Jeremy�[Skinner]�gets�a�transcript.�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��Yes,�and�there�are�two�aspects�to�it.�The�process�of�agreeing�with�central�

Government�what�the�plan�will�be�in�respect�of�London�and�also�the�fiscal�devolution�issue�and�how�the�

Government�is�intending�to�handle�the�issue�of�devolved�resources.��The�relationship�between�devolved�

resources�and�London�itself�then�financing�more�of�its�infrastructure�is�going�to�be�a�critical�issue�-�whether�it�

chooses�to�relate�devolved�resources�specifically�to�projects�which�are�in�the�Infrastructure�Plan�like�Crossrail�2,�

or�to�leave�these�resources�entirely�at�the�disposal�of�the�Mayor,�the�GLA�and�the�boroughs.��I�imagine�the�

Committee�will�have�views�on�that,�but�this�is�a�very�live�issue�not�only�with�the�Government,�but�with�my�party�

as�well�as�to�how�that�issue�is�handled�and�we�would�welcome�your�advice.�

�

I�was�particularly�keen�to�attend�this�afternoon.��If�we�are�going�to�be�devolving�significant�additional�tax�

revenue,�particularly�the�proposals�in�the�Travers�Commission�[an�independent�Commission�chaired�by�

Professor�Tony�Travers�to�examine�the�potential�for�greater�devolution�of�both�taxation�and�the�control�of�

resources]�for�incremental�property�taxes,�then�the�relationship�between�that�and�key�infrastructure�priorities�

over�the�next�10�or�20�years�is�going�to�be�crucial.��Just�to�elaborate�a�little.�My�best�prognosis�is�that�central�

Government�would�be�very�reluctant�to�devolve�significant�additional�resources�without�any�connection�made�

to�specific�infrastructure�priorities,�which�otherwise�it�would�fall�to�central�Government�to�at�least�partially�fund�

thereafter.��How�that�relationship�is�established�between�devolved�resources�and�key�infrastructure�priorities�

will�be�critical�to�decisions�taken�on�fiscal�devolution,�and�taking�forward�the�Infrastructure�Plan.�

�

Page 32



 

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��You,�above�all,�I�guess,�would�accept�the�fact�that�the�Mayor�has�-�sorry,�it�is�just�

because�you�are�about�to�leave�-�had�a�lot�more�authority,�power�and�investment�in�terms�of�transport�than�he�

has�had�in�virtually�any�other�area,�and�that�has�allowed�him�to�actually�prioritise�and�invest�and�so�on.�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��It�is�true.��There�have�been�significantly�wider�powers�in�respect�of�transport�

than�other�citizens�and�devolved�institutions�enjoy.��However,�what�I�am�struck�by�is�that�the�principal�power�

of�the�Mayor,�when�it�comes�to�significant�new�infrastructure�projects,�is�not�the�use�of�his�own�resources.�It�is�

his�capacity�to�influence�the�Government�in�the�use�of�its�resources,�and�prioritising�projects�within�national�

infrastructure�spending�and�being�prepared�to,�in�initiatives�like�the�supplementary�business�rate,�essentially�

create�vehicles�which,�though�they�may�have�wider�application,�have�been�essentially�established�for�London.��

It�is�very,�very�telling�that�in�respect�of�fiscal�devolution�the�debate�has�started�with�London.��It�was�

[Professor�Tony]�Travers�and�the�London�Finance�Commission�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Which�triggered�this�Infrastructure�Plan.�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��--�which�triggered�the�whole�thing,�which�triggered�the�Infrastructure�Plan�and�

has�also,�of�course,�triggered�the�wider�debate�about�devolution.��Clearly�London�is�going�to�be�ahead�of�the�

pack�when�it�comes�to�the�capacity�actually�to�develop�a�plan�which�could�take�advantage�of�devolved�

resources.��As�I�say,�the�biggest�thing�here�is�the�collaborative�relationship�between�the�Mayor�and�the�GLA�

and�central�Government�in,�on�the�one�hand,�identifying�key�infrastructure�priorities�which�will�drive�growth�

located�in�the�capital�and,�on�the�other,�being�prepared�to�devolve�resources�in�respect�of�them�with�some�

degree�of�flexibility�for�the�Mayor�and�the�GLA�in�how�those�resources�are�used�and�how�they�are�packaged�

with�other�devolved�resources.��This�is�clearly�going�to�be�a�pivotal�moment�in�policy�in�this�area.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�helpful.��Do�you�want�to�add�anything,�Tom?�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��No,�that�is�fine.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Unless,�Andrew,�you�have�any�--�

�

Lord�Adonis�(Labour�Peer):��The�detail�of�infrastructure�priorities�in�the�areas�we�have�discussed,�I�defer�to�

my�colleagues,�who�are�much�more�expert�than�I�am.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��OK,�thank�you.��All�right,�we�will�let�you�have�the�transcript.��Tom,�you�are�in�full�

flow.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Yes,�question�6,�we�covered�quite�a�lot�of�it.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Have�we�covered�it�all?�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��It�was�about�maximising�available�space�and�how�we�can�maximise�available�space�by�

unlocking�land�for�development,�which�we�have�pretty�much�covered,�have�we�not?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Just�picking�up�your�last�point�about�

design,�it�is�absolutely�the�case�that�good�design�-�in�both�the�public�realm�and�the�buildings�in�any�sort�of�

redevelopment�process�-�is�absolutely�crucial�to�the�process�of�convincing�and�making�the�case�for�the�

transformational�change.��There�is�a�very�good�case�study�of�this�in�the�athletes’�village�in�that�it�was�the�

highest-density�development�-�and�still�may�well�be�the�highest�density�development�-�permitted�in�London.��It�

certainly�was�at�the�time�and�there�were�many,�many�critics.��In�fact,�I�had�to�face�up�to�many,�many�critics�in�

my�last�role�in�the�Olympics�that�called�it�‘Eastern�European�bloc’�design�and�so�on.�However�those�critics�have�

Page 33



 

ebbed�away�the�more�that�you�see�the�way�in�which�it�now�has�been�delivered�and�is�being�occupied�by�

residents.��The�reason�it�works�is�the�combination�of�good�design�in�the�buildings�and,�perhaps�more�

importantly,�the�relationship�with�good�design�in�the�public�realm�that�relates�to�those�buildings.�

�

Incidentally,�the�public�realm�includes�all�the�infrastructure�layering�that�we�have�talked�about.��The�swales,�the�

recycling�of�water�and�so�on�form�features�within�the�landscape�which�form�part�of�that.��I�took�a�walk�around�

the�athletes’�village�the�other�day�and�I�really�do�feel�it�now�feels�like�a�piece�of�London�that�could�be�

replicated�elsewhere,�where�even�I�might�admit�the�jury�was�out�until�we�saw�how�it�was�occupied�and�how�it�

was�being�used.��I�do�think�there�are�some�benchmarks�there,�both�European�as�well�as�now�UK�benchmarks,�

that�we�can�draw�upon,�where�higher-density�better�design�can�lead�to�a�convincing�case�for�improvement�and�

densification.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Yes,�and�obviously�because�we�do�not�want�to�repeat�the�mistakes�of�the�past,�building�

places�that�are�not�well�designed�and�then�you�are�stuck�with�them�until�--�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Yes.�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��Great,�OK.��I�think�that�is�me�done.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Can�I�just�ask�while�we�are�on�deliverability?��It�would�have�been�helpful�to�have�

Jeremy�[Skinner]�on�this,�but�I�know�the�Infrastructure�Plan�talks�about�the�silos.��You�have�talked�about�the�

silos�to�a�certain�extent�between�utilities,�but�in�terms�of�deliverability�I�am�terrifically�aware�of�the�way�

different�sectors�of�the�industry�do�not�join�up.��It�is�great�that�we�have�two�sectors�of�the�industry�working�

together�on�this�panel,�but�do�you�know�what�I�mean?��We�have�the�chartered�surveyors�and�the�mechanical�

engineers�and�the�electrical�engineers�and�so�on�with�all�their�institutions�and�many�other�institutions.��

Noel�Farrer�is�in�the�audience,�the�President�of�the�Landscape�Institute.��I�am�just�interested�in�whether�you�

think�we�are�getting�the�collaboration�that�we�really�need�and�how�we�can�incentivise�more�collaboration.��I�do�

not�know�who�wants�to�have�a�go�at�that.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Just�in�my�area,�water�service�and�

design,�it�comes�very�simply�to�me�as�to�the�stage�in�the�design�process�at�which�the�water�companies�are�

engaged�in�the�discussion�around�drainage�and�water�management,�and�if�you�can�get�them�engaged�earlier,�

there�is�an�opportunity�to�influence�those�designs�and�influence�how�a�community�will�look�and�feel,�much�like�

the�athletes’�village.��The�reason�those�places�are�a�success�and�the�Olympics�was�a�success�is�because�the�

delivery�of�those�things�were�thought�out�much�earlier�in�the�design�process�than�they�will�have�been�usually,�

when�you�just�get�a�planning�application�and�you�sort�out�my�drainage�connection�or�whatever�it�might�be.��

That�is�one.�

�

Then,�similarly,�there�is�the�link�between�green�infrastructure�and�transport�corridor�routes,�which�I�do�not�

think�we�have�really�touched�on.��There�is�a�lot�of�transformation�around�the�upgrade�of�roads�and�the�

changing�of�roads,�particularly�when�you�bring�in�cycle�paths�and�things�like�that.�All�those�buffer�areas�

between�the�road�and�where�people�are�cycling�could�be�green�strips,�which�could�have�a�water�management�

function,�but�they�are�not�at�the�moment.��If�you�see�any�of�the�designs,�they�are�all�quite�hardscape,�so�it�is�all�

really�about�where�it�comes�in�in�the�design�process,�and�if�that�could�be�teed�up�right,�then�it�would�work�

more�effectively.��That�is�down�to�organisations�such�as�ours�as�much�as�some�of�the�providers.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��It�is�down�to�the�organisations�and�the�institutions,�you�think?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��Yes.�

�

Page 34



 

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��That�is�a�fair�comment.��As�

organisations,�we�have�a�duty�to�be�more�joined�up�and�certainly�we�are�making�the�effort.��I�am�sure�you�are�

making�the�effort�in�your�organisation.��The�thing�I�would�comment�on�is�the�strength�of�the�client�and�the�

relationship�that�clients�in�these�development�projects�form�with�the�institutions.�

�

I�keep�harping�on�about�the�Olympics,�but�we�had�a�wonderful�relationship�with�the�Landscape�Institution,�

with�the�Royal�Institute�of�British�Architects�(RIBA),�with�the�Institute�of�Civil�Engineers�and�with�all�of�those�

institutions.��When�we�needed�to�make�strong�cases�for�the�utility�provider�perhaps�doing�something�different�

or�a�different�aspect�of�design�to�be�emphasised�or�rejected,�we�could�rely�upon�those�institutions�actually�to�

back�our�cause�and�they�proved�very�valuable�in�doing�so.��They�proved�valuable�both�individually�and�also�in�

concert�with�each�other.�That�sort�of�push-and-pull�kind�of�relationship�between�a�strong�client�-�and�I�would�

advocate�that�the�ODA�was�a�strong�client�-�and�the�institutions�and�a�planning�authority�actually�that�is�

prepared�to�say�no�as�well�as�yes�into�design.�

�

The�layering�of�design�aspects�was�a�critical�element�that�led�to�a�successful�design�on�the�Olympic�Park�and�

actually�in�most�cases�around�London.��If�you�take�King’s�Cross,�the�same�is�true�there,�where�you�had�a�private�

sector�developer�with�a�similar�sort�of�relationship�with�the�institutions�and�so�on.��That�sort�of�tripartite�

relationship,�institution,�planning�authority�and�strong�client�lead�is�what�can�deliver�change�in�the�behaviour�

of�consultants,�utility�providers�and�all�of�the�different�elements�involved�in�the�delivery�of�a�good�outcome.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Yes.��You�have�chosen�two�examples�that�really�stand�out�and�one�is�where�you�

have�in�a�sense�public�sector�led�but�with�an�enormously�intelligent�multi-headed�client,�yes?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Yes.���

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��The�other�a�private�developer,�also�a�very�enlightened�developer.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Very�enlightened,�but�not�to�be�

underestimated.��The�relationship�that�Argent�LLP�[Property�Developement�Services]�formed�with�Camden�in�

that�example�in�King’s�Cross�was�crucial.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��OK,�so�the�two�working�very�closely�together?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Very,�very�powerful.��A�local�authority�

who�wanted�to�see�change�and�was�prepared�to�both�say�yes�and�no�in�order�to�get�a�good�quality�outcome�

from�what�the�developer�was�promoting.�As�well�as�that�relationship�then�with�the�institutions,�who�helped�the�

argument�around�public�realm,�around�the�quality�of�design�and�around�the�utilities�investment.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��How�could�we�make�that�happen�in�a�more�ubiquitous�way�more�generally?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��We�relied�quite�heavily�on�the�

Commission�for�Architecture�and�Built�Environment�(CABE)�at�the�time,�to�shout�loudly�about�the�advantages�

of�that�kind�of�relationship.��I�am�sure�there�are�other�institutions�now�and�the�GLA�actually,�in�fairness,�does�

also�shout�quite�loudly�about�that�and�make�case�study�examples�of�those�kinds�of�good�practices,�but�it�is�

difficult�to�require�it.��It�is�very�difficult�to�require�it�through�planning.��It�is�much�more�an�advocacy-type�role,�

I�would�have�thought,�and�a�promotional�one�where�institutions�are�the�key.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Right,�OK.��Yes.��There�is�somebody�in�the�audience,�Cedo�[Maksimovic,�

Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London].��Is�Cedo�here?��Cedo�was�going�to�just�give�an�

example.��You�might�want�to�just�comment�on�what�you�have�heard,�actually,�and�introduce�yourself.�

Page 35



 

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��Yes.��To�introduce�

myself,�I�am�a�Professor�at�Imperial�College�London�and�I�am�co-ordinating�a�project�called�Blue�Green�Dream.��

It�is�about�the�way�of�bringing�together�spatial�planners�and�all�the�other�infrastructure�planners,�civil,�water�

and�eventually�landscape,�biodiversity,�noise�and�so�on.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Can�you�give�us�an�example�of�where�it�really�worked?�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��Yes.��The�example�is�

actually�we�have�done�it�together�with�Arup�and�some�other�British�consultants�in�Singapore.�Where�the�

integrated�first�residential�area�has�been�built�and�where�all�these�principles�of�integrated�water�management�

and�other�infrastructure�have�already�been�implemented.��My�plea�for�this�project,�this�planning�process�and�

document�is�to�try�to�be�more�proactive,�more�brave,�more�engaged,�in�a�sense�that�all�these�little�pieces�which�

Jeremy�[Skinner]�has�been�talking�about�and�that�we�see�the�good�examples�in�Christchurch,�in�Hong�Kong�

and�in�faraway�places�and�why�they�cannot�happen�in�London�and�why�London�has�to�lag�behind�in�this.��

Jeremy�[Skinner]�has�mentioned�these�fantastic�opportunities.��I�am�talking�also�about�fantastic�lost�

opportunities�for�London�in�terms�of�Crossrail,�Elephant�and�Castle�and�many�other�infrastructure�projects.�

Where�they�could�have�implemented�these�integrated�processes�and�integrated�solutions,�which�also�Michael�

[Henderson]�is�speaking�about�and�they�simply�are�not�there.��They�are�simply�not�being�implemented.�

�

This�planning�document�is�an�excellent�opportunity�to�introduce�this�multi-functionality�and�the�multipurpose�

solutions�in�this�process.��All�players,�including�Jeremy�[Skinner],�have�been�talking�about�the�developers�and�

the�designers�at�all�different�institutions.��This�is�the�opportunity�to�be�a�bit�more�pushy�and�more�proactive�in�

that�respect.��It�is�not�only�what�the�developer�can�sell�-�Elephant�and�Castle�cannot�sell�healthy�air,�low�noise,�

health�and�so�on�-�but�the�city�has�to�be�involved�in�that�because�this�is�in�the�public�interest.��The�future�

solutions�should�go�for�these�integrated�solutions�and�interactions,�and�not�only�just�to�talk�about�them.��They�

have�to�be�built�in�as�part�of�the�process.��They�have�to�be�modelled,�quantified,�documented�and�costed.��

Whole-life�costing�has�to�involve�that,�regardless�of�whether�they�are�paid�by�the�developer�or�the�city.��It�is�

something�which�Government�or�local�government�or�city�has�to�be�involved�in.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Thanks.��Yes,�that�is�helpful.��Just�one�final�comment�on�deliverability,�the�

Deliverability�Board�is�being�set�up�now,�is�it�not?�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��In�the�autumn,�yes.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��We�are�in�the�autumn,�are�we�not?��It�is�October,�so�now.��It�says�in�the�autumn.��

Jeremy�[Skinner]�is�not�here�to�talk�about�that,�but�I�just�wonder�whether�you�think�it�is�going�to�have�the�

teeth�it�needs�and�whether�it�is�going�to�be�able�to�do�this.��All�of�you�mix�with�other�parts�of�the�sector�and�so�

on�and�with�a�great�range�of�people.��Are�you�getting�the�feeling�that�there�is�a�buzz�around�this�and�that�

people�want�to�collaborate�and�want�to�make�it�happen?�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��It�has�been�

mentioned�here,�just�this�is�very�important�to�me�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Not�just�the�Blue�Green�Dream,�all�of�it.�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��No,�it�is�all�of�it.��In�

the�very�initial�phase,�as�the�consultation�has�to�involve�all�these�players,�not�to�let�them�go�to�get�the�building�

permit�and�then�it�is�too�late.��In�the�beginning,�when�they�draft�the�framework�of�this�solution�and�before�

they�apply�for�the�permit�and�before�they�do�even�the�terms�of�reference�for�the�tender,�this�is�a�very�

Page 36



 

important�consultation�process.��All�these�players�sit�together,�they�agree�on�the�concept�and�then�it�is�much�

easier�and�it�is�deliverable.��This�planning�process�is�an�excellent�opportunity�for�the�next�50�years.��Otherwise,�

this�opportunity�will�be�lost.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Jerome,�do�you�have�thoughts�about�that?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��My�comment�would�be�that�it�is�

happening�in�London,�but�the�point�you�made�is�that�it�is�rather�sporadic.��There�are�good�examples.��This�

image�is�one�we�do�not�normally�see�at�the�Olympic�Park,�but�the�Olympic�Park�flooded�in�the�middle�of�

winter.��It�flooded�nine�times�last�winter�and�it�was�very�deliberately�so.��It�is�a�flood�retention�base�and�that�

protects�5,000�homes�to�the�south.��If�you�tried�to�pay�for�that�as�a�flood�retention�piece,�you�probably�would�

not�be�able�to�raise�the�money�at�the�moment.��However,�if�you�pay�for�it�as�a�park�for�the�provision�of�a�new�

community�and�incorporate�within�it�the�flood�retention�capacity,�then�you�deliver�something�that�both�

Londoners�buy,�as�well�as�deliver�that�infrastructure�sort�of�benefit�from�it.�

�

There�are�good�examples�of�the�way�in�which�things�are�being�delivered�very�positively�in�London.��I�do�believe�

you�are�right�that�we�could�be�much�more�consistent�in�the�way�in�which�those�principles�can�be�applied�across�

the�piece,�but�I�also�believe�that�it�is�very�difficult�to�enforce�that�through�planning.��Planning�plays�a�very,�

very�strong�role,�it�is�about�knowledge�and�it�is�about�advocacy�and�getting�that�guidance�out�there�more�

consistently.�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��You�are�right.��This�

is�an�excellent�example�that�it�can�happen�and�it�should�happen�all�over�the�place.��Specifically,�if�you�are�

planning�for�the�next�50�years,�it�has�to�happen�all�over�not�only�London,�but�also�other�places�in�the�UK.��

London�has�a�unique�opportunity�now�to�be�in�the�driving�seat,�rather�than�plugging�behind�and�ten�years�

down�the�line�buying�this�technology�from�the�Dutch�or�from�whomever�else.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�would�make�a�final�comment�on�that.��I�

do�think�the�industry�is�up�for�it,�I�really�do�think�the�industry�is�up�for�it�and�there�has�been�a�transformation�

in�the�industry�in�the�last�three�or�four�years,�in�terms�of�confidence�and�its�ability�to�work�across�disciplines.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Across�these�institutional�barriers�we�are�talking�about?�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��Yes.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�great,�that�is�good.��Are�there�any�other�final�comments�on�deliverability?��

Then�we�will�just�end�on�the�circular�economy.��

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��In�terms�of�us,�knowledge�is�key�and�

at�the�moment�we�do�not�have�the�London-wide�sort�of�master�plan�that�we�have�been�talking�about,�to�be�

able�to�say�where�benefits�can�be�realised.��Where�we�think�about�more�traditional�uses,�it�occurs�across�a�

number�of�different�themes.��We�need�to�understand�where�the�benefits�and�opportunities�are�and�where�they�

can�be�linked�together.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Thank�you.��I�have�just�heard�that�Noel�Farrer�[President,�Landscape�Institute],�

whom�I�namechecked,�would�just�like�to�say�something.��Do�come�up�for�a�moment.�

�

Noel�Farrer�(President,�Landscape�Institute):��I�just�have�to�start�with�deliverability�and�perhaps�

supporting�what�Jeremy�was�saying.��Yes,�thank�you�for�the�opportunity.��I�am�President�of�the�Landscape�

Institute.��I�am�one�of�those�bodies.��I�would�say�there�is�a�big�difference�between�the�Olympic�Park�and�

Page 37



 

perhaps�King’s�Cross,�because�the�Olympic�Park�is�really�truly�successful.��There�are�not�any�swales�in�King’s�

Cross.��I�am�not�knocking�King’s�Cross,�it�is�a�great�scheme.�

�

I�just�wanted�to�say�that�actually�the�most�important�part�of�that�agenda�actually�is�the�quality�of�the�thinking�

and�it�is�something�that�when�you�are�saying�the�industry�is�up�for�it,�it�is�really�true.��London�has�-�and�it�

should�not�be�underestimated�in�the�London�Plan�and�in�the�Infrastructure�Plan�-�such�a�dynamic�group�of�

thinking,�creative�people�in�this�city�like�no�other.��We�are�designing�all�of�the�rest�of�the�world�and�we�

certainly�should�be�exemplar�in�designing�our�city�here.��There�is�something�about�that�potential�and�therefore�

I�would�ask�you�to�be�challenging�within�this�plan.��On�the�notion�of,�“We�do�not�quite�know�what�is�going�to�

happen�to�the�green�belt�in�2025�onwards;�we�know�where�we�are�up�until�then”,�I�would�really�suggest�that�

you�simply�be�clear.��The�reality�is�that�the�green�belt�has�some�real�value,�as�Michael�[Henderson]�was�saying.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��The�reality?��Sorry,�I�missed�that.�

�

Noel�Farrer�(President,�Landscape�Institute):��The�reality�is�that�the�green�belt�has�real�value�for�this�city�

and�Michael�[Henderson]�was�alluding�to�that�in�terms�of�how�it�could�do�so�much�more�within�the�context�of�

it�being�green�belt�in�terms�of�recreation,�in�terms�of�what�it�really�offers�dynamically�and�in�terms�of�water�

management,�green�and�blue,�for�the�city,�and�therefore�let�it�do�that.��You�should�be�very�strong�about�

saying,�“No,�we�are�not�going�to�build�outside�our�boundary�and�we�are�not�going�to�ever”,�because�I�believe�

critically�it�is�absolutely�possible�that�creatively,�we�can�work�within�it.�

�

I�have�sat�in�the�audience.��I�was�doing�a�scheme�in�Islington,�as�Councillor�Tom�Copley�was�mentioning�earlier.��

We�are�putting�70�homes�into�an�existing�council�estate�that�is�a�1960s�housing�estate�and�those�70�homes�

because�of�London�values�-�London�has�this�amazing�propensity�in�terms�of�values�-�are�paying�for�a�

£3.5�million�landscape�improvement�across�this�degraded�concrete�estate�to�transform�the�lives�of�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Which�estate�is�this?�

�

Noel�Farrer�(President,�Landscape�Institute):��That�is�Dover�Court,�just�off�Southgate�Road,�to�transform�

the�lives�of�all�the�residents�on�that�estate.��That�could�be�rolled�out.��It�does�not�have�to�be�grands�projets�like�

Nine�Elms�and�Elephant�and�Castle�where�there�are�different�agendas,�perhaps.��These�are�absolutely�projects�

that�could�really�go�to�deliver�the�London�Plan�right�the�way�through,�as�you�were�saying�earlier,�and�I�would�

encourage�you�very�much�to�do�that.�

�

Just�finally�to�say�that�great�cities�-�and�London�is�a�great�city�and�needs�to�remain�so�-�are�absolutely�about�

public�realm�space.��You�have�mentioned�it�earlier.��The�quality�of�all�of�the�environments,�whether�we�are�

retrofitting�them�-�and�dynamically�we�can,�just�in�the�example�I�have�just�given�you�-�or�all�of�the�new�places�

that�we�are�creating.�It�is�all�about�desirable�places�for�people�to�live�so�that�they�can�have�whole�life�

experiences�there.��This�notion�that�I�know�the�city�plan�is�about�it�having�very�much�a�middle,�rather�than�

being�abrogated�outside,�I�completely�applaud�the�notion�of�what�we�are�talking�about�in�terms�of�the�towns�

beyond�the�city�centre.�However�this�notion�that�the�green�belt�is�a�resource�and�that�therefore�the�city�looks�

outward�for�those�aspects�of�its�resource,�but�inward�in�relation�to�work�on�density�in�terms�of�where�we�live.�

�

I�believe�there�is�a�model�that�can�work�very,�very�effectively�within�what�it�does,�but�it�is�green/blue�in�terms�

of�green�infrastructure�(GI)�in�infrastructure�terms,�but�the�social�infrastructure�that�the�landscape�provides�

also�starts�to�hint�at�some�of�the�critical�issues�in�terms�of�where�you�can�make�some�money�here.��The�link�

between�landscape�and�health,�you�have�just�touched�on�it,�but�it�seems�to�me�there�is�a�real�opportunity�

between�now�and�2050,�where�you�are�going�to�see�landscapes�that�are�dealing�with�healthy�lives.��That�is�a�

vast�amount�of�money�saved�to�the�Government.��Whether�you�can�turn�that�into�something�that�you�get�

because�you�invest�in�that�I�do�not�know,�but�it�seems�a�real�opportunity.�

Page 38



 

�

Perhaps�the�last�one�also�is�food�and,�as�Michael�[Henderson]�said,�food�is�a�fantastically�interesting�topic�but,�

again,�the�landscape�has�the�dynamics�for�London�to�start�thinking�about�growing�its�food�and�it�should.��

These�are�things�that�are�coming�and�by�2050,�with�a�world�population�of�9�billion,�as�projected�by�then,�are�

critical�issues.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�really�helpful.��Also,�I�just�want�to�say�to�people�it�is�a�huge�issue,�but�we�

are�going�to�have�a�whole�session�on�brownfield�and�green�field�--�

�

Noel�Farrer�(President,�Landscape�Institute):��Great.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��--�because�we�just�could�not�do�justice�to�it.��We�cannot�begin,�you�can�tell�we�

are�scraping�the�surface�in�a�lot�of�it,�but�I�am�very�grateful�for�the�way�you�have�managed�to�go�beyond�the�

surface�and�come�down�and�brought�out�some�really�great�nuggets�as�a�panel.�

�

If�we�can�leave�it�there,�Noel,�because�just�in�the�last�few�minutes�we�wanted�to�go�back�to�the�circular�

economy,�which,�to�be�absolutely�frank,�you�can�see�in�the�Infrastructure�Plan�that�it�has�just�been�kind�of�

added.��It�sort�of�sits�there�rather�at�the�last�minute.��It�is�important�that�we�look�at�it�because�it�is�one�of�the�

growth�industrial�sectors�for�this�city.��We�have�the�biggest�supply�of�aluminium,�plastics,�waste�paper�and�so�

on.��We�have�such�resources�here.��We�have�an�urban�forest,�we�have�an�urban�mine�and�we�have�these�vast�

supply�chains�and�we�are�not�stimulating�demand�or�actually�co-ordinating�the�supply.��I�just�want�to�hand�it�to�

Dominic�for�a�minute�in�terms�of�the�opportunities.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Thank�you�very�much.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Also,�should�we�call�it�the�circular�economy?��It�is�one�of�the�questions�in�the�

consultation�document.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Should�we�call�it�the�circular�economy?��I�

always�go�back�to�a�friend�of�mine�who�got�chucked�out�of�university.��He�once�said,�“If�you�ever�hear�of�a�new�

book,�go�and�read�an�old�one”.��Sometimes�we�do�repackage�ideas�and�I�am�not�sure�that�conceptually�there�is�

a�great�deal�that�is�radically�new.��With�the�circular�economy,�one�of�the�issues�is�how�it�gets�defined�by�

whoever�is�using�the�term.��We�talk�about�it�as�though�it�some�sort�of�entity�that�exists�out�there�and�that�

somehow�we�can�grasp�this�thing�called�the�circular�economy.�Whereas�in�reality,�if�we�think�about�it,�there�are�

things�that�arguably�are�slightly�circular�than�others�and�when�we�have�an�economy�that�is�circular,�will�we�

really�know?�

�

My�take�on�what�is�in�the�Infrastructure�Plan�as�it�stands�at�the�moment,�is�that�the�concept�has�been�taken�to�

mean�principally�the�sort�of�new�business�models�whereby�industry�is�looking�to�retain�the�value�of�the�

materials�and�indeed�of�the�workmanship�in�modules�of�products.�And�instead�of�rebuilding�them�from�scratch,�

as�it�were,�either�repairing�them,�reusing�them�or�remanufacturing�them.��That�might�involve�using�modules�of�

those�products�to�rebuild�them�and�to�thereby�retain�the�value�and�the�workmanship�in�some�of�those�

materials�for�a�longer�period�of�time,�to�keep�them�in�what�I�call�the�cycle�of�utility,�basically.��In�that�way�we�

reduce�demand�on�primary�resources�and�this�is�the�driver�in�most�of�the�documents�around�the�circular�

economy.��The�driver�for�the�private�sector�supposedly�getting�much�more�interested�in�this�is�that�commodity�

prices�in�real�terms�have�shot�up�since�the�beginning�of�the�last�decade,�and�supposedly�they�are�going�to�go�

up�in�real�terms�for�the�next�30�years�as�well.�

�

I�am�an�economist�and�I�do�not�actually�necessarily�agree�with�that.��We�know�very�little�about�the�future�of�

commodity�prices�and�in�fact,�over�the�last�three�years,�those�same�commodity�prices�have�fallen.��What�that�

Page 39



 

says�to�me�is�that�we�should�not�rely,�if�we�want�to�drive�our�economy�in�a�more�circular�direction,�on�the�

presumption�that�commodity�prices�are�going�to�go�up�and�up�and�up�into�the�future�as�being�the�prime�motor�

for�that�change.��We�are�going�to�have�to�do�some�other�things�to�make�it�happen.��The�question�is�what�does�

that�mean�in�terms�of�the�Infrastructure�Plan?��To�me,�it�is�not�entirely�obvious�and�the�plan�is�probably�right�

to�say�that�that�would�be�a�private�sector-driven�type�of�investment.��I�noted�the�work�that�was�done�by�Arup�

on�the�cost,�because�that�is�the�only�place�you�could�really�go�to�find�out�what�was�being�considered�as�

regards�what�the�infrastructure�might�look�like.��I�was�trying�to�unpick�those�numbers�a�little.��To�be�honest,�it�

is�not�that�straightforward,�but�at�least�it�is�fair�to�say�there�was�an�attempt�to�conceive�what�that�might�imply�

for�infrastructure�in�the�future,�and�various�levels�of�reuse�applied�to�what�the�circular�economy�might�mean.�

�

On�the�circular�economy,�if�we�really�are�talking�about�major�electronic�equipment�manufacturers�getting�

involved�in�this�and�taking�products�back�for�remanufacture�and�reassembly,�I�do�not�think�that�is�the�type�of�

reuse�facility�that�we�are�conventionally�talking�about�and�which�the�London�Waste�and�Recycling�Board�has�

successfully�supported�in�recent�years.��That�infrastructure�looks�a�little�different.��It�is�probably�a�little�like�the�

existing�factory,�but�with�a�separate�line�alongside�it,�where�the�materials�are�going�to�get�remanufactured�and�

so�forth,�or�it�might�be�that�it�is�re-shored�to�this�country,�which�is�the�exciting�thing�potentially�and�you�have�

locations�for�remanufacture�of�products�that�are�different�to�the�ones�from�which�they�have�tended�to�

originate.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Like?�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Obviously�many�of�our�electronic�goods�are�

coming�from�South�East�Asia�and�have�done�for�some�time�and�making�things�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��No,�you�said�remanufacturing�was�something�different.��Material�innovation�is�

what�I�thought�you�were�talking�about.��Maybe�I�have�it�wrong.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��No,�sorry,�I�did�not�mean�different�

products,�effectively�the�same�type�of�products.��I�meant�the�difference�would�be�in�the�location.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Sorry,�I�must�have�missed�that.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Yes,�sorry.��It�is�difficult�to�understand�

exactly�what�that�might�look�like�and�it�is�difficult�also�to�know�exactly�how�you�really�drive�it�because,�if�the�

driver�is�the�value�and�the�materials,�then�one�is�rather�reliant�upon�global�commodity�prices�to�do�the�work�for�

you�or�indeed�for�policies�that�would�probably�have�to�be�actually�at�the�very�least�national,�but�probably�

beyond�national,�to�drive�those�changes�forward.��It�is�actually,�in�my�personal�view,�not�such�a�straightforward�

transformation�to�envisage.�

�

On�the�other�hand,�the�other�part�of�the�circular�economy,�if�you�like,�the�slightly�more�conventional�one�

which�we�are�familiar�with�in�our�daily�lives�in�our�recycling,�then�clearly�there�is�a�very�long�way�that�that�can�

go.��The�distance�that�can�travel�over�the�period�out�to�2050�is�really�very�interesting�to�speculate�upon�

indeed,�not�least�because�we�will�have�a�very�different-looking�ways.��Exactly�how�different�I�do�not�know,�but�

I�would�like�to�think�that�at�the�very�least�the�way�in�which�the�circular�economy�will�work�through�is�in�making�

products�more�simple�to�dismantle,�and�to�actually�segregate�or�separate�into�the�various�material�streams�that�

make�them�useful�back�into�the�economy.��How�the�balance�of�that�plays�out�is�very�difficult�to�anticipate�over�

a�period�out�to�2050.�

�

There�are�a�number�of�companies�who�are�clearly�looking�at�trying�to�make�their�products�more�circular,�but�I�

would�say�it�is�a�challenge�for�many�of�them�and�it�is�a�challenge�particularly�in�making�that�work�financially.��

Page 40



 

One�of�the�things�that�have�actually�not�been�very�well�understood�in�several�of�the�studies�that�have�been�

undertaken�about�this�is�actually�the�cost�of�the�reverse�logistics.��It�is�going�to�cost�money�to�get�many�of�

these�materials�back,�particularly�if,�for�example,�as�Apple,�you�want�to�remanufacture�only�iPhones�-�not�

phones�generally.�You�do�not�want�necessarily�a�Samsung,�you�really�want�your�iPhones�back�-�then�you�have�

to�get�a�clean�stream�back�to�your�remanufacturing�location.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Yes.��I�can�see�that�on�the�whole�the�examples�given�were�mainly�multinational�

companies,�were�they�not?��Yes,�multinational.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Yes.�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��Could�I�add�a�

comment?�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Sorry,�who�is�speaking?��Cedo?�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��Yes.��The�circular�

economy�in�terms�of�urban�planning�should�be�taken�a�bit�broader.��It�has�huge�potential�and�all�the�

discussions�tonight�about�the�planning�is�about�circular�economy.��You�have�a�house.��You�drink�a�lot�of�water.��

You�produce�a�lot�of�waste.��Water�and�the�hot�air,�all�these�can�be�recycled,�and�it�has�to�be�recycled�if�you�

want�to�have�sustainability�in�your�cities.��The�circular�economy�has�a�much�broader�framework�and�it�is�very,�

very�important�that�this�principle�-�you�can�call�it�circular�economy�or�something�else,�there�is�a�question�on�it�-�

of�replacing�this�horizontal�flow�of�resources�to�our�properties�with�a�bit�more�vertical,�generating,�recycling.��It�

is�essential�for�all�future�city�planning�for�houses,�railway�systems,�tunnels,�substations,�energy,�anything.��It�is�

very,�very�important�and�it�is�a�bit�broader�than�just�recycling.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�a�very�helpful�comment.��Do�you�think�it�is�synonymous?��These�terms�are�

used.��‘Closed-loop�economy’�is�another�example�of�that.��Is�that�not�the�same�thinking,�‘closed-loop�economy’�

and�‘circular�economy’?��That�is�different.�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��You�can�call�it�

differently,�but�this�is�a�very�important�principle�which�is�based�on�the�same�philosophy.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Yes.��We�have�heard�examples�of�it�today�during�the�panel.�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��A�few�of�the�

examples�Jeremy�[Skinner]�has�given.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Exactly,�so�--�

�

Cedo�Maksimovic�(Professor�of�Urban�Water�Systems,�Imperial�College�London):��This�is�essentially�

future�planning.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��When�we�do�our�consultation�response,�we�will�make�these�points,�but�in�fact�

quite�a�chunk�of�what�is�written�under�circular�economy�is�actually�what�I�would�call�the�secondary�materials�

economy,�which�is�looking�at�largely�what�you�do�with�municipal�waste.��I�would�like�you�to�address�that,�

Dominic,�as�your�final�point.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��There�was�an�earlier�question�about�what�is�

missing�in�the�Infrastructure�Plan.��It�does�only�talk�about�municipal�waste�and�construction�and�commercial�

Page 41



 

industrial�waste�in�terms�of�the�infrastructure.�Therefore�the�interesting�thing�there�is�in�terms�of,�for�example,�

construction�and�demolition�waste,�and�how�that�might�change.��There�is�a�major�opportunity�to�design�out�a�

lot�of�the�waste�in�the�first�place�there�also.�

�

In�terms�of�consumer�products,�where�we�are�relying�on�people�to�effectively�deliver�things�back�in�very�clean�

products,�more�or�less�product-specific�streams�back�to�manufacturers,�the�cost�of�those�reverse�logistics�is�not�

negligible�and�it�is�one�of�the�reasons�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Even�in�municipal�waste?�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Definitely�in�municipal�waste,�yes,�so�in�

terms�of�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��What,�you�mean�in�separated�municipal�waste?���

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��For�recycling,�that�is�easy.��OK,�in�

secondary�materials�markets,�we�are�still�dealing�with�materials�in�relatively�aggregated�levels.��If�you�were�to�

look�forward�at�a�genuinely�circular�economy�approach�and�what�it�might�look�like,�then�what�you�would�have�

is�you�would�have�secondary�materials�markets�replicating�more�what�primary�commodity�markets�look�like�

today,�with�very�specific�grades�of�material�for�clearly�defined�end�uses.��At�the�moment,�we�have�grades�that�

even�in�the�mature�recycling�markets�are�relatively�broadly�defined,�and�they�are�not�down�to�the�detail�of�the�

material�that�you�might�want�to�see�in�terms�of�extracting�all�of�the�value�of�the�materials�that�you�might�to�

extract,�in�a�sort�of�circular�economy�type�model.��If�we�are�going�to�do�that,�you�need�even�tighter�separation�

than�we�have�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Much�tighter.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��--�and�you�are�probably�looking�at�things�

like�deposit�refund�systems�for�phones�and�for�small�electrical�items�and�so�on.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��OK.��I�do�not�know.��Are�there�any�other�comments�on�aspects�of�the�circular�

economy?�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��I�would�agree�very�much�with�Cedo�

[Maksimovic]�in�that�this�applies�to�a�natural�circular�economy�as�well,�and�particularly�around�the�water�cycle,�

but�I�would�urge�two�cautions.��One�is�one�of�scale�and�where�it�is�most�effectively�applied,�and�I�do�not�think�

we�necessarily�have�that�sorted�out.��I�do�not�think�it�is�particularly�simply�on�a�house�that�we�can�do�all�things.��

If�you�go�back�to�the�Olympic�Park�black�water�treatment,�if�we�are�not�making�that�sort�of�thing�work,�where�

it�goes�right�next�to�the�northern�outfall,�and�have�a�network�already�in�place�and�we�still�cannot�join�up�that�

circular�loop,�then�we�have�a�problem.�

�

The�other�element�is�a�lot�of�the�infrastructure�is�still�seen�in�its�silos�and�we�have�talked�a�lot�about�having�a�

board�that�looks�over�it,�but�actually,�improving�water�efficiency�and�water�quality�and�all�those�things�takes�a�

lot�of�energy.�Thus�you�might�be�getting�benefits�in�one�location�and�you�might�be�losing�them�elsewhere.��

That�sort�of�integrated�mapping�is�very�important�to�understand�where�all�the�pros�and�cons�are�of�each�

different�initiative.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Can�I�say?��It�is�why�you�have�in�the�plan�

something�that�looks�almost�like�a�throwaway�element�around�the�circular�economy�and�then�you�have�a�more�

Page 42



 

conventional�bit�around�what�we�need�in�terms�of�waste�infrastructure.��If�we�were�to�look�genuinely�forward�in�

a�really�radical�way,�forward�to�2050,�we�would�not�be�seeing�waste�growing,�full�stop.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��No.��I�tried�to�make�that�point,�nor�would�we�see�incineration�grow.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��It�is�always�a�difficulty�when�you�are�trying�

to�make�waste�projections�of�any�kind�and�I�mentioned�earlier�the�£1�billion�that�has�been�dematerialised�in�

terms�of�downloads�and�there�are�lots�of�other�things�happening.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Explain�‘dematerialised�in�terms�of�downloads’.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��There�was�£1�billion�of�downloads.��What�

would�people�otherwise�have�purchased�for�their�Christmas�presents�30�years�ago�with�that�money?��It�would�

have�been�things�and�actually,�if�you�go�around�waste�trucks�just�after�Christmas,�you�will�find�that�some�of�

the�poorest�areas�are�the�ones�whose�bins�are�fullest,�because�they�are�often�the�ones�who�are�getting�presents�

they�often�did�not�really�want�or�that�broke�really�quickly.��It�is�actually�just�so�depressing�for�all�sorts�of�

reasons,�social�as�well�as�economic�and�environmental,�but�there�are�things�going�on�already�that�make�it�really�

difficult�for�me�to�believe�that�household�waste�is�really�increasing�and�likely�to�increase.��It�is�a�big�debate�at�

the�moment,�but�we�have�projections�in�the�plan�up�to�2050�with�significant�increases.��OK,�what�is�the�

purpose�of�the�projection?�

�

Tom�Copley�AM:��To�make�the�projection�less.�

�

Michael�Henderson�(Associate�Director�–�Sustainability,�AECOM):��The�circular�economy�relies�very�

heavily�on�the�supply�chain�and�changing�the�supply�chain�is�going�to�probably�have�more�of�an�impact�on�

spatial�planning�and�in�turn�infrastructure�delivery.��Take�the�point�that�you�cannot�future�project�a�lot�of�

things�because�the�technology�is�not�there,�but�the�advent�of�3D�printing�and�the�need�not�to�actually�go�

anywhere�to�get�something�is�fundamentally�going�to�change�the�way�in�which�we�locate�our�manufacturers.��

The�move�away�from�large�supermarkets�to�smaller�supermarkets�and�delivery,�and�having�these�large�out�of�

town�delivery�hubs,�and�the�way�in�which�they�are�organised�is�changing�the�shape�of�planning.�And�the�share�

economy,�the�advent�of�Zipcar�and�the�way�in�which�we�are�sharing�resources�and�space�and�things�like�that,�is�

also�shaping�the�way�in�which�places�look�and�in�turn�will�have�an�impact�on�the�infrastructure.��Just�to�take�

the�circular�economy�on�its�own�is�actually�probably�a�little�bit�in�isolation�of�those�other�economic�factors.�

�

Dominic�Hogg�(Chairman,�Eunomia�Research�&�Consulting):��Yes,�and�believe�me,�I�am�a�great�supporter�

of�all�of�the�principles�underpinning�where�we�might�go�with�this.��However,�the�point�I�suppose�I�am�trying�to�

make�is�that�within�the�plan�document�itself,�it�feels�like�you�have�this�segmented�element�around�the�circular�

economy,�which�is�almost�trying�to�separate�off�something�that�is�only�about�these�new�business�models�for�

high-tech�type�goods�and�so�forth.��Then�you�have�a�conventional�sort�of�waste�element�that�feels�like,�“We�

are�planning�for�2050�with�exactly�the�same�sort�of�infrastructure�as�we�have�today”.��There�is�this�sort�of�

disjuncture�between�the�two�bits�of�that�plan,�one�which�is�sort�of�daring�to�speculate�a�little�but�not�really�

knowing�-�for�good�reason,�perhaps�-�exactly�what�the�infrastructure�might�look�like,�and�the�other�on�the�

other�hand�saying,�“Right,�OK.��We�are�going�to�imagine�the�world�in�2050�looking�more�or�less�as�it�is�today”.��

The�reality�is,�if�you�put�them�together,�you�would�not�have�as�much�waste�in�2050�as�you�have�in�the�plan�and�

the�so-called�infrastructure�would�not�really�be�waste�infrastructure.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��That�is�very�helpful�and�it�is�a�good�end�point.��Jerome,�I�want�to�just�say.��Is�

there�anything�you�would�like�to�add?�

�

Page 43



 

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��I�wanted�to�make�one�last�point�and�it�

almost�relates�to�the�delivery�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��This�will�be�the�last�point.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��It�is�the�last�point.��It�almost�relates�back�

to�this�delivery�one,�but�I�just�wonder�whether�there�is�a�point�to�be�made�about�the�tone�of�the�whole�

document�in�that�what�we�have�talked�about�today�is�rather�visionary�and�to�a�great�extent�there�is�a�sort�of�

vision�here.��At�the�moment,�the�document�reads�as�a�sort�of�...�what�is�it?��An�estimate�of�the�infrastructure�

required�for�London�going�forward�for�growth�but,�actually,�you�have�the�--�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��And�the�measures�to�deliver�it.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��And�the�measures�to�deliver�it.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Some.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��You�have�actually�almost�8�million�

Londoners�living�here�who�may�be�looking�at�this,�thinking,�“Christ,�not�another�20�years�of�construction�to�

build�another�railway�and�a�sewer�and�everything�else.��What�is�in�it�for�me?”��This�is�a�problem�that�we�

repeatedly�come�across�and�in�the�advent�of�social�media�actually�it�is�getting�worse�and�worse.�

�

I�will�give�you�a�case�in�point.��I�just�came�back�from�Germany.��Stuttgart�21�is�the�high-speed�rail�development�

going�into�the�centre�of�Stuttgart.��The�residents�marched�against�it�and�voted�the�local�government�out�and�

prevented�it�from�happening.��Had�it�been�sold�as�a�town�centre�regeneration,�which�is�desperately�needed�in�

the�centre�of�Stuttgart,�they�would�have�bought�it�and�they�would�have�absolutely�seen�this�sort�of�railway�

adjunct�to�the�town�centre�redevelopment�as�a�positive�benefit.�

�

To�a�great�extent�the�tone�in�here�does�not�quite�achieve�that.��If�you�are�going�to�sell�this�to�the�population�

of�London,�it�needs�to�demonstrate�that�there�is�a�benefit�to�the�population�of�London�that�comes�from�it.�Not�

just�a�benefit�to�the�new�population�of�London�that�might�come�in�the�future,�if�you�like.��There�are�

tremendous�benefits�from�what�it�describes,�but�they�are�not�necessarily�articulated�in�the�strongest�fashion�in�

the�way�in�which�it�is�presented.��There�is�a�narrative�that�is�required�in�order�for�it�to�be�more�positively�

publicly�received�perhaps.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Very�interesting.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��It�is�the�biggest�single�preventer�of�

infrastructure�investment�moving�forward�that�we�are�encompassing�around�the�globe�at�the�moment,�public�

opposition�to�new�infrastructure,�and�that�largely�comes�down�to�the�narrative�attached�to�why�we�need�it�and�

why�we�are�investing�in�new�infrastructure.��We�do�not�invest�in�trains�to�move�people�around.��We�invest�in�

trains�for�growth,�for�communication�and�for�trade�and�that�is�the�benefit�that�is�derived�from�them.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��Then�you�might�say�you�have�to�engage�people�more�so�they�feel�a�bit�more�

ownership.�

�

Jerome�Frost�OBE�(Leader�–�UKMEA�Planning�Practice,�Arup):��You�do,�but�as�ownership,�the�majority�

of�people�that�experience�HS2�are�not�going�to�be�using�HS2.��They�are�the�people�that�will�be�living�near�the�

stations�and�they�may�never�get�on�the�train.�Therefore�those�people�have�to�be�engaged�in�the�narrative�as�to�

Page 44



 

why�HS2�is�a�good�thing,�and�similarly�Crossrail,�similarly�any�of�the�infrastructure�investments�I�think�that�are�

included�within�here.�

�

Nicky�Gavron�AM�(Chair):��I�know�this�discussion�could�go�on�however�we�have�to�close�it�at�this�point.��

What�I�want�to�say�is,�that�was�another�area�that�we�would�like�to�have�explored.��There�are�many�areas�we�

would�like�to�have�explored�in�more�detail,�but�one�of�them�is�new�funding,�additional,�because�you�have�

between�you�mentioned�a�number�of�different�ways�of�funding�models,�but�also�new�business�models,�new�

kinds�of�procurement.��It�has�been�touched�on,�but�if�you�think�there�are�others�-�because�that�is�where�there�

needs�to�be�more�innovative�thinking�-�and�if�you�have�examples,�we�would�be�really�pleased�to�hear�from�you�

because�we�will�add�them�to�our�response.�

�

On�that�note,�can�I�thank�you�very�much,�all�our�contributors,�our�panel�and�Tom�[Copley],�of�course?��It�is�

very�unusual,�by�the�way,�that�we�have�meetings�this�late�and�I�do�not�think�I�am�going�to�ever�let�it�happen�

again.��They�are�usually�earlier�in�the�day�because�it�makes�it�very�difficult�for�people�in�terms�of�their�later�

diaries.��I�just�want�to�thank�the�audience.��We�can�feel�you�were�very�attentive.��Thank�you�all.�

�

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                  

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk

 

Subject:�London
Infrastructure
Plan
2050

Consultation�

Report
to:
 Planning
Committee



Report
of:

Executive
Director


This
report
will
be
considered
in
public
��




1.
 Summary



�

1.1 This�report�formally�notes�the�Committee’s�response�to�the�Mayor’s�c

a�London�Infrastructure�Plan.





2.
 Recommendation�


2.1 That
the
Committee
notes

Infrastructure
Plan
2050,
as
set
out








3.
 Background





3.1� On�30�July�2014�the�Mayor�published�a�draft�London�Infrastructure�Plan�2050�for�consultation.��The�

draft�Plan�contains�a�number�

October�2014.�

�

3.2� The�Mayor�has�identified�a�number�of�challenges�to�London�arising�from�forecast�population�growth.��

These�include:�

• Demand�for�public�transport�is�forecast�to�increase�by�
Underground�and�rail�services�likely�to�increase�by�60�and�80�per�cent�respectively.

• Demand�on�energy�supplies�is�set�to�increase�by�20�per�cent�during�a�period�where�demand�on�
electricity�supplies�is�forecast�to�more�

• Thames�Water�projects�demand�for�water�will�exceed�supply�by�10�per�cent�in�London�by�2025,�
rising�to�21�per�cent�by�2040.

• With�an�increasing�school�age�population�more�than�600�new�schools�and�colleges�need�to�be�
provided.�

• To�meet�the�demand�for�housing�around�50,000�new�homes�a�year�must�be�provided.
�

�

                                                                     

City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


London
Infrastructure
Plan
2050


Committee



Executive
Director
of
Secretariat
 Date:
18
Novem



considered
in
public


formally�notes�the�Committee’s�response�to�the�Mayor’s�consultation�on�his�proposals�

a�London�Infrastructure�Plan.�

s
its
response
to
the
Mayor’s
consultation


as
set
out
at
Appendix
1.


On�30�July�2014�the�Mayor�published�a�draft�London�Infrastructure�Plan�2050�for�consultation.��The�

draft�Plan�contains�a�number�of�consultation�questions�and�the�consultation�period�close

The�Mayor�has�identified�a�number�of�challenges�to�London�arising�from�forecast�population�growth.��

Demand�for�public�transport�is�forecast�to�increase�by�50�per�cent�with�increased�demand�for�

Underground�and�rail�services�likely�to�increase�by�60�and�80�per�cent�respectively.

Demand�on�energy�supplies�is�set�to�increase�by�20�per�cent�during�a�period�where�demand�on�

electricity�supplies�is�forecast�to�more�than�double.�

Thames�Water�projects�demand�for�water�will�exceed�supply�by�10�per�cent�in�London�by�2025,�

rising�to�21�per�cent�by�2040.�

With�an�increasing�school�age�population�more�than�600�new�schools�and�colleges�need�to�be�

for�housing�around�50,000�new�homes�a�year�must�be�provided.

 

London
Infrastructure
Plan
2050
-


18
November
2014�

onsultation�on�his�proposals�for�

response
to
the
Mayor’s
consultation
on
the
London


On�30�July�2014�the�Mayor�published�a�draft�London�Infrastructure�Plan�2050�for�consultation.��The�

of�consultation�questions�and�the�consultation�period�closed�on�31�

The�Mayor�has�identified�a�number�of�challenges�to�London�arising�from�forecast�population�growth.��

50�per�cent�with�increased�demand�for�

Underground�and�rail�services�likely�to�increase�by�60�and�80�per�cent�respectively.�

Demand�on�energy�supplies�is�set�to�increase�by�20�per�cent�during�a�period�where�demand�on�

Thames�Water�projects�demand�for�water�will�exceed�supply�by�10�per�cent�in�London�by�2025,�

With�an�increasing�school�age�population�more�than�600�new�schools�and�colleges�need�to�be�

for�housing�around�50,000�new�homes�a�year�must�be�provided.�

Agenda Item 4

Page 47



        

3.3� The�draft�plan�set�out�detailed�descriptions�of�how�the�challenges�facing�London�might�be�met�in�

terms�of�the�types�of�infrastructure�required�to�support�development�and�an�assessment�of�costs�and�

financing�options:�

www.london.gov.uk/priorities/business-economy/vision-and-strategy/infrastructure-plan-2050�






4.
 Issues
for
Consideration��



4.1� At�its�meeting�on�14�October�2014�Members�agreed�to�respond�to�the�Mayor’s�public�consultation�

and�to�delegate�authority�to�the�Chair�to�liaise�with�relevant�Assembly�Committees�in�order�to�

co-ordinate�a�response�on�the�relevant�issues.�

�

4.2 On�7�November�2014�the�Chair�sent�the�Mayor�the�Committee’s�response�to�his�consultation.��This�is�

set�out�in�Appendix�1�to�this�report.��The�Planning�Committee�invited�other�Assembly�Committees�

were�to�make�contributions�to�the�response�on�areas�of�relevance�to�their�terms�of�reference.��The�

response�contains�contributions�from�the�following�Assembly�Committees:�

• Budget�and�Performance�Committee


• Environment�Committee


• Regeneration�Committee


• Transport�Committee

�

�

5.
 Legal
Implications




5.1 The�Committee�has�the�power�to�do�what�is�recommended�in�this�report.�






6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 There�are�no�direct�financial�implications�to�the�GLA�arising�from�this�report.�

�

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:


�

Appendix�1�–�London�Assembly�Planning�Committee�response�to�the�London�Infrastructure�Plan�2050�

consultation�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None�

�

Contact�Officer:� Paul�Watling,�Scrutiny�Manager�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4393�

Email:� scrutiny@london.gov.uk�

�

�

Page 48



Planning Committee 

London Infrastructure Plan 2050 

Consultation response 

November 2014 

Page 49



 ©Greater London Authority November 2014 Page 50



Planning Committee Members 

Nicky Gavron (Chair) Labour 

Steve O’Connell (Deputy Chair) Labour 

Tom Copley Conservative 

Kit Malthouse Conservative 

Navin Shah Labour 

The Mayor’s consultation on the draft London Infrastructure Plan 2050 

In the light of the unprecedented levels of London’s forecast growth, the 

Mayor published the draft London Infrastructure Plan 2050 for 

consultation. The draft Plan contains a number of consultation questions. 

The Plan identifies a number of challenges arising from this growth and 

sets out the range of infrastructure that the Mayor believes will meet 

London’s short, medium and long term needs up to 2050.    

This response has been co-ordinated by the Assembly’s Planning 

Committee but contains inputs from the Budget and Performance, 

Environment, Regeneration and Transport Committees. 

Contact: 

Paul Watling 
Scrutiny Manager 
email: paul.watling@london.gov.uk 
Tel: 0207 983 4393 

Page 51



Page 52



Contents 

London Infrastructure Plan 2050 Consultation response 7 

Endnotes 36 

Orders and translations 39 

Page 53



Page 54



London Infrastructure Plan 2050 
Consultation response  

The Assembly welcomes the opportunity to comment on the Mayor’s 

draft Infrastructure Plan 2050.  This response has been co-ordinated by 

the Assembly’s Planning Committee but contains inputs from the Budget 

and Performance, Environment, Regeneration and Transport Committees. 

We deal with the questions posed in your consultation document but 

have added additional comments where we believe there are areas that 

need to be addressed in the final document.  

Question 1: Do you agree with the need for an infrastructure plan for 

the capital?   Do you support our approach?   If not, why?   

There is much to welcome in the Mayor’s decision to embark on the 

production of a long-term infrastructure plan for London.  Investing in up-

to-date infrastructure is essential if London is to maintain its ability to 

compete with other world cities in the global economy. 

Infrastructure investment must be underpinned by robust forecasting and 

business cases that capture all the costs and benefits.  As the Budget and 

Performance Committee has seen with the Cycle Hire Scheme, TfL's 

forecasting and modelling is not always reliable, yet it underpins huge 

investment decisions.
1
 

The Assembly notes the extensive suite of supporting documents that 

accompany the draft Plan.  It is vital the evidence establishes the state of 

London’s infrastructure assets, and the demands that growth will place 

on the system.  The Mayor must commit to maintaining the evidence on a 

continual basis. 

The evidence will give political decision makers the awareness of the 

implications of either delaying investment or, worse, doing nothing.   

In the Planning Committee meetings on this issue in late 2013 we noted a 

proposal that the GLA would create an “asset register” to assess the state 

of London’s infrastructure that was tabled early in the process.  This 

would sit alongside a list of individual infrastructure projects that will be 

needed to support London’s growth.  We would welcome clarification on 

how this commitment is progressing. 

Page 55



In view of the fact that, because of the scale of funding required, it is 

likely that not all the projects will proceed, the Plan could set out the key 

priorities until 2050 more clearly.   

Furthermore, as noted at the Planning Committee, that simply generating 

consensus on projects is optimistic, given the radical nature of the 

Infrastructure Plan.  The Plan needs to incorporate an intermediate stage 

of assessment and negotiation with Government and regulators which is 

crucial to taking the Plan forward.
2
 

The costs of delaying or not proceeding specific projects should be 

explicitly identified and factored into the plan. 

Furthermore, there should be an implicit assumption that new 

infrastructure should be capable of fulfilling multiple uses, integrated 

tasks and have capacity that is capable of meeting increases in demand to 

avoid being locked in to old technology that is incapable of adaptation.  

Question 2: Is any of the infrastructure identified unnecessary – if so 

why?   What (if any) infrastructure do you think London will need in 

addition to what we have identified?   Why?   

The Mayor needs to clarify its definition of infrastructure.  This should 

include the hard infrastructure projects “– pipelines, highways, transport, 

water, sewage and communication systems that provide the foundation 

of a city’s success, prosperity and well-being – but equally, the whole 

range of social infrastructure has a major role to play in supporting 

London’s expected growth 

The plan is relatively light in details for the need for supporting social and 

community infrastructure as well as cultural, health and recreational 

needs but we note the intention to take into account the findings of the 

London Health Commission which is welcome. 

There is an assessment of the overall need and cost for housing and 

schools (50,000 new homes a year and 600 new schools and colleges), but 

the Plan specifies that a key driver for this kind of infrastructure will be 

the potential to unlock land for new housing and other social and 

community infrastructure across the capital.  The whole range of 

infrastructure is required to create sustainable neighbourhoods and 

communities and integration of supporting community infrastructure, 

health and green infrastructure can all play a part in delivering these 

objectives. 

Page 56



  

 

The London Plan sets out a comprehensive list of social needs which 

contribute to ensure sustainable development and making an area more 

than just a place to live and the Mayor needs to ensure his infrastructure 

plan takes these needs as seriously as those for the big ticket projects 

such as transport and utilities and the Plan should include the range of 

social and supporting infrastructure. 

It is essential to recognise explicitly the capacity required for social and 

supporting infrastructure.  As the Assembly highlighted at the recent 

London Plan Examination in Public, many boroughs are now facing 

pressures on land use choices in relation to increasing housing targets.  

For example, while provision is set out across a range of requirements 

such as open space and children’s play space provision, increasing 

numbers of homes will ultimately impact on the availability and access to 

these resources.  Some inner London boroughs are now being faced with 

the unenviable scenario of having to choose between providing social 

infrastructure or open space for increased population simply due to the 

finite number of potentially available sites in the area.
3
 

The Infrastructure Plan and the London Plan need to be developed with 

careful co-ordination and be mutually supportive.  Until the new London 

Plan has been revised and approved by around 2020 there is a danger 

that gaps will appear between future demand (potentially identified by 

the Infrastructure Plan) and the current standards for supporting 

infrastructure as set out in the London Plan. 

Question 3: We have identified a significant funding gap with regard to 

the infrastructure that we think London will need. We have also set out 

a menu of options to help close the gap. Which of these should we 

pursue and why?   Which not and why?   Are there other options we 

haven’t considered which you think need to be addressed?   

London’s success depends on continuous and significant investment, and 

we therefore welcome the Plan as a positive step forward.  But, having 

agreed on the need for this scale of investment – and the benefits it will 

bring London and the UK – we must all recognise that it has to be paid 

for. 

Not all the infrastructure in the Plan will be owned, or paid for, by the 

public sector.  Some will be entirely private sectors ventures, paid for by 

consumers through charges or levies.  Some will be publicly-owned and 

funded, either at the national or regional/local government level.  And 

some will be a hybrid.   So, while the public sector may have a role in all 

Page 57



  

 

the schemes – in terms of enabling, promoting or regulating – it will only 

need to fund and deliver some of them, using a range of strategies for 

raising the funding and delivering the schemes.  Where possible, the likely 

ownership and funding arrangements should therefore be set out in the 

Plan.  As should the ways in which City Hall, where not responsible for 

delivery, will oversee, monitor and help to facilitate projects viewed as a 

priority. 

In view of the fact that, because of the scale of funding required, it is 

likely that not all the projects will proceed, the Plan could set out the key 

priorities until 2050 more clearly. 

Infrastructure investment must be underpinned by robust forecasting and 

business cases that capture all the costs and benefits.  As we have seen 

with the Cycle Hire Scheme, TfL’s forecasting and modelling is not always 

reliable, yet it underpins huge investment decisions.  

Budget and Performance Committee notes the significance of fares as a 

proportion of the plan’s proposed funding.
4
  And it would be tempting to 

increase fares above inflation to plug the funding gap.  But fare increases 

should be kept to a minimum – the Mayor needs to recognise the impact 

of fares on London’s affordability.  

There is still a great deal of uncertainty for the Mayor and GLA on many 

of its income streams e.g. business rates – this needs to be improved.  

Budget and Performance Committee therefore agrees with the Mayor’s 

goal to take greater control over taxation in London. 

The lack of certainty over funding, particularly over the longer term, 

makes it very difficult to plan effectively.  Where longer-term funding has 

been agreed – for example the six-year capital funding settlement from 

DfT to TfL – this has made it easier (and potentially cheaper) to plan 

investment. 

Budget and Performance Committee supports the further devolution of 

suburban rail services – the Overground has proven an effective model to 

improve services and control costs.  There may be opportunities to 

leverage in private investment in the form of philanthropic donations or 

commercial sponsorship.  

The GLA Group needs to become more commercially-aware to make best 

use of its assets.  TfL is expanding its commercial team to increase these 

income streams, and we support this approach. 

Page 58



  

 

The Mayor must make best use of the GLA’s land assets, and there is a 

case for the Mayor to have a strategic role in managing disposals of all 

public sector land in London.   

One further issue remains to be considered, if not in the Infrastructure 

Plan, then by the Mayor in his thinking about how to take forward the 

issue of funding.  The Planning Committee heard evidence about the 

implications of the emerging fiscal devolution debate.  Proposals by the 

London Finance Commission, such as incremental property taxes, and the 

relationship with key infrastructure priorities over the next 20 years are 

going to be crucial for delivery.  

“Government would be very reluctant to devolve significant additional 

resources without any connection made to specific infrastructure 

priorities which otherwise it would fall to central Government to at least 

partially fund thereafter.  How that relationship is established between 

devolved resources and key infrastructure priorities will be critical to 

decisions taken on fiscal devolution and taking forward the Infrastructure 

Plan.” 
5
 

The Mayor needs to be prepared to make a strong business case to 

Government for all of the key infrastructure projects identified in the 

Plan. 

Question 4: Will the London Infrastructure Delivery Board be enough to 

ensure best-practice joined-up delivery of infrastructure in London?   

What more could the Mayor do?   

About 60 per cent of London’s infrastructure assets do not sit in public 

sector hands
6
 and work to their own business needs and funding plans.  

Some utilities only forecast for about three years ahead in terms of 

population increase.  “Each actor has its own priorities, investment plans 

and timescales and the level of coordination between policy formulation, 

economic regulators’ decisions and delivery, within and between sectors, 

is variable.”
7
 

Bringing all these ‘actors’ together, getting them to sign up to the Mayor’s 

vision for a sustainable London and to stay on-board for the long-term is 

going to be a major challenge.   

The draft Infrastructure Plan notes the success of the London Olympics in 

delivering a large scale, complex project to time and within budget.  But it 

also notes the example of Crossrail which, although well on the way to 

successful delivery, was some 60 years in the planning phase. 

Page 59



  

 

One of the crucial tasks of the Infrastructure Board will be to bring 

together infrastructure providers and regulators to tackle long and short 

term barriers for integrated planning and investment.  The Planning 

Committee agrees that there should be a strong commercial incentive to 

participate in the delivery of London’s infrastructure
8 

and that long term 

thinking should be the basis of key decisions made by the Board. 

Co-ordination is key, and something the Delivery Board should take on 

board from the first meeting.  The Planning Committee was quoted an 

example of the failure of co-ordination in terms of the Nine Elms 

development’s approach to water management.    

“There are 12 developers all working in Nine Elms and Transport for 

London … but there is no joined-up water management plan across the 

whole of that site.  Not all of them can actually take the water that is 

falling on the site and reuse it in the buildings because a lot of them are 

quite dense with small profiles.  However, if you take that whole site as a 

catchment, we could manage the water in that area much more 

effectively.  At the moment, there is a big plan for a sewer connection, 

but it would actually reduce the size of that sewer connection, which 

reduces the bills to those developers and it goes around.”
9
 

The Olympic Delivery Authority is an excellent example of how to manage 

the delivery of complex long term projects.  The Planning Committee 

heard how it planned in flexibility on the basis of providing resilience and 

in doing so could future proof infrastructure backed with a business case 

for relatively higher levels of spending than would normally seem 

economically viable.
10

  Specific examples relate to the local energy system 

that is able to both adapt to the need for increased future demand but 

also the role it is playing in unlocking the development potential of 

surrounding sites.   

The London Infrastructure Board will also need to overcome the 

“systemic barriers to successful infrastructure provision, such as 

organisational siloes and unhelpful regulations.”
11 

 These disjointed 

arrangements require coordinated and strategic approaches if London’s 

infrastructure needs are to be met.   

The Mayor needs to establish what levers he needs to achieve this 

objective and he must take every opportunity to lobby for increased 

responsibilities and funding whenever there is a chance of devolution of 

powers to London.
12 

 The work of the London Finance Commission shows 

the value of mapping out a clear way forward, but also how an agreed 

Page 60



  

 

action plan could set out the key milestones to ensure that the vision can 

become a reality. 

The Planning Committee is concerned that the Infrastructures Delivery 

Board should have a clear idea of what is needed to be delivered.  The 

next draft of the Infrastructure Plan should provide a much clearer set of 

priorities for the Board to start work on delivering the short term projects 

while signalling the medium and longer term priorities for London. 

The Delivery Board should ensure that the Infrastructure Plan is a living 

document and one which is constantly updated and informed by 

demographic projections, economic trends and technological 

developments.  Specifically in terms of technology it will be important 

that the Board has effective contacts with bodies such as the Smart 

London Board to anticipate the potential of technology and to avoid ‘lock 

in’ to old, outdated and inefficient infrastructure. 

Question 5: Where do you think London’s growth would be best 

accommodated (please explain why)?   Are there alternative spatial 

scenarios we need to analyse?   

The draft Infrastructure Plan contains an implicit suggestion that in little 

more than 10 years the commitment to managing growth within 

London’s boundaries without encroaching on the Green Belt or open 

spaces may no longer be feasible 

The Planning Committee supports development in Opportunity Areas and 

Intensification Areas as this will relieve pressure on London’s current 

Green Belt boundaries for the foreseeable future, but will require urgent 

thinking about how to unlock all of London’s brownfield sites for 

sustainable development.   

To support targeting future development on brownfield land the Mayor 

needs to undertake a comprehensive survey of potential sites that 

identifies land ownership and development constraints in order to assess 

the infrastructure needed to make the site viable for development.  This 

would complement the infrastructure asset register (see question 1 

above). 

Maximising the amount of brownfield land that is suitable and viable for 

sustainable development is therefore crucial if London’s growth is to be 

contained within its boundaries.  The Infrastructure Delivery Board needs 

to make this a priority and to ensure there is full integration with next full 

revision of the London Plan after 2016. 

Page 61



  

 

The Planning Committee supports the alternatives set out in the draft 

Infrastructure Plan for the intensification of development in town 

centres, other areas of high public transport accessibility and then 

generally in suburban London, as long as sufficient supporting 

infrastructure can be provided to make this development sustainable. 

The London Plan notes that in some areas identified for potential 

development the transport system would not currently support 

significant levels of growth and developer contributions may be required 

to underpin enhancements.
13

  The Infrastructure Plan also recognises that 

some brownfield areas will require transport investment to unlock sites 

for development.  The Planning Committee agrees this is the case but not 

every area will need substantial investment in fixed transport 

infrastructure.  In many places bus services linking to nearby transport 

hubs will be sufficient. 

At the Examination in Public of the London Plan the Assembly argued that 

while brownfield development is desirable it must not be at the expense 

of industrial land (excluding genuinely surplus industrial land).
14

  London 

Plan policy 4.4A adopts an approach to industrial land management to 

ensure a sufficient stock of land and premises to meet future needs of 

different types of industrial and related uses however the proposed 

alterations to the London Plan suggests scope for planned and managed 

release of surplus industrial land.   

It is vital that an appropriate balance between the need for new housing 

sites and industrial land is retained.  It is likely however that the 

requirement for Opportunity Areas to close the gap between housing 

need and the London Plan’s housing targets will make industrial land ever 

more vulnerable.   

Given the proposals from Government (Technical consultation on 

planning, July 2014) that suggest extending permitted development rights 

to allow conversion to housing from light industrial and warehouse 

buildings, the Assembly would advise the Mayor to carefully monitor the 

release of industrial land for other kinds of development, particularly 

housing. 

Loss of industrial land may affect other necessary pieces of supporting 

infrastructure, for example the boroughs’ ability to manage waste within 

their area will be affected if industrial sites ear-marked for waste 

management are lost.   

Page 62



  

 

In terms of the Green Belt debate, the Planning Committee heard 

evidence that by making the Green Belt work harder (to support its 

original functions) the area can more effectively support development 

within London’s boundaries.  For example it could function more 

effectively for water storage and cleansing, biodiversity and recreation.
15 

 

“The green belt has real value for this city and … it could do so much 

more.”
16

 

Question 6: Do you agree that incentives on utility providers should be 

amended to enable investment costs for growth to be shared more 

widely?   How practically can this be achieved?   If not, why?   

The Delivery Board will need to be able to demonstrate how the public 

sector can take on some of the risk to incentivise wider levels of private 

sector investment on the basis of long term benefits for London.
17

  The 

Planning Committee heard numerous examples of how this approach is 

necessary alongside changes to the regulatory environment to anticipate 

future demand, deliver infrastructure ahead of later phases of 

development and stimulating investment that provides benefits to the 

range of stakeholders involved.
18 

  

See also our comments on questions 1 and 4 – Overall Approach and 

London Delivery Board. 

Question 7: Regarding technological change, do you agree with the 

proposed approach?   What technological advances should London be 

taking account of or be leading?   

The Infrastructure Plan will necessarily have to set out short, medium and 

long-term scenarios as to the infrastructure needed and each of these will 

need regular reviews to match demand to the scale of support they 

require.  It is vitally important that the long-term view is not neglected.   

When engaging in long-term forecasting and planning there are 

challenges to assuming that current trends will continue unchanged and 

that existing methods of resource use and delivery will continue. 

Technological developments add to the challenge of developing such 

long-term infrastructure plans.  The potential exists of embarking on 

major investment that might be obsolete or incapable of adaptation in 

the future.   

The Infrastructure Plan must consider how emerging technologies might 

make providing services and support to future Londoners easier, more 

efficient and, in some cases, in a revolutionary way.  It must include a 

regular review of emerging technology as an essential part of the plan.  If 

Page 63



  

 

we do not build in consideration of the future we risk wasting a huge 

amount of capital on ‘stranded assets’.
19

 

It will be vitally important that there is expertise on the Infrastructure 

Delivery Board that can factor in developments in technology and link 

these to infrastructure provision.  We recommend that the Delivery Board 

includes representation from the Smart London Board and appropriate 

sections of academia. 

See also our comments on question 4 – London Delivery Board. 

Question 8: How can we change behaviours to reduce demand for key 

infrastructure?   To what extent could demand side changes affect, for 

example, our energy needs or over-crowding on London’s transport?   

Our earlier comments in the answer to question 1 (new infrastructure 

should be capable of fulfilling multiple uses) introduce further thinking 

about changes that reduce demand for infrastructure that goes beyond 

influencing an individual‘s behaviour. 

There are examples where infrastructure can perform a number of 

complimentary functions – for example in the Netherlands roads are 

designed with ground heating that melts snow and provides a consistent 

source of heating to local buildings.  In Austria, railway tunnels draw heat 

from the ground for heating buildings which then cools the tunnel.  These 

innovations can reduce the demand for infrastructure.   

Equally, thinking about integrated systems can reduce the need for 

resources – and so the demand for infrastructure.  An example is the 

issue of London’s demand for water.  If the demand for clean water, 

management of waste water and storm water and the issue of flood risk 

are considered as part of one cycle, then demand can be managed more 

effectively.  “These are often managed in their silos and one of the 

biggest challenges is how we look at water as a whole water cycle and 

really understand water cycle management within an urban context.”
20

 

Demand could be managed through financial incentives on supply and 

incentivise a range of different standards.  In Denmark taxes on water 

abstraction have had the effect of making water companies address 

leakage issues.  “If you tax water companies on abstractions, you change 

their behaviour and push them to reduce the amount that is lost between 

what they are taxed upon and what they actually supply.”
21

 

Page 64



  

 

Current infrastructure tends to be designed for peak performance.  

Technology will increasingly allow techniques to “smooth the flow down 

and spread some of the loading”.
22

  Smart control at peak times will 

reduce the need for infrastructure.  Equally the Infrastructure Plan needs 

to recognise the potential for information collection and sharing to 

reduce demand.  There are global examples of this, for example projects 

in Hong Kong and Melbourne and “there is immense value from the 

sharing of the data that is being gathered inexpensively “.
23

   

Housing 
 

Question 9: Do you have other suggestions for how we could more 

effectively unlock housing sites with the help of infrastructure?   

London’s housing need will be the key driver of the type and scale of 

infrastructure that London will require in the period covered by the 

Infrastructure Plan.  It is important that the Infrastructure Plan is 

informed by both the London Plan and the Mayor’s Housing Strategy. 

London’s spatial development will be directed by land availability and so 

it is important that all efforts are made to maximise the amount of land 

that can be developed sustainably and supported by the range of 

infrastructure (see above, question 5). 

Many potential sites are currently unsuitable for use and need a range of 

measures that will unlock them so that development can take place.  The 

draft Infrastructure Plan highlights the potential for infrastructure, 

especially transport (but also new electricity infrastructure), to unlock 

potential across the capital.  

Lessons need to be learned from the Olympic Park where forward 

thinking in terms of infrastructure planning has enabled sites beyond the 

core Park to be unlocked in terms of their development viability.   

It should be central to the Delivery Board’s thinking that infrastructure 

requirements are planned and delivered as part of a wider development 

philosophy, to avoid short-term and site specific solutions if London’s site 

potential is to be maximised. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



  

 

Transport 
 

Question 10: Are there any other strategic projects we have not 

considered?   

The final Infrastructure Plan should include more details of projects that 

will deliver improvements to surface public transport access at London’s 

airports, develop the bus network, and extend the tram network. 

The Transport Committee’s past work has shown that these are all 

strategic transport issues.  For example, in the report on airport capacity 

in London (May 2013), it demonstrated that improving public surface 

transport access at airports could ensure better use of existing airport 

capacity.  In the Committee’s report on bus services in London (October 

2013), it highlighted the need for a strategy for the future development of 

the bus network to help ensure it met rising demand.   

When the Transport Committee considered the proposal for a cross-river 

tram (May 2008), it noted that previous TfL strategic planning documents, 

such as Transport 2025, identified a role for more light rail schemes, 

including trams, in supporting regeneration and improving public 

transport capacity across the capital.  Recently the Transport Committee 

heard orbital tram schemes could be cheaper and easier to deliver than 

new heavy-rail links. 

Question 11: Given funding constraints, what projects do you think we 

need to prioritise?   

In the first instance, the final Infrastructure Plan should prioritise public 

transport projects that already feature in TfL’s Business Plan including 

delivery of the Tube upgrades, Crossrail 2, the extension of the Bakerloo 

line south and the extension of London Overground to Barking Riverside. 

 

The final Infrastructure Plan should make clear the criteria used for 

prioritising any other transport projects, which should include the 

project’s clear link to the vision of London in 2050, its potential economic 

benefits, any wider social benefits for Londoners, and its viability in terms 

of costs and delivery. 

 

It is vital for Londoners that the transport projects already underway or 

now being developed are delivered in full.  These include the Tube 

upgrades, Crossrail 2, extending the Bakerloo line south and extending 

London Overground to Barking Riverside.  In the Transport Committee’s 

work on Crossrail 2, it stressed that this project is necessary to provide 

high quality rail capacity and that it could generate economic benefits 

Page 66



  

 

worth £49 billion.  However, the Transport Committee does not want 

Crossrail 2 to result in a loss of existing rail services in London.  The 

Committee would expect Crossrail 2 to deliver additional services to 

stations in the areas it covers in order that passengers genuinely benefit 

from the project.   Similarly the Transport Committee supports the 

proposed extension of the Bakerloo line south to increase public 

transport capacity and wants it to deliver additional services for 

Londoners. 

 

Beyond prioritising these existing transport projects, the Transport 

Committee welcomes a prioritisation of transport projects based on a 

clear set of criteria.  The Committee has heard of a number of factors that 

should be considered when prioritising transport projects.  First, the 

prioritisation should clearly relate to the vision for London in 2050.  On 

this basis, the stated aspiration to increase the share of journeys made by 

foot and bike by 2050 may not obviously fit with a proposal to spend £15-

25 billion on a new orbital road tunnel that will provide for journeys by 

car.  Second, the transport projects should have clear economic benefits 

to help make the case for receiving funding.  Third, the wider social 

benefits of the projects should be considered.  The Transport Committee 

has heard that schemes promoting walking and cycling have scope to 

generate notable health benefits for Londoners.  Fourth, the Committee 

considers it vital to ensure the prioritisation of projects that are realistic.  

The Transport Committee has heard some doubts about the likelihood of 

being able to fund and deliver some huge transport infrastructure 

projects such as a new inner orbital road tunnel which would be 

extremely expensive and take many years to build.   

 

Question 12: Which transport innovations do you think will have the 

most impact and why?   How can we encourage their development?   

The final Infrastructure Plan should include more details on how TfL will 

encourage the development of existing technologies that may improve 

transport users’ experiences through the provision of more real-time 

travel information. 

 

The final Infrastructure Plan should make clear how TfL will keep 

informed of developments in autonomous vehicle technology so it can 

take advantage of this technology in future and ensure it does not result 

in negative effects such as greater car use.  

 

The Transport Committee heard that, in the immediate future, the focus 

should be on developing existing technologies that use transport data to 

improve journeys or realise modal shift.  To this end, TfL should continue 

Page 67



  

 

to share its data with third-party developers who can generate new IT 

systems and apps for transport users that allow them to use information 

to make informed travel choices.  The Committee heard that such 

developments can also improve freight journeys in the capital.  

Companies can plan deliveries more effectively when they have real-time 

information about traffic levels.   The Transport Committee’s current 

work on taxi and private hire services has also shown that using 

technology to obtain data can help to inform decisions about the supply 

of services so it matches demand.   

 

In addition to supporting information systems, TfL should continue to 

focus on encouraging technologies that could improve other aspects of 

the passenger experience e.g. the development of better air-cooling 

systems for the Tube and buses or technology that may provide for more 

people to work from home and/or adopt more flexible working patterns. 

More mobile and remote working enabled by technology could reduce 

and/or shift demand for public transport thereby helping to reduce 

overcrowding and congestion, especially at peak times.   

 

The Transport Committee notes that autonomous vehicle technology may 

have the potential to revolutionise our transport system in the long-term 

but there are many issues to address.  There remain considerable 

concerns about the safety of this technology and there will be numerous 

legal and policy issues to resolve before driverless cars could be 

commonplace on London’s roads.  However, it is important for TfL to 

keep abreast of developments with this technology.  TfL needs to ensure 

new roads infrastructure might easily accommodate autonomous vehicles 

at a later date.  TfL also needs to be able to try and shape how this 

technology is used to ensure it delivers benefits and does not result in any 

disadvantages such as increased congestion on London’s roads.  Similarly 

the Transport Committee notes that solar highways and kinetic 

pavements are relative new technologies that may offer advantages in 

future.  TfL will need to keep abreast of developments in these 

technologies too.  

 

Question 13: How clear is our approach to tackling road congestion?   

How significant do you think promoting walking and cycling could be as 

part of the solution?   

The majority of the Transport Committee want the final Infrastructure 

Plan to include further measures to tackle road congestion including 

details of the level of congestion that will trigger consideration of road 

user charging.  

Page 68



  

 

The final Infrastructure Plan should include enhanced proposals for 

walking infrastructure alongside the proposals for new cycling 

infrastructure to ensure both walking and cycling can play greater roles in 

reducing congestion. 

The majority of the Transport Committee is concerned that the approach 

to tackling road congestion in the draft Infrastructure Plan does not go far 

enough.  It is concerned that road congestion might not be addressed 

effectively by 2050 simply by developing signal technology, enhancing 

predictive traffic management, redesigning major traffic junctions, and 

possibly creating a new inner orbital road tunnel which is a hugely 

ambitious proposal. 

In the Transport Committee’s past work on road congestion, the majority 

of the Committee concluded that, as traffic volumes rise, other actions 

will be needed to manage road congestion.  These may include the 

reinstatement of a hierarchy of road users to help ensure transport 

planners prioritise sustainable and public transport schemes, as well as 

economically essential services, over private car use.  The majority of the 

Committee, with the exception of the Conservative Group Members who 

oppose all additional road user charging, also wanted greater clarity on 

when road user charging might be implemented.  While reference to the 

potential long-term opportunities from road pricing has been included in 

the transport supporting paper for the draft Infrastructure Plan, the 

Committee is concerned about the lack of any specific timings for this 

measure.  The Transport Committee wanted to see details of the level of 

increase in congestion necessary to trigger a consideration of further road 

user charging.
24

  

The Transport Committee welcomes acknowledgement in the transport 

supporting paper for the draft Infrastructure Plan that a major challenge 

will be reducing levels of car ownership and usage while maintaining good 

access for people to jobs, services and opportunities across London. It 

notes the supporting paper highlights that if car ownership remains the 

same as today, then the projected growth in population to 2050 would 

result in nearly one million additional cars in London, requiring space for 

parking equivalent to Richmond Park.  The Committee supports the 

position set out in the supporting paper that there may be opportunities 

(and imperatives) to promote sustainable travel patterns as areas across 

the city change and densify, providing scope for significant increases in 

walking and cycling relative to population growth.  

Page 69



  

 

The Transport Committee thinks walking and cycling could play a 

significant role in reducing car ownership and thus traffic congestion.  

However, for this to happen, there may need to be a step change in the 

current proposals, especially for walking schemes.  The Committee heard 

that the draft Infrastructure Plan is lacking visionary, transformative 

proposals for pedestrians that may result in many more journeys being 

made by foot.  The proposed expenditure of £2-4 billion on a 

comprehensive network of high quality cycle and pedestrian routes is 

small in comparison to the proposal to spend £15-25 billion on a new 

orbital road tunnel.  While the Committee welcomes the proposal for 

more investment in cycling, it wants to see exploration of such options as 

match funding in order to further increase investment and help achieve 

even more significant growth in cycling.  It would also welcome the 

development of more than 200 kilometres of new Dutch-style cycle 

routes by 2050.  The Committee considers providing more segregated 

cycling space to be key infrastructure, and we also want more investment 

in cycling in outer London boroughs.  Alongside this focus on cycling, 

there should be more investment in pedestrian infrastructure. 

Question 14: What do you think of the vision for increasing step-free 

access on public transport?   

The final Infrastructure Plan should set out a vision to make 100 per cent 

of journeys on the Tube and rail network step-free by 2050 and include 

more details of the full range of measures that will be taken to improve 

accessibility at Tube and rail stations.  

The Transport Committee is disappointed that the draft Infrastructure 

Plan does not have the ambition to make 100 per cent of journeys on the 

rail and Tube network step-free by 2050.  It would welcome clarity on 

how the stated vision – to make 40 per cent of these journeys step-free 

by around 2040 and around two-thirds by 2050 – could be developed to 

ensure all journeys are step-free. 

Following the recent announcement of a £75 million fund to speed up the 

delivery of step-free access at some stations, the Transport Committee 

now wants to see enhanced plans for improving accessibility across the 

transport network by 2050.  It notes that the £75 million fund will be used 

to match contributions from local authorities and property developers for 

improvements to step-free access at a number of priority locations.  It 

therefore welcomes details of the scope for further match funding in 

future to deliver more improvements.  The Committee heard that there 

should be no excuses from transport operators for the lack of step-free 

access and that to realise additional improvements will require more 

Page 70



  

 

innovation from them and possibly more acceptance of incremental 

changes in accessibility.  In the Committee’s past work, it stressed the 

importance of installing lifts at more rail and Tube stations but has also 

promoted other changes to enhance accessibility.  For example, following 

the 2012 Games, the Transport Committee found accessibility could be 

improved through the installation of more platform humps at Tube 

stations.  

General transport related comments on the draft 
Infrastructure Plan 2050 
 

Overall the Transport Committee supports the publication of the draft 

Infrastructure Plan 2050 as follow up to the Mayor’s 2020 Vision.  When it 

explored the 2020 Vision document at a meeting on 3 September 2013, it 

heard concerns that it lacked credibility because it did not provide 

sufficient detail about the implementation and financing of the proposed 

projects.  The Infrastructure Plan represents an opportunity to address 

these gaps.   

However, the Committee is concerned that the draft Infrastructure Plan 

does not fully address some important transport issues and contains 

some contradictions.  In particular, it is concerned about some of the 

assumptions underpinning the Infrastructure Plan and the lack of details 

on funding sources for the proposed transport schemes.  

The assumption that more radial transport links are needed in London 

The final Infrastructure Plan 2050 should include more details on 

transport schemes that will develop outer London town centres as well as 

the Central Activity Zone to provide for more polycentric employment 

and population growth in London. 

The Transport Committee is disappointed that the draft Infrastructure 

Plan is so heavily focused on developing more radial transport links.  

While it notes that these proposed links are to support the growth of 

London’s Central Activity Zone (CAZ) because it is considered more 

economically productive than other parts of London, high-capacity radial 

transport links can be costly and difficult to build.  Moreover, as it has 

already seen in London, radial transport links can often become 

overcrowded and congested very quickly as more and more people seek 

to travel from outer London to the centre.   

The Transport Committee considers there may be scope for greater 

choice in how to grow London in future and to use transport to help 

Page 71



  

 

shape this growth.  It should be possible to plan new transport schemes 

that can generate and support more employment opportunities outside 

of the CAZ, and can influence population growth elsewhere in the capital.  

The Committee heard that by having good all-round transport links to 

other economic centres in the capital, such as Croydon, the attractiveness 

of these areas increases. It wants to see more focus on developing orbital 

transport links to promote the growth of London’s outer town centres.  

The assumption of a new four-runway hub airport in the Thames 

Estuary 

The final Infrastructure Plan 2050 should take account of the Airports 

Commission decision not to consider the proposal for a new four-runway 

airport in the Thames Estuary and make clear how this changes the 

assumptions within the Plan. 

The Transport Committee notes that the Airports Commission has not 

short-listed a new four-runway hub airport in the Thames Estuary as an 

option for further consideration yet the draft Infrastructure Plan is based 

on the assumption that this new airport will be built by 2029.  The 

Transport Committee is also concerned that in focusing so much on the 

proposal for a new airport in the Thames Estuary, the draft Infrastructure 

Plan contains few proposals for improving surface public transport access 

at London’s existing airports. The final Infrastructure Plan should take 

account of the current work of the Airports Commission and, in so doing, 

include proposals for improvements to surface public transport access at 

London’s existing airports.    

The lack of funding for the transport proposals within the draft 

Infrastructure Plan 2050 

The final Infrastructure Plan 2050 should make clear how the proposed 

doubling of annual capital expenditure on transport by 2021 will be 

funded. 

The Transport Committee notes that to deliver the transport proposals 

within the draft Infrastructure Plan will require a doubling in annual 

capital expenditure on transport by 2021.  Given this is just seven years 

away, it is concerned at the lack of specific details for realising this 

increase in expenditure.  While the draft Infrastructure Plan and 

accompanying documents set out possible ways to raise funding, many of 

these mechanisms are not certain and thus not quick to implement.  

Moreover, in the case of any devolution of tax raising powers, this may be 

accompanied by corresponding reductions in government grant and thus, 

in the short term at least, be fiscally neutral and do little to help close the 

Page 72



  

 

funding gap.  Over the longer term, however, the Transport Committee 

notes the scope for fiscal devolution to lead to greater levels of funding as 

London’s tax base grows and there is opportunity to determine tax rates 

locally.  

Green infrastructure 
 

Question 15: Are there strategic green infrastructure objectives that 

should be prioritised?   If so, are there any specific initiatives needed?   

We would agree that it is important for Londoners to have access to high-

quality green spaces even as the city increases in density, and that green 

spaces offer a range of additional benefits, including mitigating flood risk, 

improving air quality, cooling the urban environment and enhancing 

biodiversity and ecological resilience. 

The Environment Committee’s past work on flooding identified that 

exceptionally heavy downpour over London as a major risk, with likely 

loss of life and property damage in the order of tens of billions.  Air 

pollution is responsible for thousands of additional deaths in London 

annually, and heatwaves can kill hundreds of vulnerable people.  

Therefore reducing water runoff, air pollution and the urban heat island 

are essential goals in designing the urban environment.  As well as in 

‘green spaces’, planting and unpaved surfaces can be integrated into new 

and existing developments at all scales and this approach should inform 

plans for all infrastructure.   

The Infrastructure Plan also needs to seriously consider the role of 

Sustainable Urban Drainage.  The Planning Committee heard that Thames 

Water’s next asset management programme period “does not seem to 

put much weight on it.  Sustainable drainage systems are only mentioned 

three times in its new business plan…  I do not know if it is geared up to 

be fast enough to be able to deliver the aspirations necessarily in the 

draft Infrastructure Plan.”
25

   

It is clear that green infrastructure needs to be considered at the start of 

any development project and that it should be incorporated into the 

public realm with the objective of performing a number of functions that 

support development sustainably.  The Olympic Village is an excellent 

example of this.
26 

 In water service and design of the Village, the water 

companies were engaged early and were encouraged to support effective 

water management and drainage functions.
27

 

Page 73



  

 

We would encourage the Mayor to consider the concepts being explored 

in Imperial College’s Blue-Green Dream project.  This is about combining 

the management of water and green spaces in urban environments to 

better complement each other, reducing the need for more expensive 

grey infrastructure, while improving local environmental conditions and 

better preparing towns and cities to adapt to the challenges of climate 

change.
28

 

Question 16: What are the key issues that the proposed Green 

Infrastructure Task Force need to consider?   

A 2013 survey carried out by the Environment Committee (targeted at 

Londoners involved in nature and wildlife conservation, ‘Friends of parks’ 

groups, conservation volunteers and local societies) highlighted the 

strong interest in this issue and the high value placed on London’s green 

areas and wildlife habitats.  Some were concerned that biodiversity could 

be marginalised, or suffer as a result of green infrastructure policies 

aimed at other functions.  The Environment Committee welcomes the 

Mayor’s plans for a Green Infrastructure Task Force.  The Task Force 

should give biodiversity sufficient weight among the benefits of green 

infrastructure.  

In response to the Environment Committee’s work, the Mayor agreed to 

prepare and publish a supplement to his outdated Biodiversity Strategy, 

in partnership with the organisations that participated in the Committee’s 

investigation.  Publication for the supplement is expected in spring and 

we recommend that the contents be closely considered by the Task 

Force. 

Digital 
 

Question 17: What else can we do to ensure we achieve universal digital 

connectivity?   

We welcome the Infrastructure Plan’s emphasis on improving digital 

infrastructure and broadly support the measures outlined in the 

Infrastructure Plan to enhance digital connectivity, however we would 

like to see a number of changes reflecting the priority and urgency that 

the Mayor must place on upgrading digital connectivity as London’s 

essential fourth utility.  

The Regeneration Committee support the Infrastructure Plan’s emphasis 

on enhancing digital connectivity (rather than a narrow focus on 

broadband), given the fast-moving nature of connectivity technology 

which will require London to facilitate investment in a range of modes.  

Page 74



  

 

As the Committee highlighted in its letter to the Mayor in March,
29

 

improving a range of digital connectivity modes is particularly key for 

London’s small and medium enterprises. 

The Regeneration Committee backs the Mayor’s decision to establish a 

Connectivity Advisory Group to work with the London Infrastructure 

Delivery Board (LIDB).   It thinks that the Mayor’s plans for the Group 

could be strengthened by establishing a timetable for the city-wide 

mapping exercise proposed in the Plan.  Given the urgency of London’s 

need for better connectivity, the Committee suggests that the Advisory 

Group should be established in early 2015 and complete the mapping 

exercise by the end of December 2015.   

Furthermore, the Regeneration Committee would encourage the Mayor 

to involve Ofcom as a key stakeholder in the Connectivity Advisory Group. 

As set out in the Committee’s letter to the Mayor in March, the Mayor 

should invite the regulator to examine the incentives facing suppliers, and 

to investigate the scope for addressing any factors which disincentivise 

private investment.   

Equally, the Regeneration Committee would like to see the Mayor 

establish a lead digital champion to implement the recommendations of 

the Connectivity Advisory Group.  Currently, it is unclear who is 

responsible for spearheading improved digital connectivity.  The 

Infrastructure Plan should commit the Mayor to nominate a Mayoral lead 

to provide accountability for delivering the step change in digital 

connectivity that London needs. 

At the Examination in Public of the London Plan the Assembly argued that 

broadband infrastructure at the development construction phase can no 

longer be considered desirable, but it is an essential utility alongside 

water, electricity, and gas.  It further argued that the London Plan is not 

sufficiently robust to ensure this is a requirement.
30

  The Infrastructure 

Plan needs to review what can be done to encourage connectivity to all 

homes and businesses in London.
31

 

The digital discussion tends to be around broadband capacity and mobile 

capacity, focused on the elements and the provision of that.  One 

additional aspect that is worth highlighting in the Infrastructure Plan is 

the opportunity that might arise by making the data provided by city 

management investments more available.  The work Arup is doing in 

Christchurch, New Zealand, where it is developing what is called the 

‘Sensing City’ requires every private sector provider and every public 

Page 75



  

 

sector provider of infrastructure to invest in sensing equipment from 

which the data is shared and the city is then managed in a more efficient 

manner by overlapping all of that information and looking at how it 

relates.
32

 

The Infrastructure Plan needs to consider how greater sharing of 

information with small businesses across the city might be used to bolster 

the burgeoning tech industries that can both reduce the need for 

infrastructure and also make management of the city more effective. 

In the wider consideration of the contribution from ‘digital’ we do need 

to satisfy ourselves that we have adequately addressed the full range of 

likely scenarios London will be facing.  “It is about… are those 

assumptions being questioned, what are the what-if questions that are 

being asked?  It may not actually change things at all, but at least we have 

gone through the process of asking them.”
33

 

Long-term plans need to consider the potential role of emerging 

technology or ‘disruptive innovation’ as an essential part of scenario 

planning.  Disruptive innovation creates a new market by applying a 

different set of values, which ultimately, and unexpectedly, overtakes an 

existing market.  Examples of disruptive innovation, that are now 

essential to our lives, include: 

• E-mail that replaced postal mail because it can be sent from one place 

to another place in milliseconds, without using paper or spending 

money for stamps. 

• Light emitting diodes (LED) replacing light bulbs and have developed 

enough to be used for indoor lighting and street lights.   

• Digital photography replacing chemical photography –   memory cards 

and portable storage hold thousands of pictures that do not need 

developing.’ 

These technological developments add to the challenge of developing 

such long-term infrastructure plans.  The potential exists of embarking on 

major investment that might be obsolete or incapable of adaptation in 

the future.  There are many ‘known unknowns’ but we should not stop 

that from hampering our planning for the future. 

The Mayor’s Infrastructure should consider how emerging technologies 

might make providing services and support to future Londoners easier, 

more efficient or in some cases in a revolutionary way.  It should include a 

regular review of emerging technology as an essential part of the plan.  If 

Page 76



  

 

we do not build in consideration of the future we risk wasting a huge 

amount of capital on “stranded assets”.
34

 

We must avoid being locked-in to the wrong infrastructure by not being 

aware of the direction of future technology and peoples’ behaviour.  

“Building in obsolescence is what we have to avoid.”
35 

  

Question 18: Are you able to suggest examples of alternative ways of 

providing digital connectivity to local areas with poor or no broadband 

provision?   

We welcome the Mayor’s objective to prioritise digital connectivity in 

new developments, and in particular in Opportunity Areas.  Gathering 

evidence in January 2014, the Regeneration Committee heard that new 

developments often lack effective connectivity, largely because individual 

sites are not linked to arterial broadband infrastructure.  We strongly 

support the Mayor’s aim to charge the LIDB to explore how 

communications providers and developers can work together to prioritise 

digital connectivity at an early stage in planning Opportunity Areas. 

Energy 
 

Question 19L: Do you agree with our approach in stimulating locally 

produced energy?   If not, why?   

The Environment Committee agrees that producing energy more locally 

will have a significant role to play in carbon reduction and energy 

security. London has the potential for many types of energy generation 

including solar, combined heat and power and ground source. 

Evidence to the Environment Committee from the government 

Committee on Climate Change emphasised that to achieve the 80 per 

cent carbon reduction target, energy supply would have to be very largely 

de-carbonised by 2050 (especially if the aviation sector is to maintain its 

current emissions).  This would have implications for the optimal mix of 

new generation capacity, and for the future of domestic gas combustion.   

Evidence collected by the Environment Committee notes the lack of 

commercially viable co-operative or community-led projects for 

decentralised energy, and the need for mechanisms that could provide 

working capital to this sector.  An example would be Brixton Energy, a 

not-for-profit solar energy co-operative that also seeks to raise awareness 

about energy efficiency and fuel poverty. 

Page 77



  

 

The Planning Committee heard of the benefits that local energy networks 

have brought to the Olympic Park where system has been designed to 

grow extensively.  “The system designed in the Olympic Park is designed 

to grow and to deliver energy to up to around 12,000 new homes.  The 

likelihood is that that demand will never be met, but it does then give us 

additional capacity to extend the network into neighbourhoods adjacent 

to the Olympic Park, to promote development and to provide servicing of 

sites in some of the regeneration areas that sit outside the Olympic Park.  

Indeed, that foresight planned into the Olympics back in around about 

2006 is now being realised.  The legacy company is extending that 

network in collaboration with Cofely, the provider, into Hackney Wick and 

into Fish Island, adjacent areas to the energy centre.”
36

 

Moreover, the flexibility and the resilience built into the local energy 

network has improved the viability of adjacent sites because there is a 

certainty that developers can draw upon around a resilient energy supply 

and, more importantly, a resilient heat supply that is provided locally.
37

 

At its recent meetings, the Environment Committee heard that a lack of 

strategic focus on solar energy meant a lost opportunity to generate 

energy from new and existing roofs, on both domestic and industrial 

properties.  The Infrastructure Plan should seek to maximise solar energy 

use, particularly in cooperation with local communities and initiatives. 

We would strongly agree that there is a need to reduce energy demand.  

Demand reduction closes the energy gap as much as increased supply, 

but without losses in transmission and without further straining 

distribution infrastructure.  It also reduces household and business costs 

and reduces carbon emissions.  Increasing the energy efficiency of the 

building stock is an essential element of demand reduction.   

Question 20: What else should we consider to ensure London’s energy 

supply is affordable, sustainable and secure?   

A smart grid could in future help to spread peaks in demand and respond 

to variability in supply from different sources.  The Environment 

Committee’s report “Plugging the Energy Gap” discussed these issues.
38

  

Water 
 

Question 21: What else could help manage the expected deficit in water 

supply?   

The Environment Committee has examined water supply and demand in 

its report “Water Matters”.
39 

 The Environment Committee strongly 

Page 78



  

 

supported leakage reduction and water metering, and would broadly 

support the methods outlined in the Infrastructure Investment Plan for 

keeping water demand in line with availability.  

The Environment Committee has also strongly supported sustainable 

drainage and river restoration in a number of publications including “For 

a Rainy Day”,
40

 its report on flood risk.  As well as reducing the 

vulnerability of a city to heavy rainfall, these measures promote river 

water quality.  Rainwater harvesting within the urban environment also 

offers a source of relatively clean water to meet demand, which could be 

easier to use than waste water.   

We support strategic action on flood risk, based on catchment areas and 

involving all necessary partners.  These strategies should take into 

account the potential effects of climate change, using modelling and 

monitoring of trends in rainfall, its patterns and variability.  We would 

support calls for London to have a risk-based share of investment in flood 

prevention.   

Our comments on reducing demand, incentivising utilities, technological 

change and energy in the questions above are all relevant to managing 

the forecast water supply deficit. 

Waste 
 

Question 22: Do you think the name ‘circular economy’ is best to 

describe the approach or will it confuse consumers and businesses?   

Can you suggest other names?   

By 2050, the Mayor’s aim is that very little waste will require disposal, the 

economic benefits of which will include savings of up to £5 billion, a 

growing economic sector with new employment opportunities, reduced 

exposure to volatile global commodity prices and less toxic waste.  We 

support this objective.   

The Infrastructure Plan discusses how enabling this so-called ‘circular-

economy’ will require investment in around 40 new facilities, in addition 

to London’s existing capacity, for the reuse, repair and remanufacture of 

materials.  Questions have to be raised as to whether these new sites are 

really additional or include some of the already identified waste 

treatment sites. 

The Planning Committee heard, however, that the concept of a ‘circular 

economy’ should be considered in a far broader framework and one that 

Page 79



  

 

should encompass replacing the horizontal flow of resources with more 

vertical elements.  “It is very important and it is broader than just 

recycling”.
41 

 Moreover, the Infrastructure Plan needs to consider the 

circular economy with a number of other fundamental economic changes, 

such as the shift to more localised and collective consumption.
42

 

Question 24: How can we incentive businesses and households to reuse 

and recycle more?   

In line with national and European targets, and considering that, London’s 

landfill capacity is projected to be exhausted by 2021, the Mayor should 

aim for ‘zero waste’ by 2050 and focus on investing in recycling and 

reprocessing facilities. 

We agree that waste authorities will need to introduce more consistent 

collection and recycling to achieve this goal, and want to highlight the 

importance of separate collection streams, including food and other 

organic waste.  In addition to the cost, landfilling biodegradable waste, of 

which food comprises a large proportion, is especially harmful to the 

environment because of methane and carbon dioxide emissions. London 

needs better food waste and other recycling services, particularly in its 

high density housing.  This is particularly important in light of Defra’s 

decision to reduce support for local authorities on improving waste 

services and to scale back work on developing anaerobic digestion plants 

to handle food waste. 

The Environment Committee will publish the results of its investigation 

into the management of domestic food waste in London later in the year 

and the Mayor should ensure the Infrastructure Plan reflects its findings. 

According to a study by Imperial College London, London needs additional 

treatment plants to process approximately one million tonnes of food and 

green waste infrastructure.   SITA UK, a recycling and waste management 

company, estimates that for every one million tonnes of waste diverted 

from landfill, 10 to 20 new treatment facilities would have to be built. 

While there would appear to be significant opportunity for development, 

apart from the planned ReFood plant in the London SIP, and the existing 

undeveloped but consented SITA UK anaerobic digestion proposal in 

Sutton, there are no other well developed anaerobic digestion proposals 

within London.   

Page 80



  

 

In order to ensure that the required number of waste treatment facilities 

are delivered – especially in relation to organic and biodegradable waste 

– the Infrastructure Plan needs to address the following issues: 

• High land values in London, compared with those outside its borders, 

may incentivise the development of treatment facilities near but not 

within the capital; 

• Markets for digestate and compost are more limited, compared with 

rural areas, or need to take into account the geographic distance to 

end users; and, 

• Difficulties in securing suitable locations for anaerobic digestion plants. 

Recent meetings held by the Assembly’s Environment Committee heard 

that waste treatment providers often opt to build new facilities outside 

London to avoid such issues and to be nearer potential end users of 

products such as compost or energy.  This is a serious consideration in 

light of the Mayor’s aim to manage much of London’s waste within 

London. 

The Mayor expects incineration to play a decreasing role in the 

management of London's waste as recycling performance increases and 

emerging more efficient thermal technologies including anaerobic 

digestion and gasification come to market.
43

  In order to achieve this, the 

Plan should offer more encouragement for infrastructure to support 

green energy sources and additional incentives to businesses and 

households to reuse and recycle more.   

We welcome the Mayor’s approach towards a ‘circular economy’ and 

would hope to see a decreasing emphasis on energy from waste from 

incineration, as this is incompatible with a future based on reuse and 

resource efficiency, the secondary materials economy and materials 

innovation. 

Additional comments 
 

Time frame 

We appreciate that there is a debate about the time frame covered by 

the plan.  Our view is that the period to 2050 would be a good end point, 

but the precise end date of the plan is relatively unimportant.  Different 

pieces of infrastructure have different life cycles.  Different providers of 

infrastructure have variable planning cycles, and new pieces of 

infrastructure will be required to support major new developments as 

they are built.   

Page 81



  

 

The plan therefore must set out a clear sense of direction and must be 

specific about the phasing of the different pieces of infrastructure needed 

to support growth. 

Establishing the evidence base 

At the Planning Committee in November 2013 we heard the case for new 

infrastructure to be based on a sound and widely accepted evidence 

base.
44 

  The evidence needs to establish the state of London’s 

infrastructure assets, and the demands that growth will place on the 

system.  This evidence is needed to give political decision makers the 

awareness of the implications of either delaying investment or, worse, 

doing nothing.   

A decentralised and modular London 

In planning for the future we should not neglect to remember the past 

and the context for how London is today.  London remains a city of 

villages, and there must be merit in considering how this modular nature 

– one world city made up of thousands of communities – might be used 

as a basis for infrastructure provision in the future. 

We need to think very hard and long about what does need to be done 

centrally and what can be done locally.   This is very important and it is 

positive that the GLA is addressing, albeit at an early stage, looking at the 

future in terms of scenarios that might lead to more decentralised 

systems. 

Linking to the London Plan 

The long-term Infrastructure Plan should function as an overview and 

baseline of strategic infrastructure requirements, one that is regularly 

reviewed over time in light of actual change and demand for supporting 

services.   

However, it is vital that the infrastructure plan is closely integrated with 

the London Plan.  Once the magnitude of growth is quantified, the 

location of this growth is an important factor in understanding the scale 

and way infrastructure can be planned and provided.  

The London Plan must be a key consideration in the development of the 

infrastructure plan as it has the benefits of being based on evidence, 

proven policy robustness in terms of sustainability and also is regularly 

subject to public comment and revision.  All of these characteristics 

should be reflected in the infrastructure plan and so the Infrastructure 

Plan should be spatially driven as well as investment focussed. 

Page 82



  

 

Forging and maintaining a political consensus 

Infrastructure planning and funding is high risk and long term.  It 

necessarily is hostage to changes in political direction over time.  But 

somebody has to make a decision and building an enduring political 

consensus in London for what London needs in terms of infrastructure is 

the first challenge.  The Assembly has already given indications that it 

recognises this and is willing to tackle such a challenge.
45

 

On production of the first draft of the Plan, we would urge the Mayor to 

use this to start generating a political consensus that is capable of 

enduring across the next ten or so Mayoral terms that it will take to 

implement his plan.   

Engaging London’s existing population 

The Infrastructure Plan obviously looks forward in how to support a 

growing London population, but it is vital that the Infrastructure Plan also 

engages the existing population and persuades them that the Plan will 

meet their needs too.  The Planning Committee heard suggestions that 

one of the biggest single issues regarding new infrastructure investment 

is the need for local public support.   

“If you are going to sell this to the population of London, it needs to 

demonstrate that there is a benefit to the population of London that 

comes from it, not just a benefit to the new population of London that 

might come in the future, if you like.  There are tremendous benefits from 

what it describes, but they are not necessarily articulated in the strongest 

fashion in the way in which it is presented.  There is a narrative that is 

required in order for it to be more positively publicly received perhaps.”
46

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



  

 

Endnotes 

  

 

                                                                 
1
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/London%20Assembly%20Report%20TfL%

20Sponsorship%20Policy%20170212.pdf 

2
 Lord Andrew Adonis, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

3
 http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s39757/Appendix%201%20-

%20Submissions%20to%20Examination%20in%20Public.pdf 

4
 p183 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/The%20cost%20of%20London%27s%20l

ong-term%20infrastructure%20by%20Arup.pdf  

5
 Lord Adonis, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

6
 The Armitt Review: An independent review of long term infrastructure planning, 

November 2013 http://www.armittreview.org/ 

7
 World class infrastructure for a world city, London First, November 2010 

http://londonfirst.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2012/09/London_First_Infrastructure_Commission_report_-

_EMBARGOED.pdf 

8
 Jeremy Skinner, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

9
 Michael Henderson, Associate Director – Sustainability, AECOM, Planning Committee 

14 October 2014 

10
 Jerome Frost, Arup, Planning Committee, 14 October 2014 

11
 London Infrastructure Plan 2050 page 26 

12
 For example the current Communities and Local Government select committee inquiry 

on fiscal devolution to cities and city regions which will examine whether and how fiscal 

and financial powers could be devolved to London and English cities 

13
 Draft Further Alterations to the London Plan, January 2014 Annex 1 

14
 http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/3_LondonAssembly_Session6.pdf 

15
 Michael Henderson, Associate Director – Sustainability, AECOM, Planning Committee 

14 October 2014 

16
 Noel Farrer, President, Landscape Institute, Planning Committee, 14 October 2014 

17
 Jerome Frost, Arup, Planning Committee, 14 October 2014 

18
 See transcript of Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=258 

19
 James Goodman, Director, Futures, Forum for the Future, Planning Committee, 28 

November 2013 

Page 84



  

 

                                                                                                                                                                
20

 Michael Henderson, Associate Director – Sustainability, AECOM, Planning Committee 

14 October 2014 

21
 Dominic Hogg, Chairman, Eunomia Research & Consulting, Planning Committee 14 

October 2014 

22
 Michael Henderson, Associate Director – Sustainability, AECOM, Planning Committee 

14 October 2014 

23
 Jerome Frost, Arup, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

24
 The Conservative Group dissented from this conclusion and recommendation in the 

Future of Road Congestion report (June 2010) 

25
 Michael Henderson, Associate Director – Sustainability, AECOM, Planning Committee 

14 October 2014 

26
 Jerome Frost, Arup, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

27
 Michael Henderson, Associate Director – Sustainability, AECOM, Planning Committee 

14 October 2014 

28
 Cedo Maksimovic, Imperial College London, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

29
 Letter from the Regeneration Committee to the Mayor, 4 March 2014 

30
 http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/3_LondonAssembly_Session6.pdf 

31
 The City of London Corporation also argued that the Mayor’s London Plan should 

address the need for improved connectivity for all businesses, including small 

businesses and tech/info start-ups, as the business models of the major broadband 

suppliers are often unaffordable for SMEs. 

32
 Jerome Frost, Arup, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

33
 James Goodman, Director, Futures, Forum for the Future, Planning Committee, 28 

November 2013 

34
 James Goodman, Director, Futures, Forum for the Future, Planning Committee, 28 

November 2013 

35
 Finlay Kelly, Future Cities Catapult, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

36
 Jerome Frost, Arup, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

37
 Ibid 

38
 http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Plugging%20the%20Energy%20Gap.pdf 

39
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Water%20management%20report%20pd

f.pdf 

40
 http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/For%20a%20Rainy%20Day%20-

Draft%207%20Final.pdf 

41
 Cedo Maksimovic, Imperial College London, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

42
 Michael Henderson, Associate Director – Sustainability, AECOM, Planning Committee 

14 October 2014 

43
 MQT 11 September 2013 Reference: Question 2013/3111  

44
 Sir John Armitt, Planning Committee, 28 November 2013 

Page 85



  

 

                                                                                                                                                                
45

 GLA Oversight Committee, 10 September 2013 

46
 Jerome Frost, Arup, Planning Committee 14 October 2014 

Page 86



  

 

Orders and translations 

How to order 

For further information on this report or to order a copy, please contact 

Paul Watling, Scrutiny Manager, on 0207 983 4393 or email: 

paul.watling@london.gov.uk 

See it for free on our website 

You can also view a copy of the report on the GLA website: 

http://www.london.gov.uk/assembly/reports 

Large print, braille or translations 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 

braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, 

then please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 

assembly.translations@london.gov.uk. 

Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 

Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 

Greek 

 

Urdu 

 

Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 

Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 

Page 87



  

 

 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

More London 

London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 

Minicom 020 7983 4458 

ISBN 978 1 84781 163 9 

www.london.gov.uk 

This publication is printed on recycled paper Page 88



 

                                                                  

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk

 

Subject:�Planning

2014/15�


Report
to:
 Planning
Committee



Report
of:

Executive
Director


This
report
will
be
considered

��




1.
 Summary



�
1.1 This�report�sets�out�the�Committee’s





2.
 Recommendations�


2.1 That
the
Committee
agrees
its


in
this
report.


2.2 That
the
Committee
agrees
that

2015
will
focus
on
issues
surrounding
the
long

growth
on
brownfield
land
within
London’s
boundaries,
or
whether
green

be
considered
as
a
location
for
future
development.







3.
 Background

�

3.1� The�Committee�receives�a�report�monitoring�the�progress�of�its�work�programme�at�each�meeting.

�

3.2 The�Planning�Committee’s�remaining�

• 22�January�2015�

• 18�March�2015��

�

3.3 At�the�meeting�of�the�former�Business�Management�and�Administration�Committee�(predecessor�of�

the�GLA�Oversight�Committee)�held�on�9�February�2005,�it�was�agreed�that,�if�during�the�year�a�

committee�modified�its�approved�work�programm

topical�events,�and�an�ad�hoc�extra�meeting�was�called�for,�that�would�be�permitted�if�the�Members�

of�the�committee�concerned�agreed;�if�two�or�more�Members�of�that�committee�did�not�agree�to�a�

                                                                     

City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


Planning
Committee
Work
Programme


Committee



Executive
Director
of
Secretariat
 Date:
1



This
report
will
be
considered
in
public


Committee’s�work�programme�for�the�remainder�of�

es
its
work
programme
for
the
remainder
of




agrees
that
the
main
agenda
item
for
its
next
meeting
on


issues
surrounding
the
long-term
options
for
accommodating
future


growth
on
brownfield
land
within
London’s
boundaries,
or
whether
green

as
a
location
for
future
development.




The�Committee�receives�a�report�monitoring�the�progress�of�its�work�programme�at�each�meeting.

remaining�scheduled�dates�for�the�year�2014/15

�

At�the�meeting�of�the�former�Business�Management�and�Administration�Committee�(predecessor�of�

the�GLA�Oversight�Committee)�held�on�9�February�2005,�it�was�agreed�that,�if�during�the�year�a�

committee�modified�its�approved�work�programme�and/or�number�of�meetings�in�response�to�

topical�events,�and�an�ad�hoc�extra�meeting�was�called�for,�that�would�be�permitted�if�the�Members�

of�the�committee�concerned�agreed;�if�two�or�more�Members�of�that�committee�did�not�agree�to�a�

 

Committee
Work
Programme


18
November
2014�

�2014/15.�

the
remainder
of
2014/15,
as
set
out


the
main
agenda
item
for
its
next
meeting
on
22
January


term
options
for
accommodating
future


growth
on
brownfield
land
within
London’s
boundaries,
or
whether
greenfield
sites
should


The�Committee�receives�a�report�monitoring�the�progress�of�its�work�programme�at�each�meeting.�

5�are�as�follows:�

At�the�meeting�of�the�former�Business�Management�and�Administration�Committee�(predecessor�of�

the�GLA�Oversight�Committee)�held�on�9�February�2005,�it�was�agreed�that,�if�during�the�year�a�

e�and/or�number�of�meetings�in�response�to�

topical�events,�and�an�ad�hoc�extra�meeting�was�called�for,�that�would�be�permitted�if�the�Members�

of�the�committee�concerned�agreed;�if�two�or�more�Members�of�that�committee�did�not�agree�to�a�

Agenda Item 5

Page 89



        

proposal�for�an�extra�meeting,�the�matter�would�be�referred�to�the�GLA�Oversight�Committee�for�

determination.1�

�

�

4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�


Planning
Committee
meeting
22
January
2015
–
Accommodating
London’s
future
growth


–
what
are
the
options
for
brownfield
or
greenfield
development?�

4.1 Early�in�2015�London�will�surpass�its�previous�1939�population�peak�of�8.6�million.��The�GLA�

Intelligence�Unit�has�produced�projections�for�London’s�population�that�suggest�that�between�2011�

and�2050,�overall�population�growth�in�London�is�projected�at�3.1�million�or�37�per�cent.��This�puts�

London’s�population�at�around�11.27�million�by�2050.�

�

4.2 The�Mayor’s�existing�approach�to�the�spatial�development�of�London�is�clear.��“Growth�and�change�

in�London�will�be�managed�in�order�to�realise�the�Mayor’s�vision�for�London’s�sustainable�

development”�and�that�“growth�will�be�supported�and�managed�across�all�parts�of�London�to�ensure�

it�takes�place�within�the�current�boundaries�of�Greater�London�without:�encroaching�on�the�Green�

Belt,�or�on�London's�protected�open�spaces,�or�having�unacceptable�impacts�on�the�environment.”2�

�

4.3 The�Mayor’s�draft�Infrastructure�Plan�confirms�this�approach�–�but�only�up�until�2025.��It�sets�out�

how�the�Mayor�will�encourage�development�in�Opportunity�Areas�and�Intensification�Areas,�

confirming�his�determination�to�retain�London’s�current�Green�Belt�boundaries�for�the�foreseeable�

future,�given�the�large�reservoir�of�brownfield�land�within�the�capital�that�will�accommodate�growth�

at�least�until�2025.��It�discusses�scenarios�that�assist�in�thinking�about�where,�within�and�beyond�the�

capital�further�growth�could�occur,�as�a�precursor�to�the�next�full�revision�of�the�London�Plan�after�

2016.�

�

4.4 It�is�recommended�that�Members�use�the�next�meeting�of�the�Planning�Committee,�on�22�January�

2015,�to�issues�surrounding�the�long-term�options�for�accommodating�future�growth�on�brownfield�

land�within�London's�boundaries,�or�whether�greenfield�sites�should�be�considered�as�locations�for�

future�development.�

�

4.5 Members�may�wish�to�discuss�a�number�of�themes,�for�example:�

• What�is�the�likely�land�use�requirement�for�all�new�homes,�jobs�and�supporting�infrastructure�in�

the�medium�term�and�the�period�after�2025?�

• What�is�London’s�brownfield�land�capacity�and�how�can�this�be�maximised�by�unlocking�sites�

that�are�currently�unviable�for�development?�

• How�might�greenfield�sites,�and�other�open�space�in�London,�be�developed�sustainably�to�meet�

the�demand�for�housing?�

• What�are�the�relative�advantages�and�disadvantages�of�pursuing�these�options?�

• Are�there�any�other�options�that�would�negate�the�need�to�build�on�London’s�green�and�open�

spaces?�

�

�

                                                 
1�http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s36184/Committee%20Timetable%202014-15.pdf�
2
 London�Plan�Policy�1.1�–�Delivering�the�strategic�vision�and�objectives�for�London 

Page 90



        

Future
workprogramme
items


4.6 At�the�beginning�of�the�Assembly�Year,�Members�suggested�a�number�of�topics�as�work�programme�

items.��This�list�has�been�supplemented�by�additional�suggested�topics�as�the�year�has�progressed.�

The�items�that�now�form�the�long�list�of�potential�projects�include:�

• GLA�land�and�property�assets;�

• London’s�mixed�and�balanced�communities;�

• Tall�buildings�and�London’s�skyline;�

• Estate�regeneration;�and�

• Social�infrastructure�provision.�

�


 Recently
completed
work�

4.7 A�report�elsewhere�on�this�agenda�detail�the�Committee’s�recently�completed�work�on�the�

consultation�on�the�London�Infrastructure�Plan�2050.�






5.
 Legal
Implications




5.1 The�Committee�has�the�power�to�do�what�is�recommended�in�this�report.�






6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 There�are�no�direct�financial�implications�to�the�GLA�arising�from�this�report.�

�

�

List
of
appendices
to
this
report:
none


�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None�

�

Contact�Officer:� Paul�Watling,�Scrutiny�Manager�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4393�

Email:� scrutiny@london.gov.uk�

�

�
�

Page 91



Page 92

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                  

�
City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk

 





Subject:�The
Mayor’s

Decisions�
Report
to:
 Planning
Committee



Report
of:

Executive
Director
of
Secretariat


This
report
will
be
considered

�




1.
 Summary
�


1.1������This�report�sets�out�background�information�for�a�discussion�with

invited�experts.��The�meeting�will�review�the�policy�considerations�behind�the�Mayor’s�decision�to�

take�over�strategic�planning�applications�and�whether�the�process�is�working�as�envisaged�and�set�

out�in�the�GLA�Act�2007.�

�

�

2.
 Recommendation



2.1 That
the
Committee
notes
the
report
as
background
to
hearing
from,
and
putting


questions
to,
a
number
of
invited
experts
on
the


planning
decisions
powers







3.
 Background


�

3.1� Boroughs�must�consult�the�Mayor�on�all�planning�applications�that�are�of�potential�strategic�

importance�to�London�(applications�defined�as�strategic�are�set�out�in�

�

3.2� Having�received�the�Mayor’s�comments,�the�borough�must�then�resolve�to�grant�or�refuse�permission�

and�inform�the�Mayor�of�the�borough’s�intended�decision.��The�Mayor�then�has�14�days�to�decide�to�

either�direct�the�borough�to�refuse�the�applicati

Authority�or�take�no�further�action�(and�let�the�borough’s�decision�stand).

�

3.3� In�advance�of�the�2007�GLA�Act,�

for�the�power�to�direct�approva

applications�that�can�help�to�implement�strategic�planning�policies�can�be�approved.��Equally,�it�

allows�the�Mayor�to�determine�controversial�strategic�applications�where�boroughs�are�reluctan

do�so,�or�where�the�proposals�are�complex,�e.g.�affecting�more�than�one�borough.

�

                                                                     

City�Hall,�The�Queen’s�Walk,�London�SE1�2AA�
Enquiries:
020
7983
4100
minicom:
020
7983
4458
www.london.gov.uk


The
Mayor’s
Strategic
Planning


Planning
Committee



Executive
Director
of
Secretariat� Date:
1

This
report
will
be
considered
in
public�

This�report�sets�out�background�information�for�a�discussion�with�the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Planning�and

.��The�meeting�will�review�the�policy�considerations�behind�the�Mayor’s�decision�to�

planning�applications�and�whether�the�process�is�working�as�envisaged�and�set�

That
the
Committee
notes
the
report
as
background
to
hearing
from,
and
putting


of
invited
experts
on
the
exercise
of
the
Mayor’s
strategic


planning
decisions
powers.


Boroughs�must�consult�the�Mayor�on�all�planning�applications�that�are�of�potential�strategic�

importance�to�London�(applications�defined�as�strategic�are�set�out�in�Appendix


Having�received�the�Mayor’s�comments,�the�borough�must�then�resolve�to�grant�or�refuse�permission�

and�inform�the�Mayor�of�the�borough’s�intended�decision.��The�Mayor�then�has�14�days�to�decide�to�

either�direct�the�borough�to�refuse�the�application;�direct�that�he�is�to�act�as�the�Local�Planning�

Authority�or�take�no�further�action�(and�let�the�borough’s�decision�stand).�

In�advance�of�the�2007�GLA�Act,�the�then�Mayor�of�London,�Ken�Livingstone�lobbied�Government�

for�the�power�to�direct�approval�(as�well�as�refusal).��This�power�enables�the�Mayor�to�ensure�

applications�that�can�help�to�implement�strategic�planning�policies�can�be�approved.��Equally,�it�

allows�the�Mayor�to�determine�controversial�strategic�applications�where�boroughs�are�reluctan

do�so,�or�where�the�proposals�are�complex,�e.g.�affecting�more�than�one�borough.

 

lanning


18
November
2014


the�Deputy�Mayor�for�Planning�and�

.��The�meeting�will�review�the�policy�considerations�behind�the�Mayor’s�decision�to�

planning�applications�and�whether�the�process�is�working�as�envisaged�and�set�

That
the
Committee
notes
the
report
as
background
to
hearing
from,
and
putting


exercise
of
the
Mayor’s
strategic


Boroughs�must�consult�the�Mayor�on�all�planning�applications�that�are�of�potential�strategic�

Appendix
1).���

Having�received�the�Mayor’s�comments,�the�borough�must�then�resolve�to�grant�or�refuse�permission�

and�inform�the�Mayor�of�the�borough’s�intended�decision.��The�Mayor�then�has�14�days�to�decide�to�

on;�direct�that�he�is�to�act�as�the�Local�Planning�

�

Livingstone�lobbied�Government�

l�(as�well�as�refusal).��This�power�enables�the�Mayor�to�ensure�

applications�that�can�help�to�implement�strategic�planning�policies�can�be�approved.��Equally,�it�

allows�the�Mayor�to�determine�controversial�strategic�applications�where�boroughs�are�reluctant�to�

do�so,�or�where�the�proposals�are�complex,�e.g.�affecting�more�than�one�borough.�

Agenda Item 6

Page 93



        

3.4� Since�2009,�the�Mayor�has�taken�over�and�decided�eleven�applications�(these�are�set�out�in�

Appendix
2).���

�

�

4.
 Issues
for
Consideration�

�

The
current
debate



4.1� In�his�election�manifestos�in�2008�and�2012�the�Mayor�promised�“an�end�to�City�Hall�diktats”�and�a�

more�cooperative�approach�to�relations�with�London�boroughs.��

�

4.2� The�Mayor’s�use�of�his�powers�to�determine�planning�application�of�strategic�importance�has�been�

increasing�in�the�past�year;�he�has�decided�to�make�decisions�on�five�schemes,�having�previously�

used�the�call-in�power�only�five�times�in�the�previous�five�years.���

�

4.3� Some�Assembly�Members�have�expressed�concern�that�“the�recent�acceleration�in�the�number�and�

speed�with�which�the�Mayor�is�taking�over�planning�decisions�from�boroughs�totally�undermines�

those�pledges�and�puts�developers�and�investors�before�local�democracy.”1�

�

4.4� In�March�2014�the�Assembly�called�on�the�Mayor�to�set�out�clear�criteria�to�define�under�what�

circumstances�he�will�use�his�power�to�call-in�planning�applications�to�City�Hall.��A�motion�(agreed�by�

16�votes�for�to�5�against)�said�that�local�democracy�is�being�threatened�by�the�frequent�use�of�the�

call-in�power,�ignoring�local�concerns�about�large�scale�developments.2�

�

Issues
for
discussion


4.5� At�this�meeting�Members�may�wish�to�focus�on�a�number�of�aspects�of�Mayor's�use�of�his�powers.��

These�might�include:�the�reason�for�the�apparent�increase�in�their�use;�the�extent�to�which�they�are�

in�alignment�with�the�"letter�and�spirit"�of�the�legislation�and�whether�they�are�being�used�to�

advance�the�Mayor's�strategic�objectives.��Specific�areas�of�discussion�might�cover:�

• The�Mayor's�reasons�for�taking�over�applications�(such�as�ensuring�London�plan�policy�

objectives�are�met,��addressing��performance�issues�at�borough�level�regarding�the�consultation�

and�decision�making�process,��or�seeking�to�improve�the�speed�of�decision�making�to�facilitate�

growth);��

• The�impact�his�decisions�have�had�on�London-wide�housing�targets,�the�funding�of�Crossrail�the�

funding�and�delivery�of�other�community�infrastructure�though�the�infrastructure�levy,�and�the�

agreement�of�section�106�contributions;�

• Whether�there�is�a�need�for�greater�transparency�within�the�call�in�process�and�how�this�could�be�

achieved;�and�

• How�the�call�in�process�fits�with�the�Government's�Localism�agenda�and�how�it�could�be�better�

aligned.�

�

�

�

�

�

                                                 
1�Darren�Johnson,��London�Assembly�Plenary,�5�March�2014�
2�https://www.london.gov.uk/media/assembly-press-releases/2014/03/assembly-calls-for-criteria-to-define-mayor-s-use-of-
planning��

Page 94



        

Invited
guests


4.6� The�following�guests�have�confirmed�attendance�at�this�meeting:�

• Sir�Edward�Lister,�Chief�of�Staff�and�Deputy�Mayor,�Policy�and�Planning


• Duncan�Bowie,�Senior�lecturer�in�planning,�University�of�Westminster�

• Peter�Eversden,�Chair,�London�Forum�of�Amenity�and�Civic�Societies�

• Edward�Denison,�Secretary,�The�Mount�Pleasant�Association�

�

�

5.
 Legal
Implications




5.1 The�Committee�has�the�power�to�do�what�is�recommended�is�this�report.��







6.
 Financial
Implications

�

6.1 There�are�no�direct�GLA�financial�implications�arising�from�this�report.��Financial�implications�for�the�

individual�projects�within�the�programme�of�work�in�2014/15�will�be�dealt�with�separately�in�reports�

to�the�Committee�as�and�when�the�Committee�is�required�to�make�relevant�decisions.���

�

�

List�of�Appendices:�

Appendix�1�-�Definition�of�planning�applications�that�are�of�potential�strategic�importance�to�London�

Appendix�2�-�Applications�that�the�Mayor�has�taken�over�and�decided�

�

Local
Government
(Access
to
Information)
Act
1985


List�of�Background�Papers:�None�

�

Contact�Officer:� Paul�Watling,�Scrutiny�Manager�

Telephone:� 020�7983�4393�

E-mail:� scrutiny@london.gov.uk��

�






 


Page 95



        

Appendix
1
–
Categories
of
potentially
strategic
applications

�

Definitions�of�potentially�strategic�applications�are�determined�by�the�government�and�are�set�out�in�

the�Town�and�Country�Planning�(Mayor�of�London)�Order�2008.3The�Order�lists�applications�of�

potential�strategic�importance,�for�example:�

• Development�which�comprises�or�includes�the�provision�of�more�than�150�houses,�flats,�or�houses�

and�flats.�

• Development�(other�than�development�which�only�comprises�the�provision�of�houses,�flats,�or�

houses�and�flats)�which�comprises�or�includes�the�erection�of�a�building�or�buildings—�

o in�the�City�of�London�and�with�a�total�floorspace�of�more�than�100,000�square�metres;�

o in�Central�London�(other�than�the�City�of�London)�and�with�a�total�floorspace�of�more�than�

20,000�square�metres;�or�outside�Central�London�and�with�a�total�floorspace�of�more�than�

15,000�square�metres.�

• Development�which�comprises�or�includes�the�erection�of�a�building�of�one�or�more�of�the�

following�descriptions—�

o the�building�is�more�than�25�metres�high�and�is�adjacent�to�the�River�Thames;�

o the�building�is�more�than�150�metres�high�and�is�in�the�City�of�London;�

o the�building�is�more�than�30�metres�high�and�is�outside�the�City�of�London.�

• Development�which�comprises�or�includes�the�alteration�of�an�existing�building�where�the�

development�would�increase�the�height�of�the�building�by�more�than�15�metres.�

�

The�list�also�includes�a�number�of�waste�development�as�well�as�transport�proposals�such�as�aircraft�

runways,�heliports,�railway�or�bus�stations�and�river�crossings.�Furthermore,�the�list�sets�out�

developments�that�would�have�an�impact�on�or�cause�a�loss�of�significant�housing�or�employment�

uses,�playing�fields�or�land�allocated�as�Green�Belt�or�Metropolitan�Open�Land�in�the�development�

plan.�Also�noted�are�major�development�in�a�range�of�categories�where�this�development�does�not�

accord�with�one�or�more�provisions�of�the�development�plan�in�force�in�the�area�in�which�the�

application�site�is�situated.�

�
� �

                                                 
3�https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/archives/Mayor%2520of%2520London%2520Order%25202008.pdf�

Page 96



        

Appendix
2
–
Mayoral
planning
decisions




• Mount
Pleasant
Sorting
Office:�The�representation�hearing�was�held�on�03�October�

2014,�at�which�the�Mayor�resolved�to�grant�planning�permission�and�conservation�area�

consent,�subject�to�planning�conditions�and�the�prior�completion�of�a�section�106�legal�

agreement.�

�

• City
Forum,
250
City
Road,
Islington:�The�representation�hearing�was�held�on�1�April�

2014,�at�which�the�Mayor�resolved�to�grant�planning�permission,�subject�to�planning�

conditions�and�the�prior�completion�of�a�section�106�legal�agreement.�

�

• Convoys
Wharf,
Deptford:�The�representation�hearing�was�held�on�31�March�2014,�at�

which�the�Mayor�resolved�to�grant�planning�permission,�subject�to�planning�conditions�and�

the�prior�completion�of�a�section�106�legal�agreement.�
�

• Southwark
Free
School:�The�representation�hearing�was�held�on�19�December�2013,�at�

which�the�Mayor�resolved�to�grant�planning�permission,�subject�to�planning�conditions�and�

the�prior�completion�of�a�section�106�legal�agreement.�
�

• Eileen
House,
Elephant
&
Castle:�The�representation�hearing�was�concluded�on�19�

December�2013,�at�which�the�Mayor�resolved�to�grant�planning�permission,�subject�to�

planning�conditions�and�the�prior�completion�of�a�section�106�legal�agreement.�
�

• Holy
Trinity
Primary
School,
Dalston:�A�representation�hearing�was�held�on�18�

November�2013,�at�which�the�Mayor�resolved�to�grant�planning�permission,�subject�to�

planning�conditions�and�the�prior�completion�of�a�section�106�legal�agreement.�
�

• London
Fruit
and
Wool
Exchange,
Spitalfields:�A�representation�hearing�was�held�on�

10�October�2012,�at�which�the�Mayor�resolved�to�grant�planning�permission,�subject�to�the�

prior�completion�of�a�section�106�legal�agreement.�
�

• On�12�October�2011�the�Mayor�resolved�to�grant�planning�permission�for�the�SITA


Recycling
Park,
Mitcham,�subject�to�the�prior�completion�of�a�section�106�legal�

agreement.�
�

• On�19�September�2011�the�Mayor�approved�the
Saatchi
Block,
Fitzrovia�planning�

application.�
�

• On�25�March�2010�the�Mayor�approved�the�Southall
regeneration
scheme.�
�

• On�7�October�2009�the�Mayor�approved�the�Hertsmere
House,
Columbus
Tower�

application,�subject�to�a�section�106�agreement.�



Page 97



Page 98

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Transcript - Appendix 1

	4 London Infrastructure Plan 2050 - Consultation
	Final infrastructure plan consultation response

	5 Planning Committee Work Programme 2014/15
	6 The Mayor's Strategic Planning Decisions

